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3COMPANY PROFILE

Founded in 1899, the Bank of Cyprus Group is the leading 

Cypriot banking and financial services group with a 

dynamic presence in Greece and banking presence in 

the United Kingdom, Australia, Romania and Russia. 

The Group offers a broad range of financial products and 

services including banking services in Cyprus, Greece, 

the United Kingdom, Australia, Romania, Russia and the 

Channel Islands, leasing services, factoring, brokerage, 

management of mutual funds, investment banking, 

general and life insurance. 

At 31 December 2007, the Bank’s market share among 

local commercial banks and cooperative credit and 

savings societies stood at 31,6% of total deposits

and at 29,0% of advances.

The Group currently operates through a total of 300 

branches, of which 143 operate in Cyprus, 135 in Greece, 

five in the United Kingdom, 11 in Australia, one in the 

Channel Islands, four in Romania, and one in Russia.

Bank of Cyprus also has representative offices in Russia, 

Canada and South Africa.

The Bank of Cyprus Group employs 6.909 staff worldwide.

At 31 December 2007, the Group’s total assets reached 

C£18,59 billion (€31,76 billion) and shareholders’ funds 

were C£1,15 billion (€1,97 billion). The Bank of Cyprus 

shares are listed on the Cyprus and Athens Stock 

Exchanges.

Bank of Cyprus Group Awards

•  Best Commercial Internet Bank 2007 in Cyprus
•  Best Bank 2008 in Cyprus
•  Best Foreign Exchange Bank 2008 in Cyprus 
 ("Global Finance" magazine)

•  Best Savings Account 2008 in Australia
 ("Money" magazine)

•  European Business Award – Ruban D’Honneur award in the category "Growth Strategy of the year" 2008

•  Quality Recognition Award from J.P. Morgan for Swift messages with a 99,7% STP, in Greece.

BANK OF CYPRUS GROUP
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GROUP FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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 2007 2006 2005

Key profitability data (C£ million)

Net interest income  440 359 280

Profit before provisions  368 283 182

Profit after tax and minority interest  284 183 72

Key balance sheet data  (C£ million)

Total assets  18.590 14.571 12.809

Shareholders’ funds  1.174 905 762

Loans and advances to customers  11.074 8.391 7.002

Customer deposits  14.737 12.130 10.753

Per share data  (C£ cent)

Earnings per share  50,8 33,3 14,4

Dividend per share (interim and proposed final)  26,0 17,0 7,0

Capital adequacy ratios

Tier 1 ratio 9,7% 9,1% 9,8%

Capital adequacy ratio 12,7% 12,1% 14,1%

Number of employees 6.909 6.192 6.065

Cost / Income  43,6% 46,7% 56,7%

Return on equity  27,6% 21,7% 11,9%
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Year 2007 was a year of exceptional financial performance 
for the Bank of Cyprus Group, which recorded an 
impressive increase in profitability of 55% compared with 
2006, with profit after tax and minority interest reaching 
€485 million (C£284 million). The Group maintained its 
leading position in the Cyprus market whilst enhancing its 
presence abroad. Our expansion into the rapidly developing 
markets of Russia, Romania and the Ukraine realises the 
Group’s vision to emerge as a leading financial force in the 
region. 

At the same time, however, although the Group had 
significant profitability and successful expansion abroad 
during 2007, the global economy has been affected by a 
crisis whose extent is as yet unknown. We monitor and 
evaluate the likely effects of the crisis on our plans for 
2008, given that Cyprus and Greece, the main markets for 
the Bank’s operations, cannot remain unaffected by the 
consequences of the crisis. 

The Group results for 2007 confirm that our strategic 
decisions and our determination in the implementation of 
our plan, taking advantage of the favourable conditions, 
which prevailed for the greatest part of the year on the 
international scene, were the right ones. A spectacular 
return on equity was registered in 2007, reaching 27,6%, 
compared to 21,7% in 2006, and the cost to income ratio 
dropped to 43,6%, down from 46,7% in 2006, which is also 
a great success. In the last three years, Bank of Cyprus 
has doubled in size. 

In Cyprus, the Group’s profits noted a satisfactory increase. 
By exploiting its branch network, its advanced know-how 
and its highly trained staff, Bank of Cyprus continues to be 
the preferred bank both for businesses and individuals in 
Cyprus. 

Developments in the international banking sector were 
very satisfactory, with our market share exceeding 45% 
and our customer base including more than 30.000 
international companies, making Bank of Cyprus the 
leader in attracting foreign investment to the island.  

In Greece, the Group achieved an impressive increase 
in turnover and profitability, gaining a market share of 
around 3,7%. There are now plans for further expansion 
with the aim of increasing the number of branches to 220 
by the end of 2010. 

A significant development in 2007 was the commencement 
of banking operations in Russia and Romania, which 
are considered to be among the most rapidly developing 
markets of  “New Europe”, and the acquisition of 
AvtoZaZBank in Ukraine, which is expected to be 
completed during the first half of 2008. The first signs from 
our banking units in Romania and Russia are encouraging, 
with total loans amounting to €342 million at the end of 
2007. 

Based on these favourable results, I am pleased to 
announce the Board of Directors’ decision to propose a 
dividend of €0,25 per share to the Annual General Meeting. 
The total amount of the proposed dividend, together with 
the interim dividend of €0,19 paid in December 2007, 
amounts to €0,44 per share, compared to €0,29 per share 
paid last year, recording an increase of 52%. 

The excellent results for 2007 were achieved despite 
the challenges, faced by Bank of Cyprus, in the form of 
takeover and merger bids, from Piraeus Bank and Marfin 
Popular Bank. The Group dealt with these challenges 
successfully, having the determined support of its 
shareholders, to continue its autonomous growth and its 
accelerated expansion. The Management of the Group has 
no doubt that our decisions, which were supported by our 
shareholders, were the right ones and time will confirm 
that. 

Year 2007 was a very important one, not only for the 
banking system, but also for the economy of Cyprus 
as a whole. During the year, the preparations for the 
introduction of the euro were completed. The process of 
the changeover to the euro was exceptionally successful 
and the contribution of the Bank to this achievement was 
substantial. 

Towards the end of 2007 dark clouds appeared, threatening 
the global economy. The cause of the problem was the US 
sub prime housing market. As a result, there has been a 
slowdown in the rate of growth of the US economy, which 
continues to this date. Now that the credit crisis has 
spread beyond the USA, it is becoming clear that the size 
of the problem poses a threat to global markets. 

Economic conditions in the Euro zone are deteriorating, 
with inflationary pressures mounting and a lower annual 
growth rate being predicted for the region’s economy. 
The International Monetary Fund has therefore revised its 
growth forecast for the eurozone for 2008 down from 1,6% 
to 1,3%. 

Eleftherios P. Ioannou
CHAIRMAN

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Greece and Cyprus, the Group’s two main markets, 
cannot remain unaffected, given that both countries are 
open economies. Greece, in addition to the credit crisis, 
is affected by a number of internal factors. Within this 
framework, growth forecast for the Greek economy by the 
Seasonally Adjusted Programme for Stability and Growth 
2007–2010 at 4% appears rather optimistic and, in the light 
of a revised less positive view, growth may be limited to 
around 3,6%. In Cyprus, high oil prices, the sharp increase 
in the price of wheat, the consequent risk of mounting 
inflationary pressures, the drought which has afflicted the 
island and the unfavourable global economic conditions 
likely to affect the tourist sector, are early warnings of 
lower growth, at least for the current year.   

At Bank of Cyprus, we have set strong foundations and, 
having followed our long-term policy of financial prudence, 
we have managed to avoid exposure to the risks associated 
with the US sub prime mortgage market and thus, we are 
not affected by the lack of liquidity in capital markets. Our 
growth has been based primarily on customer deposits, 
and our strong liquidity (77%) insulates us against the 
adverse global climate.   

However, the crisis has deepened and it has also affected 
banking giants, whose soundness has been indisputable. 
We are therefore closely monitoring the developments in 
the global economy and are ready to respond effectively. 
In this context, the Group’s net profit after tax for 2008 
is expected to reach €540 million, which represents an 
increase of 11% compared to 2007. 

I have no doubt that with consistent hard work and taking 
advantage of the Group’s technical and professional 
expertise, as well as our staff commitment and dedication, 
Bank of Cyprus will be able to overcome the unfavourable 
conditions prevailing in the global markets and will 
continue to create value for its shareholders, customers, 
staff and the society.   

The Bank of Cyprus Group follows the efforts towards a 
solution to the Cyprus problem and is ready to ensure that 
an upgrading of the economic standards of the country will 
follow any political developments.

I would like to thank you all, the Bank’s shareholders, for 
your support  to the Management and staff of the Group 
and for the confidence you have placed in us. 

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I would like to 
express my sincere thanks to Mr. Andreas Eliades, Group 
Chief Executive Officer, and to Mr. Yiannis Kypri, Group 
Chief General Manager for making the right moves and 
successfully implementing our plans.
 
I would like to take this opportunity to thank Mr. Charilaos 
Stavrakis, Chief Executive Officer Cyprus and Deputy Group 
Chief Executive Officer, who recently resigned following 
his appointment as Minister of Finance of the Republic of 
Cyprus, for his long and valuable contribution to the Group, 
and to wish him every success in his new role. 

I would also like to thank the General Managers and 
staff of the Group for their hard work and motivation 
and for their commitment and faith in the Group, which 
contributed to the achievement of these excellent results. 

In addition, I would like to make a special mention to the 
support which I personally and the Executive Management 
enjoy from the Board of Directors and I would also like to 
thank the Vice Chairman, Mr. Andreas Artemis, and all the 
members of the Board of Directors for their contribution to 
the Group’s success and for their valued co-operation. 

I would also thank our customers for the confidence they 
showed us throughout the years.  

On the occasion of my retirement, I wish the new Chairman 
and the Group every success. 

Many thanks to you all. 

Eleftherios P. Ioannou
CHAIRMAN
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’S STATEMENT

In 2007, the Bank of Cyprus Group was at a crossroads. 
It decided to implement its ambitious plans for future 
development by moving forward from its solid, well-
established foundations, expanding its operations into 
three new countries, while at the same time safeguarding 
the high rate of growth in its traditional markets. This 
was the year that the Bank completed its first business 
plan covering the period from 2005 to 2007, strengthening 
the organisation and exceeding its original targets by a 
considerable margin. Today, Bank of Cyprus is twice the 
size it was in 2004. 

It is particularly satisfying for the Senior Executive 
Management and for all of the Group’s employees, that 
with the support of the Board of Directors we managed to 
transform the three years between 2005 and 2007 into a 
period of unprecedented achievements for Bank of Cyprus. 
The financial results for this three-year period highlight 
the Bank’s tremendous progress, but more significantly 
they point to the bank’s future prospects: 
• Profit after tax, at €485 million in 2007, is up sevenfold  
 from €64 million in 2004.
• The increase in return on equity noted a fourfold 
 increase to 27,6% in 2007 compared to 7,1% in 2004.
• The cost to income ratio improved by almost 20 
 percentage points to 43,6% in 2007 compared   
 to 62,3% in 2004, reflecting the significant   
 expansion of the Bank’s income and its successful cost  
 containment programme. 
• The Bank's sound risk management policy resulted  
 in an impressive improvement of non performing loans,  
 with the relevant indicator being reduced to 3,8% in   
 2007 compared with 10,8% in 2008.
• The volumes for loans and deposits have grown   
 significantly. Within three years both the volume of   
 deposits and loans increased by €10 billion. As a result,  
 our deposits and loans now stand at €25 billion and 
 €20 billion respectively. 

The most important achievement of this three-year period 
has been the fact that we managed to effectively transform 
our vision into actions. At the same time, in Cyprus, Greece 
and abroad our employees have demonstrated their skills 
and capabilities which will form the basis of the Group's 
further development in the years ahead. 

Cyprus Operations 
Despite fierce competition, the Group further enhanced its 
leading position in the Cyprus market with an impressive 
improvement of profitability. Profit after tax rose to €377 
million, an annual increase of 56%. Total loans were up by 
38%, which pushed our market share up to 29% at the end 
of 2007, a year-on-year increase of 2,3 percentage points. 

Greek Operations
In Greece, the dynamic growth of the Group’s activities 
continued, resulting in a significant increase in profits of 
57%, with profit after tax reaching €100 million. 

Our target is to speed up the rate of the network expansion 
thereby increasing the number of branches from 135 at the 
end of 2007 to 220 in 2010. This expansion together with 
the maturity of customer relationships will significantly 
strengthen the Group’s profitability.

Operational consolidation
With the aim of further increasing the effectiveness of the 
network and upgrading the services provided we intend 
to merge all information systems onto a single common 
platform and to create centralised services in a number of 
sectors such as internet banking, telephone banking and 
the Cyprus – Greece ATMs network. In this way we have 
created the "One Bank" concept for our clients. Within 
this context our strategic plan is to make optimum use of 
technology in order to gradually streamline all the Group’s 
operational services with a view to achieving a single 
objective; to provide a faster and better service to our 
customers.

Expanding into new markets 
The globalisation of international markets has created new 
dimensions for the banking system. For Bank of Cyprus, 
which pursues an essentially outward-looking strategy, 
globalisation has created new opportunities which, with 
sound planning and risk management, will open up new 
and attractive prospects for the Group. At the same time 
we are examining any opportunities for acquisitions which 
could provide a significant boost to Group profitability in 
the future. 

Russia 
We commenced operations in the rapidly developing 
Russian market in August 2007 and look forward to the 
prospect of fast growth. Our loans portfolio is expected 
to exceed €2,5 billion by 2010. The Group’s target is to  
strengthen its presence in Moscow and St. Petersburg by 

Andreas Eliades
GROUP CHIEF 
EXECUTIVE OFFICER
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’S STATEMENT

expanding the network of branches to 16 by 2010, with the 
aim of providing banking and leasing services to small and 
medium-sized enterprises and selected customer groups. 
 
Romania 
We are evaluating the Romanian market with similarly 
high expectations. At the end of three years we plan to 
have extended our network to around 40 branches, with 
emphasis on Bucharest. The loan portfolio is expected to 
increase to €1,5 billion by 2010. 

Ukraine
We expect to complete the acquisition of AvtoZAZBank 
during the first half of 2008 and will then implement our 
plans to integrate the bank into the Group. The Ukrainian 
bank's network of 26 branches will form the basis of our 
own expansion in the Ukraine. We anticipate that total 
loans will exceed €800 million by 2010. 

Profitability target for 2008
We expect 2008 to be a difficult year for the global 
economy. The continuing crisis in the financial markets 
due to the subprime mortgage problems in the USA is 
having a negative effect on bank liquidity worldwide. By 
pursuing a policy of prudence the Group has avoided 
exposure to the risks associated with the US mortgage 
market. At the same time the Group maintains substantial 
liquidity given that the main source of its funding is 
customer deposits which continue to grow. 

In the context of these global conditions, the introduction 
of the euro in Cyprus and our rapid expansion in the new 
markets, which presupposes significant investment, 
our target for profit after tax for 2008 is €540 million, 
an increase of 11% from 2007. This target is particularly 
significant when compared with the performances noted   
in the wider international banking environment and 
the problems facing the banking giants. We are closely 
monitoring the developments affecting the international 
banking sector in order to be able to promptly take 
appropriate actions. We believe that we are well prepared 
to deal with these new circumstances and to adjust our 
strategy accordingly, which will enable us to continue 
to move forward based on the consistent and sensible 
decision making that characterizes us. 

The current global conditions give rise to major 
opportunities but they also entail great dangers. Recent 
developments in the international money markets have 
shown how fragile these situations can become but also 
how strong defences need to be to counter these kinds of 
unforeseen developments. 

Bearing in mind the change of circumstances in the 
international markets, we will continue pursuing our plans 
for the future, towards our goal of making Bank of 

Cyprus a powerful regional force. A bank which our 
shareholders, staff and customers, can be proud of.

Our sound strategic plan, a necessarily flexible plan, given 
the circumstances, with emphasis on business growth, 
our timely entry into the developing markets of Romania, 
Russia and Ukraine, the establishment of an appropriate 
organisational structure, sound risk management 
procedures at Group level in conjunction with the 
prospects offered to our staff, all give us the confidence 
and belief that we are well prepared to deal with new 
challenges and to set specific targets for the future. 

I would like to thank my colleagues for their contribution 
to the exceptional growth achieved over the course of 
the year, Mr. Charilaos Stavrakis, to whom I wish every 
success in his new post as Finance Minister, Mr. Yiannis 
Kypri and the General Managers of the Group for their hard 
work in the realisation of our targets.  

I would also like to express my sincerest thanks to our 
staff for their hard work in accomplishing their task 
even under difficult circumstances, to our customers 
and shareholders, who supported all our efforts towards 
creating, in a reliable and systematic manner, value and 
benefit for all. 

Many thanks to you all.

Andreas Eliades
GROUP CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
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VICE CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

The year 2007 was a very successful one for the Group. 
Profitability, as well as the indicators for return on 
equity, cost to income and non-performing loans 
reached record levels.These outstanding results 
confirm, yet again, that the strategy being pursued by 
the Group to achieve its targets, which is to add value 
to our shareholders’ investment, provide the best 
service to our customers and create prospects for our 
employees, is the right one. 

Shareholders' support for our strategic decisions 
and their confidence in the Management of the Group 
were clearly demonstrated by the exceptionally high 
attendance at the Annual General Meeting in June 
2007, which established a new momentum for the 
further implementation of the ambitious objectives that 
we have set. It is you the shareholders, and all our staff 
that form our strength. We owe you all a great deal of 
gratitude. 

The year 2007 also represented a significant milestone 
in the Group’s history. In addition to the exceptional 
progress made in the traditional markets in which 
we operate (Cyprus, Greece, the United Kingdom 
and Australia), during the course of the year we have 
entered new markets which offer significant growth 
prospects and provide new sources of profitability 
for the Group. After carefully examining the new 
markets of Russia, Romania and the Ukraine and 
having assessed our Bank’s comparative advantages, 
we proceeded to implement our strategic plans which 
will establish Bank of Cyprus, the largest financial 
institution in Cyprus, as a significant player in the 
broader region of Southeastern Europe. 

The year 2008 is expected to be a difficult one for the 
global economy as a result of the subprime mortgage 
crisis in the United States; a crisis which has spread  
and continues to affect global money markets. At the 
same time, our accession to the eurozone creates 
challenges for the banking sector in Cyprus. 
In our view, these factors create opportunities to 
continue our dynamic progress as we are well prepared 
to face any challenge with a healthy deposit base and 
liquidity at our disposal.

Andreas Artemis
VICE CHAIRMAN
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GROUP STRATEGY 

To consolidate our strong position, and exploit and develop our financial 
strengths as well as our strategic advantages in such a way so as to continue 

the successful progress made by the Group based on:

• the further strengthening of the Bank’s position in Cyprus and Greece,

• the accelerated expansion in the new markets in which we operate,

• our readiness to exploit new opportunities for acquisitions, 

always with a view to creating further value for our shareholders, 
customers, staff and society. 
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GROUP TARGETS 2008-2010

Creating added value for shareholders based on:
• operational growth – doubling of volumes, 

• a sound organisational structure, 
• a reduction of the cost to income ratio,  

• an increase in profitability,
• sound risk management. 

CYPRUS:
Consolidation of position as market leader

• Increase in market shares.

GREECE:
Consolidation of its market presence 

• Expansion of branch network to 220 branches by 2010. 

RUSSIA:
Ambitious three-year targets

• Substantial increase in volumes. 
•  Establishment of 16 branches in Moscow and St. Petersburg by 2010.

ROMANIA:
Ambitious three-year targets 

• Substantial increase in volumes. 
• Expansion of network to 40 branches by 2010 in Bucharest 

and surrounding region. 

UKRAINE:
Entry into and penetration of the market 

• Absorption of AvtoZAZBank by the Bank of Cyprus Group. 
• Branch network expansion and volume growth. 
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

Bank of Cyprus shares are listed both on the Cyprus 
Stock Exchange (CSE) and the Athens Exchange 
(AE). On 31 December 2007, 296,371,244 Bank of 
Cyprus shares (52,34% of the total) were registered 
on the Central Registry/Depository of the CSE, 
and 269,851,839 shares (47,66% of the total) were 
registered on the Dematerialised Securities System 
(DSS) of the Hellenic Exchanges.

Dividend Reinvestment Plan 
The Dividend Reinvestment Plan allows shareholders 
to reinvest all or part of the dividends payable to 
them in additional BOC shares, at a 10% discount. 
Based on the 10% discount offered, dividends will be 
reinvested at 90% of the weighted average closing 
price of the share at the CSE and the AE for the first 
five working days that the share is quoted ex-dividend 
Bank of Cyprus reserves the right to change the 
discount offered. Participation in the Plan is voluntary 
and shareholders may join or withdraw from it at any 
time, by notifying Bank of Cyprus in writing. The plan 
applies to all future dividends, until such time as the 
shareholder withdraws from it. 

Share transfers between Cyprus and Greece 
All shareholders without exception, are entitled to 
transfer all or part of their shares from the CSE to the 
DSS in Greece for trading on the AE. Similarly, they are 
entitled to transfer all or part of their shares from the 
DSS to the CSE in order to trade them on the CSE. 

Only shares which have been fully settled (trade date 
plus three working days) may be transferred and 
shares must be free of any encumbrance or third party 
claim.

Transfer of fully settled shares takes two working days 
from receipt of the transfer request from the Hellenic 
Exchanges or the CSE, provided that the investor has 
correctly declared the information needed in order to 
register the shares on the Hellenic Exchanges or on 
the CSE. 

Analysis of share capital as at 31 December 2007

Shareholder category  Number   Number of shares Percentage (%)

Private individuals  60.767  203.156.967                35,88

Corporate bodies  1.132 75.131.814                13,27

Institutions (Cyprus)  352 79.622.705                14,06

Institutions (Foreign)  627 198.822.996                35,11

Institutions (Greek)  87 9.488.601                  1,68

   62.965 566.223.083               100,00



GROUP 
OPERATIONS 
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GROUP OPERATIONS 
PREVIEW

Charilaos G. Stavrakis
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 
CYPRUS AND DEPUTY GROUP 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
On 29 February 2008 Mr. Ch. Stavrakis resigned from 
the Executive Management of the Group due to his 
appointment as Minister of Finance of the Republic 
of Cyprus.

Yiannis Kypri
GROUP CHIEF GENERAL MANAGER

The results achieved by the Group in Cyprus in 2007 were spectacular. Profits 
after tax rose to C£221 million (€377 million) in 2007 compared to C£141 
million (€241 million) in 2006 noting a 56% increase. The continuous increase 
in profits in Cyprus is derived from both banking operations and insurance 
business. These results have triggered a chain reaction both in terms of 
the overall range of banking business provided by the Group and its future 
prospects. It should be stressed that these spectacular profits allow us to 
satisfy our shareholders and to fund continuing Group investment in Greece as 
well as in the Russian, Romanian and Ukrainian markets with their excellent 
medium-term prospects.

More specifically, the domestic banking sector noted significant growth in loan 
volumes combined with contained costs and personnel numbers that have 
brought about a substantial improvement in the Bank's productivity levels. 
Indicatively, there was an increase of 50% in mortgage loans which reached 
C£1.205 million (€2.059 million) from C£805 million (€1.375 million) in 2006. 
The international banking sector has been extremely buoyant with excellent 
profitability at an acceptable risk level. I am convinced that Cyprus will continue 
its excellent performance and contribution to Group profits in 2008.

The Group continued to perform impressively in 2007, noting exceptional 
returns and significant volume growth. Bank of Cyprus intends to continue 
this excellent performance having the necessary resources to successfully 
implement its new three-year business plan for the period 2008-2010. We aim 
to achieve an average annual return on equity of at least 26% and to reduce the 
cost to income ratio to below 40% by the end of the three-year period. 

In the area of credit risk management, procedures are now in place that allow 
the Bank to calculate capital using the Standardised Approach in line with the 
Basel II Capital Accord. The Risk Management Divisions continue to steadily 
adopt specialised methods to monitor and measure risk, with the aim of 
reducing potential losses and capital requirements. It is also expected that 
constant improvements in credit risk management procedures will give the 
Group a comparative advantage for the fast but controlled growth of operations 
in new markets. The new procedures that have been developed have already 
generated exceptional results. The non-performing loans ratio improved from 
10,8% in 2004 to 3,8% in December 2007.

The introduction of the euro in Cyprus has created challenges which the Bank 
is more than prepared to face, utilising the experience acquired from the 
introduction of the euro in the Greek market, coupled with its leading position 
in the Cyprus banking market. Bank of Cyprus has also managed to improve 
its efficiency in Cyprus to remarkable levels allowing  it to be well placed to 
successfully face any challenges. 



17
BANK OF CYPRUS GROUP

GROUP OPERATIONS 
CYPRUS

RETAIL BANKING 
Branch network and product development
In 2007 the Bank continued its customer-oriented 
product strategy, which differentiates it from the 
competition. The Bank’s new products, including 
both lending and deposit products, are based on the 
principle of providing customers with options tailored 
to their requirements.

The result of this strategy has been a spectacular 
growth of both loans and deposits. The Retail Banking 
Sector in particular achieved an increase of over 
30%. A typical but particularly noteworthy example is 
mortgage loans, whose growth over recent years is 
depicted in the following table. 

In 2007 Bank of Cyprus enjoyed an equally impressive 
presence in the market due to the new products being 
introduced and other special targeted offers such as 
the “Countryside Mortgage Loan”, “Car Loan with 
prizes”, “New Fantastic Current Account”, “Ready 
Personal Loan”, and a "Loyalty Interest Refund to 
punctual customers", plus three new fixed deposit 
accounts: “Bonamas”, “Income Annuity” and “Flexifix”.

At the same time, Bank of Cyprus has managed, with 
the support of technology, to timely anticipate the 
needs of each and every customer.  As a result, the 
Bank is now ideally positioned to offer the right product 
to selected target groups of customers at the right 
time. The Bank uses a combination of promotional 
channels, such as personalised letters, text messages 
(SMS) and personal contact by bank staff, thus 
strengthening the effectiveness of sales activities and 
improving its communication with customers. In 2007 
these promotional activities were also successfully 
applied to personal loans, car loans, current accounts 
and deposits.

Bank of Cyprus is now the established pioneer in the 
card sector, well ahead of the competition in terms of 
market share thus proving that it moves dynamically in 
terms of its approach to new products and customer 
satisfaction.

The pioneering Sunmiles American Express card 
which satisfies the needs of today’s world and rewards 
cardholders with free trips was introduced in 2007. 

Having in mind the needs of the market, but also 
wanting to offer more to its clients, Bank of Cyprus 
also established the American Express Selects 
scheme. The scheme provides select American 
Express cardholders with special offers, granting them 
favourable prices all year round for various types of 
products in both Cyprus and abroad. 

Card usage figures showed an increase from 2006 
to 2007, highlighting the trust placed by cardholder 
customers in the products and services offered by 
Bank of Cyprus. The Bank currently offers VISA, 
MasterCard, Diners Club and American Express cards. 

Alternative Distribution Channels
The Direct Banking Division provides its subscribers 
with the facility to conduct their banking transactions 
easily, quickly and securely 24 hours a day, seven days 
a week via the internet or by phone thereby offering 
speed of service and avoiding branch queues. The 
number of retail and corporate subscribers increases 
rapidly every year, and from 2006 to 2007, it rose by 
30%. 

One of the major advantages of using the Direct 
Banking Division’s alternative channels is the lower 
transaction costs compared to traditional customer 
service methods. This enables the Bank to offer 
internet transactions at a low cost or entirely free of 
charge. 

The Direct Banking Division recently received an award 
from Global Finance magazine, which selected Bank of 
Cyprus as the Best Consumer Internet Bank in Cyprus 
for 2007. Global Finance, which is available in 168 
countries, covers a wide range of topics in the fields of 
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CYPRUS

finance, investments, technology etc.   
The best internet bank in each country is chosen based 
on the following criteria:
•  Internet Banking customer attraction and retention  
 strategy.
•  The growth achieved in Internet Banking customer  
 numbers. 
•  The range of banking products, services and 
 transactions offered. 
•  Webpage design and functionality. 
•  Benefits derived by the Bank from the use of the  
 service. 

In its ongoing endeavour to further improve Direct 
Banking security, Bank of Cyprus was the first in the 
Cypriot market to introduce yet another security level 
to Direct Banking subscriber transactions with third 
parties over the phone or via the internet; the Digipass 
security device.

The Direct Banking Division always remains close to 
customers and their requirements through surveys that 
it conducts. Its immediate plans include the further 
upgrading of Internet Banking, improving the use of 
mobile telephone as a means of carrying out banking 
transactions and introducing a fraud alert mechanism 
whereby users are sent an SMS regarding their bank 
account and credit card transactions. In addition, 
the Direct Banking Division has played a vital role in 
keeping the public informed about the euro via the 
Euro Helpline.

As part of the Division's contribution to further 
improving communication and service to the Bank’s 
customers, more emphasis will be placed on phone-
based marketing of Group products and services.

SMALL AND MEDIUM SIZED 
ENTERPRISES
Small and Medium Sized Enterprises Sector  
During 2007 the Small and Medium Sized Enterprises 
(SME) Sector grew at dynamic rates beating all 
previous performance. The exceptional efforts and 
successful focusing of the staff of the Bank that 
service this Sector led to results that surpassed all 
expectations.

The 17 Business Centres achieved a total increase in 
loans of 36%. As at 31 December 2007 loans to SMEs 
reached C£0,9 billion (€1,5 billion).

The SME Sector is considered one of the most 
productive and important sectors of our economy, given 
that it is estimated to employ approximately two thirds 
of the total Cypriot workforce. The increasing trend in 
recent years, and during 2007 in particular, is mainly 
the result of the growth in the construction and tourist 
industries.

The European Union supports the growth of SMEs
by providing funding through special funds with 
favourable terms.

Bank of Cyprus, having appropriately structured the 
services it provides, is able to service the specialised 
needs of SMEs faster and with more flexibility, 
providing whatever help they need with their funding 
requirements thus allowing them to implement their 
growth plans. 

CORPORATE BANKING CUSTOMERS 
Corporate Banking Sector 
Bank of Cyprus is the first choice for all Corporate 
Banking Customers in Cyprus who are offered the 
highest standard of service through our 10 Corporate 
Banking Centres and 50 Customer Relationship 
Officers who aim to keep themselves informed at 
all times of every customer’s circumstances and 
requirements. 

The objective of providing the best possible service is 
not confined to meeting customers’ financing needs, 
but also includes an ongoing effort to develop a 
partnership-based relationship with each customer 
and to add value to their business. Maintaining an 
excellent service for corporate business customers 
implies the provision of a comprehensive range of 
services and products. At the same time, there is 
a need for cooperation and coordination with other 
Group companies and divisions, and the provision of 
fast, flexible and suitable solutions for each financing 
need. As part of its efforts to constantly improve and 
expand its range of products and services, Bank of 
Cyprus intends to launch new financing options which 
are tailored to meet the requirements of the new 
generation of business projects (marinas, golf courses, 
desalination plants, wind farms, etc.).

In 2007, the loan portfolio grew at a fast rate with a 
parallel improvement of loan quality. The loan portfolio 
increased by more than 43% in 2007 (net loan increase 
of C£0,8 billion (€1,4 billion)) both by increasing 
business with existing customers and by attracting new 
ones. A significant improvement in loan quality was 
achieved in 2007.

GROUP OPERATIONS 
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Factoring services
Following the decision to incorporate the business of 
Bank of Cyprus Factors into Bank of Cyprus on 
1 January 2006, the new Factoring Division has fully 
exploited the synergies generated and managed to 
achieve a major improvement in all financial indicators.  
By seeking to conclude agreements with existing 
Group customers and develop business with customers 
outside the Group, the Division has increased its 
turnover to C£860 million (€1.469 million), noting 
an increase of 22% compared to 2006, and its loans 
by 27% compared to 2006. The higher turnover 
significantly boosted the Division’s profitability. 

The main objective of the Factoring Division continues 
to be to steadily increase profitability and further 
bolster its leading position in the Cyprus market. 
The Division's commitment to following a customer-
oriented approach requires the ongoing improvement 
in the quality of service offered to ensure that customer 
needs are fully satisfied.

Business growth is achieved while effectively managing 
any credit or other risks, minimising and controlling 
costs and making continuous efforts to provide 
pioneering products to Group customers. The Division 
has modernised the range of services provided in 
response to customer requirements and from 2008 
onwards it will be in a position to offer insurance for 
receivables alongside its existing product range. This 
new service is expected to add a new dimension to 
the operations of the Factoring Division both in terms 
of quality and volume of business as it continues as 
leader in the factoring market. With its commitment to 
consistently provide a high-quality service, the Division 
will aim to achieve even better results and thereby 
contribute to achieving the Group’s objectives.
 
INTERNATIONAL BUSINESS UNITS 
The International Business Units (IBUs) have been 
operating in Cyprus since 1991. There are currently 
four units, one in each city Nicosia, Limassol, Larnaca 
and Paphos. The IBUs offer flexible and adaptable 
services designed to continuously satisfy the 
requirements of this constantly changing market.

The IBUs were particularly successful in 2007, offering 
high quality services in a highly competitive sector, 
since all banks now attach particular importance to 
their international operations. 

The prime objective of these units continues to be 
the provision of a high quality service to the Bank’s 
customers and associates. By constantly strengthening 
these units, the Group is able to offer an increasingly 
personalised customer service. In 2007, the number of 
staff employed at IBUs rose markedly both at staff and 
managerial level. To promote the customer-oriented 

focus of IBUs, the Nicosia IBU was recently reorganised 
by setting up flexible teams to deal with specific 
customers and associates. Particular emphasis is 
placed on staff personal development through the 
provision of ongoing training. Having recognised the 
opportunities that technology offers, continuous effort 
is made to improve and upgrade infrastructure with 
the aim of achieving greater operational effectiveness. 
IBUs primarily seek to use cutting edge technology to 
automate their operations (money transfers via web 
for example). Particular attention has been given to 
the quality and adequacy of the IBUs building facilities, 
and in 2007 important decisions were therefore taken 
relating to IBU office needs. Within 2008, the Nicosia 
IBU will relocate to new, larger, more functional 
offices, which will enhance the quality of the service 
provided to customers and associates.  The premises 
of the other IBUs will be refurbished and major 
improvements made.

PRIVATE BANKING 
The Private Banking Division of Bank of Cyprus 
has offices in Cyprus, Greece and the Channel 
Islands providing an integrated range of top quality 
international investment and financial services to high 
net worth individuals and institutional investors with 
significant funds for investment. The Division working 
closely with all other Companies and Representative 
Offices of the Bank abroad (UK, Australia, Canada, 
South Africa, Russia and Romania) ensures that 
customers in those countries are provided with a highly  
professional service. 

The products and services offered by Private Banking 
in Cyprus and the Channel Islands via partnerships 
with the most reliable investment firms abroad include:
•  Deposit schemes covering all the main international  
 currencies. 
•  Innovative capital-guarantee products for 
 investment purposes. 
•  Mutual funds offering geographical, currency and  
 other forms of diversification. 
•  International brokerage services for equities and  
 bonds. 

Despite the major fluctuations in capital markets in 
2007, both the Division’s profitability and business 
grew significantly. The financial environment in 2008 
is expected to be much the same making professional 
investment advice essential.  One major development 
in the investment sector has been the implementation 
of the Market in Financial Instruments Directive 
(MiFID) governing the provision of investment services 
in EU countries. Cyprus’ accession to the eurozone has 
increased the number of challenges and opportunities 
for further growth of the Division’s operations in 2008. 

GROUP OPERATIONS 
CYPRUS
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INVESTMENT BANKING
The Cyprus Investment and Securities Corporation 
(CISCO)
CISCO provides a full spectrum of investment services 
covering brokerage, fund management and investment 
banking services. Since the Common Platform became 
operational in October 2006, CISCO has been operating 
as a remote member of the Athens Exchange (AE) 
executing trades on the AE.

In 2007, CISCO’s Brokerage Division maintained a 
leading position in terms of the volume of trades 
executed on the Cyprus Stock Exchange (CSE) with 
total trades amounting to more than €1 billion. CISCO’s 
market share for 2007 was 13,26%. As a remote 
member of the AE, CISCO executed trades totalling 
€300 million. The increase in the Company’s market 
share has been primarily driven by its expanding 
customer base through the CISCO online internet 
trading platform, which offers the ability to execute 
online trades on both the CSE and the AE.

The Investment Banking Division’s activities focused 
on capital raising for primary market issues, 
secondary equity offerings (rights issues) and 
mergers and acquisitions consultancy services. On 
the primary market, the Division successfully acted 
as Lead Manager for the listing of four of the five new 
companies quoted on the CSE in 2007.

In mergers and acquisitions, CISCO acted as advisor 
for three of the largest takeover bids in terms of value 
made in 2007 and as an independent consultant to 
a wide range of target companies being acquired in 
the context of the Takeover Bids legislation. It also 
provided financial planning, corporate restructuring 
and business plan consultancy services. The 
Investment Banking Division also played an important 
role in the recent successful Capital Securities 12/2007 
issued by Bank of Cyprus.

The Company’s Fund Management Division also 
expanded its wide range of institutional and individual 
customers. The Fund Management Division's customer 
base includes provident funds, pension funds, 
investment companies, insurance companies, and 
private investors from Cyprus and abroad. Following 
the liberalisation of capital movements, the Fund 
Management Division now offers an extensive range 
of services and products covering international capital 
markets including international discretionary portfolio 
management. 

CISCO’s main strategic objective continues to be to 
maintain its leading role in its three sectors of activity. 
To this end, a new growth plan for the Company’s 
operations was prepared in connection with the 

introduction of the Common Platform and the Group's 
international expansion. Immediate objectives remain 
the increase of turnover by offering new innovative 
products and services, the expansion of its customer 
base, and the exploitation of two-way synergies with 
the Group.

INSURANCE SERVICES 
General Insurance of Cyprus 
The year 2007 was a turning point for General 
Insurance of Cyprus given that it achieved record 
profits of C£7,8 million (€13,3 million) and firmly 
established itself as the most profitable general 
insurance company in the Cyprus market. Gross 
premiums for 2007 rose to C£31,7 million (€54,2 
million), up from C£28,3 million (€48,4 million) in 2006. 
Of these C£27,2 million (€46,5 million) was generated 
by Cyprus operations compared to C£24,4 million 
(€41,7 million) in 2006. The activities of the Company’s 
insurance operations in Greece, through its branch 
Kyprou Asfalistiki, are analysed in the section Group 
Operations / Greece-Insurance Services.

By applying sound insurance principles, both in terms 
of pricing and risk taking and the rational expansion 
of each business line, the company maintains an 
insurance portfolio that is unique in the Cyprus 
insurance market in terms of composition and 
quality. This strategy has not prevented the Company 
from expanding further, as confirmed by the official 
statistics released by the Office of the Superintendent 
of Insurance. 

Although 2006 was an extremely competitive year, 
the Company maintained a market share of 12,3%. 
The Company’s success can also be attributed to 
its clear strategy which is based on a professional 
approach, selling insurance products using the latest 
bancassurance methods, exploiting the potential 
offered by modern technology and providing ongoing 
training and development for its staff.

In December 2007, the Company launched two 
new upgraded commercial risk products, “General 
Commercial Risks” and “General Retail Units”. The 
extended cover provided by these products and the 
flexible way in which they allow various commercial 
risks to be managed ensure their success during 2008.

CYPRUS
GROUP OPERATIONS 
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For 2008, EuroLife’s objective are to maintain its 
high growth rate and its leading position in the life 
insurance sector, to increase its market share for 
group policies, to further strengthen its human 
resources and to continuously upgrade the quality 
of customer service provided. Investments in both 
innovation and technology will continue and will be 
intensified. 

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT AND 
MANAGEMENT
Kermia and Kermia Properties & Investments
Both Kermia and Kermia Properties & Investments 
specialise in developing, selling and managing 
properties, with activities mainly in Nicosia and 
Limassol. Demand for properties continued to be fairly 
high in 2007, especially for land and plots.

Sales of properties by the two companies reached 
C£9 million (€15,4 million) and profit after tax 
amounted to C£7,4 million (€12,6 million). Kermia 
Properties & Investments continued to dispose part 
of its property portfolio but still owns some valuable 
properties which are available for sale and/or 
development.

Kermia is planning to start work on a ten-storey 
building in Nicosia in 2008 and a complex of detached 
residences and also intends to split land into plots 
in other areas. Kermia Hotels, a subsidiary of 
Kermia, operates the Kermia Beach Bungalow Hotel 
Apartments in Ayia Napa.

HUMAN RESOURCES DIVISION
Recruitment 
In 2007, the Human Resources Division (HRD)
recruited office staff and personnel with specialised 
qualifications and experience. Specifically, 195 staff 
were recruited to meet Group requirements. Moreover, 
over the course of the year around 200 staff were 
employed on a seasonal basis mainly to support the 
branch network with the aim of improving customer 
service in the run-up to the introduction of the euro.

Romania - Russia
Staff also continued to be recruited to meet the Group’s 
strategic objectives in Russia and Romania. 63 staff 
are employed in Russia while the figure for Romania 
is 124, including staff seconded from Cyprus and 
Greece. The Cyprus Training and Development Division, 
in cooperation with the relevant Human Resources 
Divisions in Russia and Romania, held orientation 
seminars for the Group’s new employees. Seminars 
were also held on leadership and team development 
for officers in Romania.
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EuroLife 
EuroLife performed particularly well in 2007 with 
a high growth rate, impressive results and major 
increases in all its performance indicators, thereby 
confirming its leading position in the life insurance 
market. 

Annualised premiums from new policies exceeded  
C£10 million (€17,1 million), up some 30% from 2006, 
surpassing previous performance. Total premium 
income in Cyprus reached C£54,1 million (€92,4 
million), noting a 16% increase from C£46,8 million 
(€80,0 million) in 2006. 

EuroLife’s investment funds achieved good returns 
for its customers despite the crisis in global money 
markets in the second half of 2007. Specifically, the 
Mixed Investment Fund, the insurance industry’s 
largest fund, recorded an annual return of 7,99%, 
while the Dynamic Fund achieved a year-end return 
of 10,05%. The total value of EuroLife's unit-linked 
investment funds noted a 9% increase reaching C£270 
million (€461 million). The marked increase in the 
number of new policies and the increase in premiums 
collected, the encouraging trend in claim payments 
on life policies, the strong returns on investment 
funds and the change in the estimated fair value 
of investment property contributed to the increase 
in net profits of EuroLife's domestic operations, on 
an embedded value basis, to C£12,2 million (€20,8 
million), noting a rise of around 32% compared to the 
already excellent figures recorded last year. In 2007, 
EuroLife successfully introduced and marketed its first 
lump-sum structured policy. 

The steady rise in EuroLife’s performance and its 
remarkable success are the result of:
• direct, high quality customer service,
• high levels of professionalism, 
• sound investment strategy and management,
• reliable staff, and 
• effective utilisation of synergies with the Group.

GROUP OPERATIONS 
CYPRUS
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Staff assessment
Group staff is assessed using an Annual Assessment 
System, which aims to improve staff performance, 
increase employee productivity and facilitate staff 
personal and professional development. 2007 was the 
first year in which the assessment system was fully 
automated with assessment forms being completed 
online. This automation allowed the HRD to monitor 
and review the entire assessment procedure while also 
reducing the time and cost of managing the system. 
The system has been designed to: 
• Assess staff performance against work targets for  
 the past year and set work targets for the following  
 year.
• Assess staff performance against certain basic   
 performance parameters which the Bank considers  
 important for its staff at all levels, and which   
 reflect its strategic objectives. Staff performance is  
 assessed in terms of a series of parameters such as  
 job expertise, business development, customer   
 service focus, etc. 
• Enable a personal development programme to be  
 prepared for each employee on the basis of the staff  
 performance assessment. The programme includes  
 specific measures to improve the employee’s   
 personal and professional development.

Bank of Cyprus also uses a number of other 
assessment systems which operate in parallel with 
the Annual Assessment System. The most important 
of these is the “360° Assessment System” which is 
designed mainly to assess and develop  managers’ 
skills. In 2007, this system was fully automated 
allowing the HRD to assess more managers each year 
and promote their personal development.

The “360° Assessment System” anonymously collects 
information about the knowledge, skills, competences 
and behaviour of individuals, in relation to their 
work, from various sources such as supervisors, 
subordinates and peers. This method gives employees 
a chance to compare their own assessment of their 
behaviour and performance at work with that of 
their superiors, peers and subordinates.  The “360° 
Assessment System” gives employees the opportunity 
to identify their strengths, exploit them effectively 
and address areas in need of improvement in order to 
make them more effective as managers, colleagues 
and subordinates.

Assessment Centres
Assessment Centres form one of the most important 
assessment methods used by the Group for its office 
staff. These centres are attended every year by a large 
number of staff who consistently performed well and 
who show potential for taking on additional duties 
and responsibilities as team managers. Assessment 
Centres also assess the managerial skills of 

participants through a series of exercises that simulate 
the working environment of a team manager at the 
Bank. A personal development plan is prepared on 
the basis of the candidate’s results at the Assessment 
Centre.

Promotions
The purpose of the Promotion System is to satisfy the 
operational requirements of the Group and ensure that 
suitable individuals, capable of making a contribution 
to the attainment of the Group’s goals and objectives, 
are promoted. Employees are considered for promotion 
following the recommendation of their superiors. 
Specific criteria are taken into account both in making 
recommendations for promotion and in the final 
evaluation, which ensures that only those with the best 
skills and abilities are promoted. These assessment 
criteria can be ranked as follows:
• on-the-job performance, 
• abilities, 
• academic and professional qualifications, 
• banking experience, 
• length of service with the Group.
As part of the 2007 promotion procedures, 96 staff 
were promoted and 170 were upgraded.

Training and development
In light of Cyprus’ EU membership and the adoption 
of the euro as the national currency from 1 January 
2008, the Training and Development sector organised 
a large number of technical seminars focused on 
covering the additional requirements arising from  the 
adoption of the new currency. A pilot programme based 
on blended learning technology was also completed. 
Installation of infrastructure for implementing wide-
ranging programmes based on both blended learning 
and e-learning technologies is currently nearing 
completion. In addition, the HRD placed emphasis on 
improving managerial skills, in particular for branch 
network and division management, via innovative 
experienced-based training exercises designed to 
improve management and team development skills. 
Afternoon classes were also held to train and develop 
Group staff on issues such as professionalism, 
leadership, the importance of first impressions, self-
confidence, stress management, as well as name and 
object mnemonics. 

Staff Quality System
Acknowledging that the most important factor in 
the dynamic development of its operations is its 
human capital and personnel management and 
development, the Group is currently in the final stages 
of implementing and then achieving certification for, 
the only internationally recognised quality standard in 
the human resources management and development 
sector, the “Investors in People (IIP)” standard.

CYPRUS
GROUP OPERATIONS 
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INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY DIVISION
The year 2007 was marked by a large number 
of special challenges and new objectives for the 
Information Technology Division.  Among the Division’s 
main areas of activity were the adoption of the euro, 
the dynamic support of the Bank’s operations in new 
foreign markets, the enhancement of synergies and 
the standardisation of the Group’s systems. These 
activities took place at a time when it was of vital 
importance for the Group to maintain and improve 
its pioneering position in an increasingly competitive 
environment, and to provide support services to cover 
the Bank's operational requirements. Indicatively 
important upgrades were made to systems to ensure 
better monitoring and improved quality of the loan 
portfolio and support for lending procedures, and new 
innovative value added products and services were 
introduced. 

The adoption of the euro in the context of the IT 
systems used by the Bank and its subsidiaries was a 
complex task which kept the Division busy. The project 
was implemented in close collaboration with the 
Bank's Operations and Methods Division and all other 
divisions of the Bank, as well as external partners 
(namely the Central Bank of Cyprus, JCC, and software 
suppliers).
 
Systems were changed over to the euro currency in 
line with Central Bank of Cyprus guidelines, legislation 
on the adoption of the euro and the provision of 
information to the public (such as dual price reporting). 
The project was successfully completed without 
placing the Group or its customers at any risk, thereby 
demonstrating yet again that the IT Division has the 
staff and skills to respond timely and effectively to any 
major technological challenge.
 
In the context of implementing Group strategy to 
expand its operations into new markets, the IT Division 
successfully supported the Group in countries such as  
Russia and Romania.

Projects were implemented in Russia relating to 
the design, development and installation of new IT 
infrastructure systems and specialised software 
applications to support communications, operations 
and the provision of products to the Corporate Banking 
Sector. The Division's response to a number of 
requirements and reports directly related to the Bank’s 
compliance with Central Bank of Russia regulations 
should also be highlighted.

In Romania, the IT Division successfully completed 
under tight deadlines, a series of projects to support 
the operation of the branch network which provides 
both banking and leasing services to the Retail 

and SME sectors. Communication systems and the 
software required to support operations in those 
sectors were installed. Bank of Cyprus in Russia and 
Romania, were connected to the computer systems 
of the Cyprus-based centralised SWIFT Division thus 
enabling international transactions to be processed, 
thereby fully utilising state-of-art technology as well as 
using the solutions that have already been successfully 
implemented within the Group's environment.

By continuing to implement the strategic objective of 
ensuring the maximum possible uniformity in terms 
of procedures, computer infrastructure and software, 
and maximising IT  synergies between Cyprus and 
Greece, the partnership between the two countries 
was enhanced in 2007 and important results were 
achieved. In 2007, plans were finalised regarding the 
implementation of a reliable solution in Greece that 
will manage the network of automated teller machines 
(ATMs) and provide for credit card transaction 
authorisations. This solution has already been 
implemented in Cyprus. This project is currently under 
way and is expected to be completed in 2008 ensuring 
further interoperability of the ATM networks of Cyprus 
and Greece. 

Major upgrades were also made in 2007 to the IT 
infrastructure; as work was carried out ensuring that 
the Group fully complies with the regulations included 
in the Basel II Capital Accord and related EU Directives. 
Data from the Data Warehouse concerning Bank of 
Cyprus UK, Bank of Cyprus Greece and all other Group 
subsidiaries in Greece was fully incorporated into the 
automated capital adequacy calculation procedure.

In an effort to ensure continuous operational 
improvements and management of Group operational 
risk, Bank of Cyprus in Greece, Russia and Romania 
all deployed an automated incident reporting system 
solution thereby making it possible  to routinely 
analyse data at Group level. This solution has already 
been implemented successfully in Cyprus.

Year 2007 marked the start of a long-term project 
whose ultimate goal is to consolidate the Internet 
Banking system, offered by Bank of Cyprus to all its 
customers at Group level. Specifically within 2007 
a new upgraded Internet Banking platform was 
developed and installed at Bank of Cyprus UK. In 2008, 
the IT Division will turn its attention to improving 
system functionality and extending its use to other 
countries such as Cyprus, Greece and Romania.

Seeking to maximise productivity and effectiveness, 
while at the same time reducing the cost of IT solutions 
and other overheads, work will continue in 2008 on 
system standardisation and synergies, and efforts will 
also address the significant area of  procedures. The 

GROUP OPERATIONS 
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objective of this venture is to record in detail, analyse 
and optimise existing common procedures in both 
Cyprus and Greece. 

The preliminary work on the “One Bank” strategy 
commenced during 2007, which aspires to substantially 
raise the level of services offered to customers of 
the Group. The “One Bank” strategy is expected to 
gradually bring about consolidation of all IT systems 
and customer services used in various countries under 
one common technological platform, the ultimate 
objectives being:
• a common teller system for all countries, 
• a common network of ATMs for Cyprus and Greece,
• a common Internet Banking service for all countries, 
• a common call center. 

CYPRUS
GROUP OPERATIONS 
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GREECE

RETAIL CUSTOMERS AND SMALL AND 
MEDIUM SIZED ENTERPRISES
Retail customers
Bank of Cyprus Greece continued its success in the 
domestic market in 2007, improving its competitive 
position, outperforming the market by a considerable 
margin and increasing its market share in all sectors. 
This success was achieved mainly by:
• expanding the network to 135 branches throughout  
 Greece.
• optimizing internal functions and using effective  
 marketing techniques to promote innovative   
 products, thereby widening the Bank’s customer  
 base while at the same time strengthening the brand  
 name of the Bank and its products.

Bank of Cyprus Greece focused on loans to Retail 
customers and the Self-employed Businessmen and, 
with its competitive products and customer-oriented 
policies, achieved rates of growth of 31% in mortgage 
loans and 24% in consumer loans. Retail deposits grew 
at rates that were faster than the market (up 16% to 
€8,8 billion), boosting the Bank’s market share and 
establishing it as one of the preferred choices of the 
saving public. 

The Bank focuses both on enhancing the quality of 
customer service and supporting its internal units.  In 
light of this it has developed a Customer Relationship 
Management (CRM) system. Informational CRM 
collates, processes and utilises the information 
available in many of the Bank’s and its subsidiaries’ 
various systems in order to provide central divisions 
and branches with a comprehensive and detailed 
picture of the Bank’s customer base. Special 
Informational CRM tools generate a large number 
of reports to support top management decision-
making, to further utilise the current customer 
base (cross selling, up selling) and conduct 
promotional campaigns, to analyse the customer 
base (segmentation, behavioural scoring), as well 
as, to set branch targets and assess branch product 
and campaign performance, and to evaluate risks. 
Operational CRM, which is used in all branches, 
integrates innovative facilities for obtaining an overall 
picture of the customer at Group level (360° view), 
launching and monitoring promotional activities, 
correlating customers and recommendations as 
well as recording and monitoring customer requests 
(interest in products, complaints, competition 
characteristics).

In contrast to declining market forecasts, the aim for 
2008 is to maintain and improve high growth rates 
throughout the products range by: 
• expanding the network with 25 new branches,
• promoting new products,

•  introducing further organisational improvements  
 and applying new technologies

Small and Medium Sized Enterprises (SΜΕs)
Recognising on the one hand the importance of SMEs 
to the development of the local economy and on the 
other hand the need to provide them with specialised 
services, Bank of Cyprus now has 70 Business Centres 
in Greece.  The aim of Bank of Cyprus is to provide 
personalised services to every company in Greece 
and as a result a further 12 Business Centres will be 
opened in 2008. 

Bank of Cyprus has the infrastructure needed to 
provide immediate service to SMEs. With fast and 
flexible procedures and products tailored to individual 
industries (tourism, project finance, renewable energy 
sources etc.) alongside traditional banking products 
(start-up capital using overdraft facilities, permanent 
working capital, asset financing, investment financing, 
debenture loans, leasing, factoring etc.), it now has a 
market share of over 5% in business loans. 

Loans to SMEs rose by 21% in 2007, which is much 
higher than the total market. The Bank also continued 
to play a successful part in Regional Development 
Programmes under the Third Community Support 
Framework, resulting in increased investment 
proposals for SMEs.

Card Centre
The Card Centre of Bank of Cyprus in Greece 
performed extremely well again this year despite the 
highly competitive and mature market. 

The number of credit cards in circulation rose by 
11%, debit balances were up by 18% and commercial 
transactions by 27%. Purchases from commercial 
companies using the Bank’s debit cards increased 
by 46%. 

Additionally, a new Cyprus Visa Pre-Paid card was 
launched in 2007. Over 20.000 cards have been sold in 
less than 9 months since the launch.

Alternative Distribution Channels
Alternative distribution channels in Greece include 
ΑΤΜs, Internet Banking, Phone Banking and On-line 
Trading.

The Group’s ATM network in Greece comprised of 184 
cash machines at the end of 2007, 138 of which are 
installed in the Bank’s branches, the remaining 46 
being Off-Site ATMs located in businesses, department 
stores, bus stations, hotels, public places etc. 46 of 
these ΑΤΜs can be used for ΒΝΑ deposits.
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Customers can use Internet Banking, Phone Banking 
and On-line Trading to monitor their banking 
relationship (balances and statements of account, 
cheques, factoring, mutual funds and equity portfolio) 
and carry out banking and brokerage transactions 
anywhere, without having to visit a branch. 

The rate of increase in the use of these services 
continued at a fast pace in 2007 exceeding 50%. 
Specifically, Internet Banking grew by 50%, thus 
outperforming the rest of the market by a considerable 
margin. As the cost of processing transactions using 
these services is much lower than for the branch 
network, it is estimated that the benefit from the use 
of these services by customers more than doubled in 
2007.

This upward trend is expected to continue in 2008 
by upgrading these services, especially for Internet 
Banking, from the beginning of the year (one-time 
password generation devices, monitoring of balances, 
monthly statements and new transactions on credit 
and prepaid cards). Continuous infrastructure 
improvements are also planned. 

CORPORATE BANKING AND 
SHIPPING DIVISION
Lending to corporate customers expanded at 
satisfactory growth rates and volumes during 2007 and 
there was a considerable improvement in the quality 
of the portfolio. Direct financing increased by 15% 
and indirect financing by 21%. With its fast response 
to customer requests and successful efforts to boost 
long-term confidence, together with the operation of a 
fifth new Corporate Team based in Piraeus, the Division 
looks set to grow even faster in the future.

Additionally in July 2007, financing and other services 
to the Greek shipping sector were introduced and 
were well received by the shipping community, 
shipowners and other credit institutions. Total lending 
reached $130 million, 38% of which formed part of 
syndicated loans. The Bank’s excellent relations with 
the dynamic traditional shipping families guarantee a 
strong position in the shipping sector in terms of both 
shipping loans and cross-selling in the property, Retail 
Banking and Private Banking sectors.

LEASING
Kyprou Leasing 
Over the ten years since its incorporation in 1997, 
Κyprou Leasing has grown into one of the leading 
leasing companies in the market, having acquired a 
broad customer base and ranking second, a position 
it has maintained for the last number of years. It has 
obtained ISO 9001 certification from TÜV CERT for its 
leasing services and pursues a consistent policy of 
offering high-quality, up to date and efficient services. 

According to the most recent statistics available, 
Kyprou Leasing has a market share of over 18%.

Relying on its highly trained officers and on 
investments in ongoing improvements, it has created 
flexible and specialised products for both equipment 
leasing and property leasing, thereby meeting the 
needs of Self-employed businessmen, such as doctors, 
lawyers etc. and every type of business. It also works 
with selected equipment suppliers (vendor leasing), 
thereby boosting mutual sales through the financing of 
vendors’ customers. 

Kyprou Leasing contributed substantially to the startup 
of operations of the Group subsidiary in Romania, 
Cyprus Leasing Romania. The newly established 
subsidiary is under the supervision of Kyprou Leasing. 

For the coming year Kyprou Leasing’s strategic 
objectives are to: 
• maintain high profitability through sound leasing, 
• improve competitiveness with new schemes for all  
 types of businesses,
• take advantage of the expansion of the Bank’s   
 branch network in order to expand the company’s  
 customer base. 

Kyprou Factors 
Kyprou Factors continued to grow its business in 
2007 and improved its performance across the board, 
maintaining a market share of 19% and ranking third 
in the sector as a whole and second in international 
factoring. Specifically, in 2007 it recorded:
• an increase in turnover from €874 million in 2006 to  
 €1.215 million (increase of 39%), 
• an increase in discounting from €255 million in 2006  
 to €300 million (increase of 18%), 
• an increase in turnover from international factoring  
 through Factors Chain International from €63   
 million in 2006 to €164 million (increase of 160%).
 
At the same time, important organisational and 
operational improvements were made in the Division 
with the basic aim of upgrading its information system 
by automating customer data processing, completing 
the online customer information system on the 
Internet (e-factoring) and improving administration 
information systems.

In 2008, Kyprou Factors intends to:
• boost its market share,
• increase turnover,
• improve profitability,
• further increase the volume of international   
 factoring business, especially import factoring, and
• expand discounting while maintaining a sound   
 portfolio.
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These objectives will be achieved not only by focusing 
on efforts aimed at creating products tailored to 
customers’ requirements and the capability to serve 
customers that have large numbers of debtors but 
also through further expansion of the Division’s 
portfolio based on market penetration of both SMEs 
and Corporate Enterprises that trade both locally and 
abroad.

The comparative advantages of the Division are 
the Group’s high level of expertise and long-term 
experience in providing these specific services, the 
emphasis on organisation and operations using 
leading-edge technology, its flexibility and ability 
to take decisions quickly in cooperation with the 
relevant approval authorities, its close cooperation 
with the Bank’s network, its presence throughout 
Greece, the high standard of services provided and 
the professionalism and high quality of its human 
resources.

PRIVATE BANKING
The Private Banking Division in Greece has offices 
in both Athens and Thessaloniki, offering products 
and services designed for private individuals with 
significant funds available for investment.

The Division works with the largest international 
investment houses to provide customers with a 
wide range of investment options and access to the 
international bond markets and all the major foreign 
stock markets. It offers amongst others local mutual 
funds through Kyprou AEDAK, foreign mutual funds 
managed by the Swiss bank UBS and composite 
structured capital-guaranteed investment products 
from almost all foreign investment houses.

The aim of the Private Banking Division is to offer 
high quality services tailored to the requirements of 
individual investors on the basis of their investment 
profile and characteristics. 

ASSET MANAGEMENT AND 
INVESTMENT SERVICES 
Asset Management 
In 2007, there was a significant increase in investments 
in the UBS international mutual funds which are 
represented in Greece by Bank of Cyprus. Total funds 
invested by the Bank's customers in UBS international 
mutual funds increased by 75% while at the same time 
the number of unit holders increased by 140%. The 
Bank’s strategic objective in terms of representing 
third party investment products is to boost volumes by 
widening the product range, expanding relationships, 
creating composite products and providing increased 
administrative support for sales.

Kyprou AEDAK 
Kyprou AEDAK achieved significant business growth in 
2007, with total funds under management increasing 
by 25,3% while at the same time the performance of 
the mutual funds achieving high rankings compared to 
the competition.

Kyprou AEDAK added a new mutual fund to its range 
in 2007, the Kyprou Dual Strategy Foreign Bond Mutual 
Fund. This particular mutual fund allows investors 
to track the Dow Jones Eurostoxx-50 and provides a 
return on both rises and falls in the index at the end 
of its five-year term. The Dow Jones Eurostoxx-50 
comprises the shares of the 50 companies with the 
largest market capitalisation by sector which are listed 
in the eurozone. The Kyprou Dual Strategy Foreign 
Bond Mutual Fund is targeted at long-term investors 
with a conservative investment profile wishing to invest 
in quality bonds with the aim of achieving returns 
geared to the rise or fall in the reference index.

Kyprou Securities
The brokerage sector continued to consolidate in 2007, 
with the number of active members of the Athens 
Exchange down to 70 at the end of the year (of which 
9 are remote members that are already members 
of the Cyprus Stock Exchange), compared with 74 in 
2006. Improved trading conditions, coupled with a high 
level of activity by foreign institutional investors on the 
Greek market, resulted on the one hand in the average 
daily volume of transactions increasing by 42% and on 
the other hand, resulted in the concentration of the 
market among the ten largest brokerage houses that 
accounted for 84% of trades. Despite stiff competition 
and the Company’s conservative profile, Kyprou 
Securities recorded notable increases in all its footings 
in 2007, with its customer base growing by 21% and 
the number of active customers (effecting at icreasing 

Ranking 
31.12.07

Return on 
M/F (%) 

01.01.07-
31.12.07

Kyprou Domestic 
Greek Mutual 
Fund

Performance and ranking of the Mutual Funds 
(M/F) managed by Kyprou AEDAK 

  *  Capital Market Committee decision no. 64/14.05.1998 
 (Government Gazette 590Β/16.06.1998)
**  Capital Market Committee decision no. 172/13.04.2000 
 (Government Gazette 599Β/8.05.2000)

Dynamic** 21,70%  5/56

Equity* 13,90%  37/56

Asset Allocation** 11,41% 3/24

Money market* 3,46% 2/21

Bond* 2,41% 6/24
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at least one trade on the Athens Exchange) increasing 
by 51%. As a result, the company recorded impressive 
pre-tax profits of approximately €3,3 million.

Kyprou Securities intends to broaden its range of 
investment services in 2008, in the new trading 
environment created by the new “MIFID” Community 
directive, by providing for the following:
• Market making services for stocks listed on the   
 Athens Exchange (single and main market).
• Brokerage services on foreign exchanges (equities- 
 derivatives).
• A fully staffed analyst division. 
• Investment advisory services.

INSURANCE SERVICES
Kyprou Asfalistiki 
General Insurance of Cyprus operates in the Greek 
insurance market through its branch registered under 
the name of Kyprou Asfalistiki. Since it was established 
about six years ago, Kyprou Asfalistiki has grown 
dynamically both in terms of the volume of insurance 
business generated and profitability. It has also built 
up insurance reserves over this period of €13,4 million 
solely from its own sources of income.

Kyprou Asfalistiki offers all general insurance 
services with the exception of motor insurance and 
insurance relating to legal protection, letters of 
credit and warranties. Its main objective continues 
to be the provision of insurance services to Bank of 
Cyprus customers through the creation of products 
that offer comprehensive coverage, with easily 
understandable terms, which can be tailored to meet 
the specialised requirements of specific sectors of the 
market. Products are marketed through the Bank’s 
branch network whereas more specialised customer 
requirements are serviced by the highly-trained staff of 
Kyprou Asfalistiki. The key policy of Kyprou Asfalistiki 
is to maintain the high level of professionalism of its 
officers and apply a customer-oriented approach to 
management, which ensures that it can offer Bank of 
Cyprus customers the best possible insurance service.

In 2007, Kyprou Asfalistiki generated gross premiums 
of €7,7 million, an increase of 12,7% and recorded 
profit after tax of €1,5 million (2006:€1,0 million). 

Kyprou Zois
Kyprou Zois operates as a branch of EuroLife 
in the Greek life assurance market. It relies on 
bancassurance methods and designs products suitable 
for marketing solely through the Bank’s branch 
network. This method allows the branch to exploit 
the potential for cross-selling to the Bank’s customer 
base, making it one of the most profitable 
companies in the Greek insurance market. The aim of 
Kyprou Zois is to market insurance products which:

• relate to the services and products offered by Bank  
 of Cyprus in Greece both to consumers and business  
 clients,
• are marketed through the Bank’s established   
 distribution channels using methods which are an  
 extension of those used for banking products, and
• can be mass marketed to groups of the Bank’s   
 customers.

Kyprou Zois offers life assurance policies on all types 
of Bank of Cyprus loan products for private individuals, 
consumers and business professionals. The insurance 
products linked to mortgage, business, consumer and 
personal loans and credit cards have achieved levels 
of market penetration, which are among the highest in 
the Greek banking market. Stand-alone products have 
also been developed for pension planning and also with 
children as beneficiaries, which are being marketed 
by customer service officers of the Bank’s branches 
and also using direct marketing aimed at the Bank’s 
customer base. Particular attention has been paid over 
the past two years to improving operational systems, 
in order to provide the Bank’s branches with the best 
possible assistance in marketing insurance plans. 
Promotion of loan insurance to the Bank’s customers 
was carried out through wide-ranging campaigns using 
the Bank’s CRM system and alternative channels.

Plans for 2008 include the expansion of the range of 
insurance products for SMEs and the range of products 
linked to Consumer Banking products.

HUMAN RESOURCES DIVISION
The Bank of Cyprus Group recruited 589 new 
employees in Greece between 1 January 2007 and 
31 December 2007, while the number of employees 
that left the company came to 212 in total. 
Consequently, the Group currently employs 3.001 
employees in Greece. 

Training provided for all members of staff is divided 
into technical and computer training seminars and 
social skills development seminars for office and 
managerial staff. 178 seminars conducted in 462 
sessions were attended by 5.859 employees. 

The Bank’s approach to staff training and development 
is highlighted by the use of alternative adult education 
teaching methods which focus on experiential and 
empirical forms of education such as role-playing, 
outdoor activities and on the job training. Full-time 
and part-time in-house instructors, special teaching 
rooms at the centre in Athens, e-learning programmes 
and a dummy branch have secured for many years now 
an improvement of the effectiveness of the training 
process and the development of the skills of the Bank’s 
human resources. 

GREECE
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Bank of Cyprus Greece continued to use its well 
structured annual assessment system in 2007. The 
main criteria of this system are the qualities shown 
by the employee being assessed in conjunction 
with the Group’s overall culture. The assessment 
system is designed primarily for development 
purposes; the potential of each employee and the 
areas for improvement are identified on the basis of 
extensive discussions with the immediate superior 
and subsequently the employee’s manager. The 
ultimate objective of the assessment system is to help 
employees develop their skills and guide them towards 
a successful career with the Bank. 

The promotions procedure is based primarily on the 
criteria of performance, potential, academic and 
professional qualifications, banking experience and 
seniority. The general approach of the Division to staff 
assessment, is in line with the Group's, which places 
particular emphasis on performance and output.

For the second year running, the employee motivation, 
incentives and satisfaction system in place at Bank of 
Cyprus Greece has included the New Ideas Prize as an 
additional tool for motivating staff to suggest innovative 
ways of increasing profits or improving procedures. 
In addition, the healthy working environment, the 
civilized working hours, the library, sporting and social 
events arranged by the Social and Sporting Activities 
Committees in each region, the gym provided by the 
Bank and the annual spending budget for each unit are 
all strong incentives which, coupled with the Group’s 
flexible, employee-oriented approach, motivate the 
staff to be creative and innovative in their work.

Finally, the system of annual pay rises is based on 
rewarding performance and output. This acts as a 
powerful incentive which rewards effort and gives 
even very recent recruits the chance to earn a salary 
commensurate with their performance. A graduated 
bonus share plan was introduced in 2006 for all 
employees (with the number of shares depending on 
seniority). The Group also decided to set up a scheme 
from 2007 to reward highly productive and efficient 
members of staff, who contributed to the Group’s 
growth, with up to a month’s salary. The excellent 
health plan, free check-ups, pension scheme, parental 
and study leave and other benefits all form part of the 
general staff policy applied by Bank of Cyprus Greece.

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 
The Information Technology (IT) Division focused on 
developing systems designed to cover the needs of the 
Group and to provide efficient, high-quality services to 
Group customers, optimum monitoring and internal 
evaluation and enable compliance with supervisory and 
statutory requirements.

Further processes were automated in 2007; a 
portal was installed in preparation for the new 
document library to improve and simplify information 
transmission and enquiries. The centralisation of the 
Fund Transfer application in Cyprus was completed, 
preparations were made to install the new application 
for e-management of recoveries and enhancements 
were made to the computer application which was 
developed in-house to manage all loan applications by 
Retail customers. A Central Internal Correspondence 
Management System using the intranet and barcode 
scanners was introduced in order to guarantee 
constant supervision of all banking correspondence. 
In parallel, scanners were installed throughout the 
network in order to create electronic back-up files of 
all important banking documents.

The Bank has completed the infrastructure needed 
to join the TARGET2 automated payment system for 
payments in euros within the European Union and is 
currently making preparations for the introduction of 
SEPA (Single European Payments Area) remittance 
products. Bank of Cyprus was one of the first banks 
in Greece to introduce a CRM system throughout the 
branch network (not only at call centres). In 2007, the 
Bank focused on extensive training across the network, 
in order to effectively utilise the facilities available from 
the Operational CRM, both in order to support sales 
and also improve customer service. A new function was 
also introduced which will provide an improved overall 
(360°) customer profile, record and utilise customer 
requests and allow integrated management of changes 
to customers’ details. As a result, use of Operational 
CRM more than doubled in 2007. Informational CRM 
was also enhanced by including information for the 
purpose of sales campaigns.

An english version of Internet Banking was 
installed, the remittance facility was automated and 
transactional security was improved by creating the 
infrastructure needed to use one-time password 
generation devices. Preparations were also made 
to provide credit card holders with detailed account 
statements.

There was a significant increase in the number of 
organisations paid using the Bank’s alternative 
channels in 2007 and over 82.000 telephone calls 
were taken from customers in connection with loans 
(average of 310 Loan by Phone calls per day). 

GREECE
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The Division continued the preparations to install the 
new application for recording dealers’ loan applications 
through the Internet as well as the base 24 system 
to support EMV cards. The gradual application of 
centralised automated ATM reconciliation throughout 
the network which aims to save time and human 
resources has now been completed.

As far as new applications are concerned, the Bank has 
created the infrastructure needed in order to charge 
the new Prepaid card through branches, at ΑΤΜs or 
via Internet Banking or Phone Banking. It has also 
introduced a new application that provides ongoing 
monitoring of accounts and transactions in order to 
detect, track and evaluate high-risk transactions and 
customers (anti-money laundering) as well as an 
application which allows Bank staff to exercise share 
options. At the same time, most of the preparations for 
the new version of the Bank’s core system have been 
completed; this will allow automations to be introduced 
in the future, improve EOD processing and provide 
24hour availability.

For the seventh consecutive year, Bank of Cyprus 
received the Quality Recognition Award from 
J.P. Morgan for Swift messages with 99,7% STP.

GREECE
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AUSTRALIA
Bank of Cyprus Australia
In 2007, Bank of Cyprus Australia continued to gain 
satisfactory market share in the Hellenic community 
of Australia by focusing on providing the best possible 
service and introducing a wider range of competitively 
priced products.

Bank of Cyprus Australia exceeded its already 
ambitious sales targets in 2007 with pre-tax profits 
increasing by 15% from the previous year. Advances 
increased by 39% with mortgage loans noting an 
increase of 49% confirming the Bank’s successful 
focus on the retail lending market. Deposits increased 
by 10%.

The Treasury Division, set up in 2005 to offer foreign 
currency services increased its revenue by 41% in 
2007. It will continue to provide significant commission 
income to the Bank in 2008 with plans to expand its 
product offering.

The introduction of Internet Banking and a related 
online savings product (Midas Account) in late 2006, 
improved the Bank’s penetration of second and third 
generation Greeks in Australia. Moreover, the online 
Midas Account won an award for the Best Savings 
Account in Australia improving the Bank’s profile in the 
wider Australian banking market and positioning the 
Bank as a serious alternative to the major banks.

In 2008, the Bank plans to focus on increasing 
customer deposits and foreign exchange revenue.
Following a reappraisal of the Bank’s service network, 
the Sydney City branch will be relocated in 2008 to 
a predominately Greek speaking suburb, thereby 
providing more exposure for the Bank. 

Bank of Cyprus Australia will continue to add value to 
the Group by offering products for people travelling 
to Cyprus and Greece and by assisting customers 
in executing transactions at other Bank of Cyprus  
branches worldwide.

CHANNEL ISLANDS
Bank of Cyprus (Channel Islands) 
Bank of Cyprus (Channel Islands) offers innovative 
deposit and lending products to Group customers. 
It also provides its Private Banking customers with 
investment and brokerage services. The profits of Bank 
of Cyprus (Channel Islands) rose significantly in 2007.

UNITED KINGDOM
Bank of Cyprus United Kingdom
In 2007 Bank of Cyprus United Kingdom (UK) once 
again exceeded its targets, achieving a profit after tax 
of £6,2 million (€10,6 million) reflecting continued good 
business growth, cost containment and low bad debts. 
Total advances increased by 22% and total deposits 
increased by 24%. 

By capitalising on its strengths, Bank of Cyprus 
UK aims to maintain its status as a specialist 
entrepreneurial bank, treating customers fairly and 
focusing on meeting their needs through outstanding 
relationship-based service as well as flexible and 
competitive products. 

During 2007 Bank of Cyprus UK increased its profile as 
an alternative banking choice achieving wider appeal 
in the UK market thereby, successfully expanding 
and diversifying its customer base. This was made 
possible through the enhancement of its market 
profile, expansion of its network of introducers and 
the consistent offering of highly competitive time 
deposit rates. Other key achievements in 2007 include 
the launch of a Centralised Enquiries Service, the 
launch of an enhanced Online Banking Service for 
retail customers and the pilot introduction of a similar 
Online Banking Service for business customers. Two 
business centres were relocated to modern offices in 
Birmingham and South London.

Bank of Cyprus UK’s strategy is focused on achieving 
the challenging business growth targets it has set 
while effectively managing the risks that derive from 
market pressures and uncertainty. Within this context 
the Bank aims to further improve the service offered 
and to tailor products to suit the individual business 
needs of its customers, while at the same time 
continuing to contain infrastructure costs by gaining 
maximum leverage from partnership relationships.

Key plans for 2008 and beyond include:
• Further enhancement of profitability. 
• Further improvement of service offered by taking  
 full advantage of partnership arrangements and by  
 pursuing an integrated web strategy.
• Further automation of procedures.
• Creation of a central London quality banking centre  
 for corporate/ high net worth customers.
• Further enhancement of BOC UK’s market profile  
 and expansion and further diversification of its 
 customer base.

OTHER COUNTRIES
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OTHER COUNTRIES
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ROMANIA
Bank of Cyprus Romania
Bank of Cyprus Romania commenced operations in 
late July 2007, offering integrated financial products 
and services through two branches that were 
established in Bucharest, one business centre at 
Head Office level, and one unit operating in Cyprus 
designated to serve corporate customers.

The Bank in Romania addresses its services to both 
legal entities and individuals, however, particular focus 
is also given to the Small and Medium size Enterprise 
(SME) sector. With the further development of its 
infrastructure and branch network, the Bank will be 
in a better position to service these customers more 
effectively.

After its establishment and having surpassed the 
inherent difficulties of a new business in a foreign 
country, the Bank has succeeded in building a healthy 
loan portfolio. 

The distinct advantages of Bank of Cyprus Romania 
include the flexibility of customer transactions, fast 
settlements, beneficial interest rates for time products 
and the regard given to our customers. The Bank aims 
in the short term to continue developing the local 
network and to grow the Retail, SME and Corporate 
business at the same pace. A target has been set 
to open seven new branches by the end of 2008 and 
another 15 new branches every year thereafter.

In terms of market share the stated objective of the 
Bank in Romania is to obtain around 1% of the 
aggregate lending market (i.e. both domestic lending 
and debt extended from overseas) by 2009 and to 
establish sound and solid business relationships with 
its customers. 

Bank of Cyprus Romania had obtained a market share 
of almost 0,5% of the lending market in 2007 
calculated on a basis that includes both in-border 
and cross-border lending volumes. 

The Bank estimates that by 2010 it will have over 
8.000 Retail clients, over 900 SMEs and around 150 
Corporate clients. The increase takes into 
consideration the offering of card products (debit and 
credit) and the launching of new alternative channels 
such as internet banking, cross-selling opportunities 
and agreements with vendors and authorised brokers. 
The Bank will continue its organic growth and is 
expected to achieve breakeven results in 2008 and 
higher profitability thereafter through economies of 
scale and volume growth.

Cyprus Leasing (Romania) 
Cyprus Leasing (Romania) commenced operations in 
Romania in January 2007. In its first six months the 
Company, as expected, gave priority to developing and 
implementing procedures and systems and obtaining a 
better understanding of the Romanian market. In 2007, 
as part of a series of carefully planned measures, the 
Company introduced flexible, competitive products, 
mainly to corporate clients. The involvement of the 
Company in the retail sector was limited since Bank 
of Cyprus has not yet established a branch network 
in the country. The Company managed to successfully 
overcome the anticipated difficulties, and in December 
2007 its portfolio reached C£13,6 million (€23,2 
million).

In 2008, the Company also initiated a major 
marketing drive to promote its services in the retail 
sector. It made agreements with suppliers and 
currently provides special offers and competitive 
products. To overcome the problem of not having 
a branch network, the Company expanded outside 
Bucharest using sales representatives.

With the commencement of the operations of Bank of 
Cyprus in Romania, it is expected that Cyprus Leasing 
(Romania) will further improve its position through the 
maximasition of synergies. At the same time, recent 
organisational changes and commitments made by 
the Group to boost its efforts in Romania ensure that 
the Company will exceed its targets for the size of its 
lending portfolio for 2008. 
 
RUSSIA 
Bank of Cyprus Russia
The beginning of a new phase in the Bank of Cyprus 
Group’s growth was marked by the start-up of banking 
operations in Russia with the establishment of a fully 
fledged banking unit. The decision to expand into 
Russia was based on the assessment that Russia 
represents a market with immense potential and 
tremendous prospects. Russia is a profitable market 
especially for the banking sector, due to its large 
population, rapidly developing economy and its varied, 
extensive natural resources.

Bank of Cyprus is the first commercial bank from 
the Greek-speaking world to establish an official full 
banking presence in Russia. The implementation of 
the Bank's business plan is expected to prompt Greek 
and Cypriot businesses to expand their international 
operations by including the promising Russian market 
in their plans.

Bank of Cyprus Russia now provides a full range of 
banking products and services which reflect the latest 
requirements of corporate customers. 
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In terms of Internet Banking, the Bank provides a 
state-of-art system offering availability of all relevant 
functions.

At the same time, the Group also provides cutting edge 
specialist services such as leasing. In this context a 
specialist subsidiary has been established in Russia 
which offers a wide range of related products.

The Bank operates from a state-of-art specialised 
Corporate Banking Centre which is supported by the 
head office of the Bank in Russia. The head office 
is fully staffed and comprises all the necessary 
departments such as financial control, legal, IT, 
internal audit, treasury, etc. The Bank has recruited 
specialised, experienced personnel, and the IT systems 
deployed were selected with a view to providing the 
best possible customer service that takes full account 
of local market requirements while at the same time 
ensuring legal and regulatory compliance. 

After just a few months of operation, the Russian 
banking subsidiary has a noteworthy core of business 
customers who make extensive use of the range of 
services offered. 

Bank of Cyprus has set ambitious medium and long-
term objectives for the Russian market. Group strategy 
in this regard includes the setting up of a network 
of 16 branches over the next three years at strategic 
locations in Russia's two largest urban centres, namely 
Moscow and St. Petersburg.

At the same time Bank of Cyprus is also planning 
to penetrate into the promising SME Sector. The 
opportunities arising in this Sector in Russia are 
immense given the large scope for growth in the 
country’s SME sector coupled with the low banking 
penetration in that sector. The planned expansion of 
the branch network will also significantly support the 
profitable penetration of the Group into the SME sector.

The Group’s longer term plans for expansion in Russia 
include moving into the Retail Banking Sector which 
will be possible once a branch network has been set 
up, and relevant products and necessary technological 
infrastructure have been developed.

The Bank is expected to generate profits from its 
first full year of operation which will contribute to the 
growth of the Group’s overall profitability.

UKRAINE
In November 2007 Bank of Cyprus signed a sale and 
purchase agreement for the acquisition of 95% of the 
share capital of the Ukrainian bank AvtoZAZBank for 
approximately €52 million. 

This acquisition will be completed once the 
supervisory authorities in Ukraine issue the necessary 
authorisations. 

AvtoZAZBank was established in 1991 and offers full 
banking services. The Bank's head office is located 
in Kiev and it has a network comprising 26 branches 
and 18 seasonal cash offices in four main regions 
of Ukraine. According to its unaudited financial 
statements, the bank's net assets as at 31 October 
2007 stood at €15 million, its loans totalled €85 million 
and total deposits amounted to €82 million.

With this acquisition the Bank of Cyprus Group expands 
in line with its strategic plan into countries with large 
populations, significant economic growth potential,  
relatively low banking penetration and a high degree 
of recognition for Bank of Cyprus. Bank of Cyprus will 
provide full banking services in Ukraine also leverage 
on its significant number of established relationships 
with businesses operating in this country.

REPRESENTATIVE OFFICES
The Representative Offices continued their successful 
presence abroad in 2007 making significant 
contributions to Group profitability. They have a 
dynamic presence in South Africa, Canada and Russia. 
The two Representative Offices in Russia, based in 
Moscow and St. Petersburg, were very successful.

Representative Offices provide Group customers with 
a high level of service wherever they are, thereby 
bridging geographical distances. Their experienced 
and skilled officers provide information on and access 
to the entire range of Group services.

Due to the rapid growth of the economies of the 
former Soviet Union and the opportunities arising 
there, an application has also been filed to establish 
a Representative Office in Ukraine. Authorisation is 
expected to be granted very soon. Surveys were also 
carried out and it was decided to expand the network of 
Representative Offices in Russia. The applications for 
setting up these offices will be filed soon. 

With the continuous monitoring and assessment of the 
socio-economic changes taking place in the countries 
where Representative Offices have been established, 
the Group is able to acquire valuable experience and 
knowledge assisting the assesment of the economies 
of countries where the Group might expand its banking 
operations in the future. The success of these Offices 
prompted the Group to expand, offering full banking 
services in foreign countries, where Representative 
Offices operate. 

OTHER COUNTRIES

GROUP OPERATIONS 
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Sector and develop business by selling treasury 
products.

In 2007, Treasury Divisions were also set up in 
Romania and Russia, while a specialised platform for 
foreign exchange transactions between Group banking 
units was put into operation. In Cyprus, the Midas 
system used by the Settlement Division was upgraded 
to Midas Plus. 

In 2008, the Treasury Division is set to further increase 
the number of points of sale for Treasury products in 
both Cyprus and Greece. At operational level, there are 
plans to introduce the Continuous Linked Settlement 
(CLS) system in Cyprus for the settlement of interbank 
foreign exchange transactions with reduced settlement 
risk. In addition, there are plans to centralise 
settlement operations by establishing a Group 
Settlement Division in Cyprus to deal with transaction 
settlement across all Group Treasury Divisions.

GROUP RISK MANAGEMENT
The three Risk Management divisions (credit, market 
and operational) completed the work necessary for 
the calculation of the capital requirement using the 
Standardised Approach in accordance with the relevant 
Directive issued by the Central Bank of Cyprus, 
which incorporates the requirements of the relevant 
European Union directive (Capital Requirement 
Directive) and the New Capital Accord (Basel II). 
The Risk Management divisions have also moved 
steadily towards the adoption of specialised methods 
for monitoring and measuring all types of risk, with 
the aim of gradually covering the whole Group. It is 
expected that the greatest benefit for the Group will 
arise from the realization of this longer-term objective, 
through the reduction of both the potential losses 
arising from these risks and the relevant capital 
requirement.

The first ICAAP (Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment 
Process) report required under the new Central 
Bank Directive was prepared. The report included a 
detailed analysis of all Pillar II risks as per Basel II 
and a description of the control framework for the 
minimization of those risks.     

CREDIT RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group places great importance on the effective 
management of credit risk. This is achieved through 
a combination of highly trained and specialised 
personnel and appropriate credit risk assessment 
systems. Through these systems, the creditworthiness 
of existing and new customers is assessed and the 
pricing of credit facilities is determined. 

During 2007 considerable progress was made in 
the development of an integrated system for the 
measurement and management of credit risk across 

GROUP TREASURY 
Group Treasury is responsible for the proactive 
management of the Group’s assets and liabilities 
based on a strategy laid down by the Group’s Asset and 
Liability Committee (ALCO).

Group Treasury participates in the money and bond 
markets to manage the Group’s liquidity risk with the 
objective of increasing profitability through the effective 
management of liquid funds and wholesale funding. 
Liquid funds are placed mainly in interbank deposits 
and tradable securities. Capital is raised through 
international bond issuance programmes, through 
issues of securities in Cyprus and via the interbank 
market in Cyprus and abroad.

Group Treasury also participates in the currency and 
derivatives markets for the effective management of 
exchange and interest rate risks within strict limits set 
by the ALCO.

As a result of continuous risk monitoring the Bank 
effectively managed the credit and liquidity crisis facing 
international markets in August 2007. It is worth noting 
that the Bank had no exposure to the US sub-prime 
mortgage loans market. 

Cyprus Treasury has a dominant position on the foreign 
exchange market. Bank of Cyprus was rated by the 
internationally renowned journal, Global Finance, as 
the best bank in Cyprus in the foreign exchange sector. 

In 2007, the amount of the Euro Medium Term Note 
(EMTN) Programme (through which the Group issues 
bonds abroad) was increased from €1,5 billion to 
€2 billion. An issue was made under this Programme 
for €500 million (Senior Debt) on very favourable 
terms. Additionally, the Euro Commercial Paper 
Programme, which is used to issue short-term 
commercial paper, increased from €500 million to €1 
billion. In December 2007, Capital Securities totalling 
C£74 million (€126 million) were issued, being the 
largest bond issue in Cyprus. Capital Securities are 
ranked as Tier 1 capital for the Bank.

The Customer Service Division was expanded in 2007 
and can now handle larger foreign currency transaction 
volumes. The value of transactions exceeded €13 
billion in 2007 increasing by 44% compared to 2006. 
The number of transactions in Russian roubles 
soared, which bodes well for the prospects with the 
establishment of a banking unit in Russia. A new 
specialised Corporate Division has also been set up 
to provide the necessary support and complementary 
services to the Corporate Banking Sector.

A Customer Service Department was set up in Greece 
in 2007, mainly to support the Corporate Banking 

OTHER GROUP OPERATIONS 
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regular basis to ensure that, as far as possible, loans 
are properly priced on an individual customer basis.

Management, Monitoring and Control of Advances
The ultimate objective of the efficient management 
of the Group’s advances portfolio is to enable prompt 
corrective action to be taken as soon as irregularities 
appear on customer debit accounts, so as to drastically 
restrict bad debts and non-performing loans. 

In this context, integrated automated collection/
settlement systems for overdue debit accounts, as well 
as specialised Group departments for both the Retail 
Sector and the SME and Corporate Sectors are used, 
which allow for appropriate prompt corrective action to 
be taken. Additionally, recoveries accounts are handled 
effectively at both central and regional level. During 
2007, the Credit Risk Policy Management Department 
has undertaken the responsibility for both Provisions 
and Recoveries. 

Following coordinated efforts of Group management 
and lending units, the Group’s non-performing loans 
were noticeably reduced during 2007. 

MARKET RISK MANAGEMENT
Group Market Risk Management (GMRM) is responsible 
for measuring and monitoring the following risks at 
Group level:
• Market risk 
• Liquidity Risk
• Credit risk with correspondent banks and countries

The Group Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO) sets 
out the policy for the management of these risks and 
approves the acceptable level of risk and limits, which 
are ratified by the Risk Committee of the Board of 
Directors.

The monitoring of these risks at Group level is carried 
out by Market Risk Officers in the various countries 
in which the Group operates, who report directly to 
GMRM.

During 2007, the Group ALCO approved market risk 
limits for the new units of the Group in Russia and 
Romania, that are monitored on a daily basis.  During 
2008, the framework for monitoring market risks in 
Ukraine will also be put in place.

Market risk
Interest Rate Risk
In order to control the risk from changes in interest 
rates, limits have been set for the maximum loss of 
net interest income, for each banking unit, for each 
year, for the next three years. These limits have been 
set as a percentage of Group capital (1,5%) and as 
a percentage of Group net interest income (5%) and 
have been allocated to the various banking units in 

the Group’s entire loan portfolio. The main benefits 
of this system are the facilitation of a more accurate 
calculation of potential provisions for bad debts and 
capital requirements under the relevant regulatory 
guidelines. The main objective continues to be the 
uniform treatment of credit risk, in terms of both 
systems and credit policy, in all operating units of the 
Group throughout the world.

Capital Adequacy
As already mentioned above, during 2007 the 
calculation of the capital requirement based on 
the Standardised Approach was completed, and 
the foundations for the implementation of the IRB 
Approach for credit risk were laid.

Measurement and Assessment
The development of new and the constant 
upgrading of existing systems for the assessment 
of the creditworthiness of Group customers is an 
indispensable part of credit risk management.

In the Retail Banking sector, credit scoring systems 
are used for new customers and behavioural scoring 
systems for existing customers, which are continuously 
upgraded, so that debtors and the risks undertaken 
can be carefully assessed.

In the SME and Corporate Banking sectors, during 
2007 the pilot version of the new Integrated Rating 
System was completed. This system uses a common 
base (the Moody’s Risk Advisor system platform) 
for the credit risk assessment of both the SME and 
Corporate sectors.  During 2008, this system will be 
formally applied aiming to facilitate more accurate 
calculations of a customer’s creditworthiness as 
well as the calculation of the overall credit risk.  
Specifically, the Borrower Rating will be calculated; 
that is an assessment of the creditworthiness of the 
customer, which is based on the business’ financial 
information, the quality of management, market 
trends/outlook, the behaviour of the business’ bank 
accounts and the bank accounts of the guarantors/
owners of the business. The Transaction Rating will 
then be calculated taking into account all relevant 
factors, including any security.  The objective is to 
use this application in a way that will comply with the 
provisions of Basel II and to allow the Group to adopt 
the IRB approach for credit risk in the near future.

Loan Sanctioning Policy
The Group has set specific limits for the various loan 
approval levels, which are applied by qualified officers 
or committees within a predefined framework. There 
are also specific credit risk policies for each market/
sector based on an evaluation of the credit risk and 
changing economic environment. Specific guidelines 
for the sound growth of the Group’s loan portfolio are 
given and relevant instructions are also issued οn a 
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all the Group’s activities as a result of inefficiency or 
failure of internal processes or systems caused either 
by external events or human error. Consequently, 
under the umbrella of operational risks a wide range 
of possible scenarios is included, which are difficult 
to foresee. Nonetheless, with proper operational 
risk management it is possible to limit any adverse 
consequences.

Within this framework, data on operational risk 
events which is being collected on a specialised 
system has started being utilized, so as to improve the 
management of operational risks and, where possible, 
for preventive purposes.

In addition, the more long-term task of analyzing 
and codifying the procedures of the Group, from the 
point of view of better operational risk management, 
has continued. In parallel, the collection of relevant 
data, which allows for the setting, assessment and 
monitoring of key indicators for operational risks, has 
been enriched. 

The above project will continue in 2008, both in Cyprus 
and in Greece. Similarly, work will start for the new 
banking units of the Group. The aim is to gradually 
cover all Group companies.

Finally, the major project of implementing a business 
continuity plan continues, with the aim of ensuring 
that services can resume immediately in the case of a 
disruption.

COMPLIANCE RISK
Compliance risk is defined as the risk of legal or 
regulatory sanctions, material financial loss, or loss to 
reputation a bank may suffer as a result of its failure 
to comply with laws, regulations and codes of conduct. 
With the adoption of a compliance policy, operations 
are conducted within a framework that is guided by 
principles and values. Integrity and sincerity remain 
core principles of the Group, and actions which are 
taken in accordance with relevant laws, codes and 
regulations ensure that these principles are upheld. 

The Board of Directors decided to establish a Group 
Compliance Unit. The unit is independent and reports 
to the Board of Directors and the Group Chief Executive 
Officer. 
The Group Compliance Unit is responsible for:
• The provision of consultancy services, and should  
 advice senior management and keep them informed  
 of developments on compliance matters.
• The development of policies procedures and training  
 tools in the area of compliance.
• The identification and evaluation of the impact of non  
 compliance of the legal and regulatory framework  
 and codes of conduct.
• The management of conflicts of interest.

accordance with their contribution to net interest 
income.  Small limits have also been approved for open 
interest rate positions in the over three-years period.

During 2007, the measurement of the impact of a 2% 
change in interest rates on the economic value of the 
Group has begun. Group ALCO has set a maximum 
limit for this change equal to 10% of Group capital. 

Currency Risk
In order to manage currency risk the ALCO has 
approved open position limits for each currency or 
group of currencies and for the overall open currency 
position.  These limits are lower than the maximum 
permissible by the Central Bank of Cyprus.

For the foreign exchange trading book (that operates 
only in Cyprus) the ALCO has approved daily and 
monthly stop loss limits, as well as Value at Risk limits.  
These limits are monitored by GMRM.  The Value at 
Risk is calculated using the variance/co-variance 
methodology with a confidence interval of 99% and a 
one-day holding period, using historic data for foreign  
exchange rates over the last five years.  During 2007, 
the realised losses did not exceed the Value at Risk on 
any single day.

Liquidity risk
GMRM monitors the bank’s liquidity position and 
ensures adherence to the various limits (e.g. liquidity 
mis-match limits) set by the ALCO and the regulatory 
authorities in the countries where the Group 
operates. During 2007, the ALCO approved the various 
assumptions and limits of two liquidity crisis scenarios:  
bank-specific crisis and market crisis.

Credit risk with correspondent banks and countries
The ALCO has approved a model for setting credit 
limits for correspondents and countries based 
primarily on their credit rating as determined by 
recognised international credit rating agencies.  

GMRM monitors, on a daily basis, changes to the 
ratings of correspondents and countries for which the 
Group has limits and notifies the Group’s banking units 
of any changes to their limits.

OPERATIONAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group Operational Risk Management Division 
continued working on the development of specialised 
methods for measuring operational risk, with a view 
to the proper monitoring of operational risks and 
the timely identification of any shortcomings. This 
is a long-term task, since, beyond the development 
of the necessary infrastructure and systems, most 
importantly, the right culture has to be promoted 
within the organization. This is an essential element 
for the effective management of the relevant risks. 
Potential losses from operational risks may occur in 
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LEGAL RISK
Legal risk is attributed with losses and payments 
that the Group may be required to pay to third parties 
that arise from actions or omissions of itself or its 
employees which may be proved to infringe its legal 
obligations in any of the countries in which it operates. 
These parties may be shareholders, customers, public 
bodies, Group employees etc.

The Internal Legal Division in Cyprus is charged 
with the management of the Group’s legal risk, in 
coordination where necessary with the equivalent 
divisions in Group companies and units overseas, in 
all the countries where the Group has operations. The 
Division also works closely with external legal counsel.

The Group’s management attaches a great deal of 
importance to the proper assessment and monitoring 
of the risks associated with legal disputes or 
arbitration proceedings and other legal issues.
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CULTURE
Bank of Cyprus Cultural Foundation 
The Bank of Cyprus Cultural Foundation was 
established in 1984, and is the first non-profit 
foundation set up on the island by a bank. In February 
2000, a branch of the Foundation was established in 
Greece to foster cooperation and promote the culture 
of the wider Hellenic World.

The Foundation manages six collections (Coins, Maps, 
Engravings, Old Photographs and Watercolours and 
Manuscripts and Old Publications, Modern Cypriot 
Art and Cypriot Antiquities) which are enriched, 
conserved, and presented to the public by way of 
periodic exhibitions, lectures, workshops, educational 
programmes, publications, research programmes and 
the internet.

In 2007, the events organised by the Foundation 
included:
• The prize-giving ceremony for the Annual Children’s  
 and Young Adults’ Literature Contest organised by  
 the Cyprus Association of Children’s and Young   
 Adults’ Books.
• The closing ceremony of the 17th Pancyprian 
 Modern Theatre and Ancient Drama School   
 Competition in honour of the poet Panayiotis   
 Serghis for which the Foundation awards prizes.
• Presentation of the Foundation's new publication  
 entitled “Aromatic and Herbal Plants of Cyprus.   
 From antiquity to the present day" by Giorgos   
 Hadjikyriakou.
• Photographic exhibition “The photographer Voula  
 Papaioannou 1898-1990: from the Photographic   
 Archives of the Benaki Museum”. 
• A musical evening dedicated to Nikos Gatsos   
 featuring the singer Vasilis Lekkas, accompanied by  
 the Diastasis Choir. All funds raised were donated to  
 the victims of the fires in Greece.
• A symposium entitled “The Charter of Rigas Fereos  
 (1797-2007), 210 years from its publication”. 
• Presentation of the book “Coinage of Cyprus   
 from the Collection of the Bank of Cyprus Cultural  
 Foundation”.

Museum of the History of Cypriot Coinage
In 1995, the Museum of the History of Cypriot Coinage 
was opened at the Bank’s head office in Nicosia. The 
display of more than 370 coins from nine historical 
periods provides an insight into the development of 
Cypriot coinage starting from the first coins minted in 
the 6th century BC right up to the modern age. In the 
2007-2008 school year, the educational programme 
"From the first coins to the euro" aimed at fifth and 
sixth year primary school children continued for a 
second year. A total of some 5.000 children took part in 
the educational programme in 2007.

Social responsibility is fostered and practiced by Bank 
of Cyprus through activities that go beyond the strictly 
financial. Social awareness is expressed through 
actions that put people first. People and respect for 
human dignity are watchwords for Bank of Cyprus. 
Human values rank alongside efficient management of 
financial resources and the upgrading of technology as 
the guide for every transaction or communication with 
customers, shareholders and society as a whole. 

HEALTH
Bank of Cyprus Oncology Centre 
The Bank of Cyprus Oncology Centre founded in 
cooperation with the Republic of Cyprus started 
offering services in 1998. To date, Bank of Cyprus has 
contributed around C£14 million (€24 million) to build, 
equip, upgrade and run the Centre. In order to meet 
the challenges ahead, the Centre is planning to expand 
and upgrade its diagnostic and treatment facilities. 
The cost of this project, expected to total C£10 million 
(€17 million), will be met by the Bank in its entirety. 
In 2007, the Centre celebrated its 10th anniversary, 
having treated almost 15.000 people. Each month 
around 140 new patients on average contact the Centre 
and every day between 350 and 400 patients use its 
various facilities. The Centre covers all nationwide 
radiotherapy requirements.

Chain of Life 
For the ninth year running, the Group’s employees in 
Cyprus organised a highly successful series of "Chain 
of Life" events. The aim of these events is to raise both 
public awareness and funds in aid of the Cyprus Anti-
Cancer Society.

EDUCATION 
Oikade
The Group’s Oikade education programme for Greek-
speaking children throughout the world has now been 
running for eight years. The aim of the programme, in 
which over 100 schools participate, is to strengthen 
the cultural and linguistic identity of Greek-speaking 
children. 

Awards
The Bank’s award for the best graduating student, 
which awards a monetary prize to outstanding students 
from all the high schools in Cyprus has become 
an ordinance. In 2008, it is further intended to give 
awards to outstanding students at the University of 
Cyprus (including MBA students) and private Cypriot 
universities, who are majoring in finance.

Other Activities 
•  The 8th vocational fair “Career” 2007, aimed at   
 providing young people with information on career  
 opportunities and prospects.
•  Continued sponsorship of the Chair of Finance at the  
 University of Cyprus.
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 adjust the length of time during which lighting   
 systems and other machinery operate.
•  Gradual replacement of older air-conditioning 
 units with ones using gases that are friendly to the  
 environment.
•  Replacement of all fire protection devices   
 with apparatus using gases that are friendly to the  
 environment.
•  Extensive use of energy-saving light bulbs.
•  A total ban on smoking in the workplace for   
 customers and employees.
•  Installation of double doors at most branches 
 to save energy.
•  Replacement of almost all window panes on the   
 Bank premises with double glazing or laminated  
 glass to reduce energy loss  
•  Systematic cleaning and implementation of health  
 and safety plans in the workplace in accordance with  
 the law.
•  Recycling of old photocopiers, computers and   
 printers.

SPONSORSHIP
For Bank of Cyprus it is a duty to show concern for 
each part of the society in which it operates, and 
actively reciprocate in return for the trust placed in 
it by the public for more than a century. With that 
in mind, Bank of Cyprus in Cyprus, Greece, the UK 
and Australia provides financial support to many 
organisations, associations and public benefit bodies to 
promote their work in the fields of Health, Education, 
Culture, Sports and the Environment.

Museum of the George and Nefeli Giabra-Pierides 
Collection (Clio and Solonas Triantafyllides Bequest).
The bequest was made in 1999 and the Museum was 
officially opened in 2002 at the Foundation's premises 
in Nicosia. The collection, which includes some 600 
objects, covers a wide range of Cypriot archaeological 
finds from the early bronze age (2500 BC) to the 
medieval period (16th century). A large number of local 
and foreign visitors visit the Museum. 

Bank of Cyprus Historical Archive 
The Bank of Cyprus Historical Archive was founded in 
September 2001 to identify, document and preserve 
archive material relating to the historical development 
of the Bank and the history of the Cyprus economy and 
to facilitate the use of this material for research and 
academic study. The importance the Bank attaches 
to the preservation of its archives is reflected by its 
membership in the European Association for Banking 
History, an association, whose membership includes 
over 70 European banks. In 2007, the Bank's Historical 
Archive accepted invitations from other organisations 
to provide consultancy services on the setting up 
and running of their own historical archives. The 
Archive’s own research programme is also vital. Its 
aim is to identify archival resources outside the Bank 
and information which will complement and improve 
the understanding of the history of the Group and its 
leading figures.

SPORTS 
Cyprus Olympic Committee 
From 2007, Bank of Cyprus is the Major Sponsor of 
the Cyprus Olympic Committee. The Bank is proud to 
contribute to the support provided to Cyprus’ athletes 
preparing for the Beijing 2008 Olympic Games and 
to the fostering of Olympic ideals. Working together 
with the Cyprus Olympic Committee, Bank of Cyprus 
arranged for photographs to be taken of twelve Cypriot 
athletes who are members of the Pre-Olympic and 
Olympic Team. These exceptional photographs were 
used in the Bank of Cyprus Group calendar for 2008.

ENVIRONMENT
The environment determines the quality of life of all 
citizens and protecting the environment is a duty for all 
of us. For Bank of Cyprus, respect for the environment 
is a matter of daily routine and lifestyle aiming at 
the sustainable development of society as a whole. 
Over recent years Bank of Cyprus has taken in-house 
measures to highlight the Group’s environmental 
awareness. The actions include:
•  Preventative maintenance of machinery used in the  
 Group’s buildings.
•  Inclusion of energy performance studies from   
 July 2007 in all designs for the construction of new  
 buildings in accordance with the law.
•  Installation of time switches or light cells to reduce/ 
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Chairman Mr. Eleftherios P. Ioannou, the independent 
non- executive Vice-Chairman Mr. Andreas Artemis, 
another 13 non-executive Directors and three executive 
Directors. Excluding the Chairman, seven Directors 
are considered independent according to the Director 
independence criteria that have been adopted by the 
Group. There is a clear division between the roles of 
the Chairman and the Group Chief Executive Officer. 

On 10 May 2007 Mr. Dimitris Ioannou resigned from 
the Board of Directors and Mr. Costas Hadjipapas was 
appointed in his place.  

Senior Independent Director 
The Board of Directors has appointed the Vice-
Chairman, Mr. Andreas Artemis, as Senior Independent 
Director. The Senior Independent Director is available 
to shareholders if they have concerns that have 
not been resolved through normal communication 
channels. 

Meetings of the Board of Directors  
The Board of Directors is convened at least once 
every month and has a formal schedule of matters for 
consideration. During 2007, 28 Board meetings were 
held, which included a meeting for the discussion of 
the Group’s strategic plans. 

All Directors have access to the advice and services 
of the Company Secretary. Independent professional 
advice is also available to the Directors in accordance 
with the internal policy that was formulated and 
approved by the Board of Directors.

Rotation of Directors
The rules regarding the appointment and rotation of 
the members of the Board of Directors are defined in 
the Articles of Association of the Bank as follows: 
• The number of Directors shall not be less than ten  
 nor more than eighteen.
• At the first and every subsequent Annual General  
 Meeting of the Company one-third of the Directors  
 for the time being, or if their number is not three or  
 a multiple of three, then the nearest number to one- 
 third, shall retire from office.  
• The Directors to retire in every year shall be   
 those who have been longest in office since their   
 last election, but as between persons who became  
 Directors on the same day those to retire shall   
 unless they otherwise agree among themselves be  
 determined by lot.
• A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election.
• No person other than a Director retiring at the   
 meeting shall unless recommended by the Directors  
 be eligible for election to the office of Director at any  
 general meeting unless not less than six nor more  
 than twenty-one days before the date appointed for  
 the meeting there shall be left at the registered   

Part A
The Group recognises the importance of implementing 
sound corporate governance policies, practices and 
procedures. As a company listed on the Cyprus Stock 
Exchange (CSE), Bank of Cyprus Public Company Ltd 
has adopted the CSE’s Corporate Governance Code and 
applies its principles. 

Part B
In January 2007 the CSE issued a revised Code of 
Corporate Governance. The Group complies with all 
the provisions of the revised Code except provision 
A.2.3. due to the introduction of a new criterion in the 
definition of independent Directors. According to this 
criterion a Director with tenure exceeding nine years is 
not considered independent. Provision A.2.3 requires 
that at least 50% of the members of the Board of 
Directors, excluding the Chairman, are independent 
non executive Directors. The CSE has granted the 
Company an extension until December 2009 to comply 
with this provision. 

Application of the provisions of law L 3016/2002 
of the Hellenic Republic
In addition, as a company listed on the Athens 
Exchange, Bank of Cyprus Public Company Ltd follows 
the provisions of corporate governance of listed 
companies as laid out in law L3016/2002 of the Hellenic 
Republic.

Director Independence Criteria
The Group has adopted the revised Director 
independence criteria of the CSE’s Corporate 
Governance Code and of the relevant Directive of 
the Central Bank of Cyprus. The criteria concern the 
working, business and shareholding relationship of 
the Directors with the Group, the family and business 
relationships between Directors, as well as their years 
of service on the Board.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The role of the Board of Directors
The primary role of the Board of Directors is to provide 
entrepreneurial leadership of the Group within a 
framework of prudent and effective controls, which 
enables risk to be assessed and managed. The Board 
of Directors sets the Group’s strategic objectives, 
ensures that the necessary financial and human 
resources are in place for the Group to meet its 
objectives and reviews management performance. The 
Board of Directors also sets the Group’s values and 
standards and ensures that its obligations towards its 
shareholders and other stakeholders are understood 
and met.

Composition of the Board of Directors
At the date of this report the Board of Directors 
comprises 18 members, specifically the non-executive 



42
BANK OF CYPRUS GROUP

  office of the Company notice in writing, signed   
  by a member duly qualified to attend and vote   
  at the meeting for which such notice is given, of   
  his intention to propose such person for election,  
  and also notice in writing signed by that person   
  of his willingness to be elected.
•  The Directors shall have power at any time, and from  
 time to time, to appoint any person to be a Director,  
 either to fill a casual vacancy or as an  addition to  
 the existing Directors, but so that the total number  
 of Directors shall not at any time exceed the 
 number fixed in accordance with these regulations.  
 Any Director so appointed shall hold office only until  
 the next following Annual General Meeting, and shall  
 then be eligible for re-election, but shall not be   
 taken into account in determining the Directors who  
 are to retire by rotation at such meeting.

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of 
Association, Messrs Eleftherios P. Ioannou, Vassilis G. 
Rologis, Christakis G. Christofides, Anna Diogenous, 
George M. Georgiades and Manthos Mavrommatis 
retire. The Chairman, Mr. Eleftherios P. Ioannou has 
reached 75 years of age and retires in accordance with 
the Company’s Articles of Association. The remaining 
members of the Board, being eligible, offer themselves 
for re-election. 

MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The curriculum vitae of the members of the Board of 
Directors including those that are retiring and offer 
themselves for re-election are presented below. 

Non-executive Directors   
Eleftherios P. Ioannou (Chairman)
He was born in 1933. In 1962 he obtained the 
qualification of the Chartered Institute of Bankers 
of London (ACIB). He has comprehensive banking 
experience having served in senior managerial 
positions in commercial banks and the Central  Bank of 
Cyprus. He commenced his commercial banking career 
in 1951 at Bank of Cyprus where he served in a number 
of positions. In 1963 with the establishment of the 
Central Bank he was appointed Chief Senior Manager 
responsible for the Domestic Banking Division and 
subsequently for the International Operations Division. 
He has played a major role in the development and 
promotion of offshore companies in Cyprus. He was 
appointed by the Government as the first Chairman 
of the Permanent Consultative Committee for foreign 
investments and as Chairman of the Permanent 
Consultative Committee for offshore companies, 
positions that he held until 1990. He was the Chairman 
of the newly established Housing Finance Corporation. 
From 1990 until May 2000 he held the position of 
Managing Director of Alpha Bank Ltd, formerly 
Lombard NatWest Bank Ltd. He was the Chairman 
and Managing Director of Alpha Bank Romania from 
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2000 to 2004. On 15 December 2005 he was appointed 
to the Board of Directors of Bank of Cyprus and on 7 
September 2006 was elected Chairman.

Andreas Artemis 
(Vice-Chairman & Senior Independent Director)
He was born in 1954. He studied Civil Engineering 
at the Queen Mary and Imperial Colleges of London 
University and holds a B.Sc. (Engineering) and a 
M.Sc. degree. He is Chairman of Commercial General 
Insurance and member of the Board of Directors of a 
number of other companies. He is also a member of 
the Board of Directors of the Cyprus Employers and 
Industrialists Federation and of the Council of the 
Cyprus Red Cross Society. He has served for a number 
of years on the Board of Directors of the Cyprus 
Telecommunications Authority and since 1996 he is the 
Honorary Consul General of South Africa in Cyprus.  He 
is a member of the Board of Directors of the Bank of 
Cyprus Group since March 2000 and was elected Vice-
Chairman in May 2005. 

Christos S. Pantzaris
He was born in 1934. He holds a B.Sc. Honours degree 
in Engineering from the University of Manchester. 
He has been a member of the Board of Directors of 
Bank of Cyprus since 1974 and Vice- Chairman from 
1988 to May 2004. He was Chief Executive of Bank of 
Cyprus from 1995 until the end of 2004 when he retired 
from his executive duties at the Group. Before his 
appointment as Chief Executive of Bank of Cyprus, he 
was actively involved in family businesses that operated 
in the commercial and industrial sectors. He was 
Chairman of the Cyprus Bankers’ Association. He also 
served as Chairman of the Cyprus Electricity Authority 
(1974-1979 and 1989-1993), the Cyprus Employers and 
Industrialists Federation (1969-1972), the Cyprus Bank 
Employers Association and as a member of the Council 
of the University of Cyprus.

Vassilis G. Rologis
He was born in 1942. He studied Law and Business 
Administration, with specialisation in Marketing, in the 
United Kingdom. He has worked in the United Kingdom 
and in Greece. He was Vice-Chairman of the Cyprus 
Chamber of Commerce and Industry during the period 
1990-1996 and Chairman from 1996 until December 
2005. From 1980 to 1994 he was a member of the 
Board of Directors of General Insurance of Cyprus and 
from 1994 until 2005 he was Chairman of the same 
company. He served as Chairman of Cyprus Airways 
and Eurocypria Airlines during the period 1993-1997. 
During 2001-2002, he served as Chairman of the 
Association of Balkan Chambers. He is a member 
of the Board of Directors of the Eurochambers, 
based in Brussels. He is a member of the Finance 
Advisory Committee, the Commerce and Industry 
Advisory Committee and the Cyprus delegation at the 
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in 1962. During the period 1963-1967, he worked as an 
Audit Manager for the international audit firm Ernst 
& Young in Cyprus. In 1967 he was appointed Chief 
Accountant of Bank of Cyprus and in 1974 he became 
General Manager of Bank of Cyprus (Holdings) which, 
until August 1999, was the holding company of the 
Group. In 1993 he assumed the role of Group Chief 
General Manager, a position that he held until the end 
of 2004 when he retired from executive duties. He is 
Chairman of the Board of Directors of JCC Payment 
Systems, the Cyprus Anticancer Society and the 
Cyprus branch of the UK Institute of Directors. He 
served as Chairman of the Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants of Cyprus and as a board member of the 
Cyprus Institute of Genetics and Neurology and of the  
Cyprus Electricity Authority for a number of years.

Andreas Pittas (Independent)
He was born in 1943. He obtained his Dr.Med in 
Medicine from the Karl-Franz Graz University 
in Austria. He followed post-graduate studies in 
Pharmacology and Pharmaceutical Medicine. 
During his business career, he studied Business 
Administration and Marketing. He served as 
Chairman of the Cyprus Employers and Industrialists 
Federation and was re-elected as Chairman in 2006. 
He is a member of the Board of Directors of various 
companies and organisations in Cyprus as well as 
organisations and scientific committees abroad. He is a 
businessman.

George M. Georgiades (Independent)
He was born in 1946. He is a business consultant for 
the hotels and tourism sector. He is a graduate of the 
Lausanne University in Switzerland and holds a degree 
in Economics and Business Administration. He also 
studied hotel management at the Centre International 
de Glion in Switzerland and attended an advanced 
hotel management course at Cornell University in 
the USA. He is Chairman of the Board of the Cyprus 
International Institute for the Environment and Public 
Health in Association with the Harvard School of 
Public Health and Chairman of the Board of Directors 
of General Insurance of Cyprus. He was Chairman 
of the Board of Directors of the Electricity Authority 
of Cyprus (1999-2005) and the Board of the Cyprus 
Broadcasting Corporation (1994-1996). He is Vice-
Chairman of the Cyprus Association of Directors and 
a member of the Board of Directors of various public 
and other companies in Cyprus. He is also a member 
of the Board of the Cyprus Chamber of Commerce and 
Industry and the Limassol Chamber of Commerce and 
Industry. He is Honorary Chairman of the Cyprus Hotel 
Managers Association.

Anna Diogenous (Independent)
She was born in 1947. She holds a B.Sc. (Econ.) degree 
from the London School of Economics. She is Executive 

International Labour Organisation. Since May 2004, 
following his election as Vice-Chairman of the Board 
of Directors of the Bank, he resigned from the Board 
of Directors of various public and private companies 
of which he was a member. On 18 May 2005 he was 
elected Chairman of the Board of Directors of the 
Bank and on 7 September 2006 he resigned from 
the Chairmanship but he remains a member of the 
Board of Directors. In February 2007 he was elected 
Chairman of the International Chamber of Commerce 
Cyprus (ICC).

Costas Z. Severis
He was born in 1949. He studied Economics (MA 
Honours) at the University of Cambridge. He is 
Honorary Consul of Finland in Cyprus since 1989. His 
main business activities are paper import, insurance 
and real estate development. He is also a member 
of the Board of Directors of the Cyprus Employers 
and Industrialists Federation and of other public 
companies.

Theodoros Aristodemou
He was born in 1951. He graduated from the 
Economics Science department of the University of 
Athens. He is the founder, Managing Director and 
Chairman of Aristo Developers Plc Group of companies 
with activities in Cyprus and overseas. He is member of 
the Board of Directors of several companies. He served 
as Chairman of the Paphos Chamber of Commerce 
and Industry, Chairman of other organisations, 
member of the Tourism Advisory Committee, and as 
a member of the Board of Directors of the Cyprus 
Telecommunications Authority and of Cyprus Airways. 
He is the Vice-Chairman of the Cyprus Chamber of 
Commerce and Industry. Since 2005 he is a member 
of the Board of Directors of the Cyprus International 
Institute for the Environment and Public Health in 
association with the Harvard School of Public Health. 
Since 1991 he is a member of the Board of Directors of 
Bank of Cyprus. In December 2005, he was appointed 
Chairman of the Divisional Board of Bank of Cyprus 
Greece, by the Board of Directors.

Christakis G. Christofides
He was born in 1948. He holds a B.Sc. Hons degree in 
Chemical Engineering from Birmingham University 
and an MBA from City University. He is a Chartered 
Engineer and a member of the Institution of Chemical 
Engineers in the United Kingdom. He is Honorary 
Consul - General of Austria in Cyprus. He is a 
businessman, supplying raw materials to industries in 
Cyprus and Greece.

Evdokimos Xenophontos
He was born in 1938. He studied in London on a 
scholarship from the Republic of Cyprus and obtained 
the professional qualification of Chartered Accountant 
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and also an MBA from the world-renowned Business 
School of the University of Chicago. He is the General 
Manager of the family business and a member of 
the Board of other private companies. He served as 
Chairman of the Cyprus Youth Organisation and as 
a member of the Board of the Cyprus State Fairs 
Authority. He served as Chairman of the Board of the 
Nicosia Chamber of Commerce and Industry and as 
a member of the Executive Committee of the Cyprus 
Chamber of Commerce and Industry. He was elected 
Chairman of the Cyprus Chamber of Commerce 
and Industry in 2005. He is the Honorary-Consul 
of Mexico in Cyprus. After the accession of Cyprus 
to the European Union he represented the Cyprus 
Chamber of Commerce and Industry for two years in 
the European Economic and Social Committee (EESC) 
in Brussels, which is the institutional body at European 
level for social partners. He represented Cyprus in the 
EESC in relation to the Lisbon Strategy for competition 
and business related issues. He specialises in issues 
concerning the Economic and Monetary Union (EMU) 
of the European Union, and the Euro in particular. He 
is a member of the Board of the Cyprus International 
Institute of Management and of the Board of Trustees 
of the Research and Educational Institute of Cyprus.

Costas Hadjipapas
He was born in 1958. He holds a degree (BSc) in 
Business Administration and Economics from the 
Graduate School of Industrial Studies Salonica. In 
1981, he joined the Bank of Cyprus Group. He has 
worked in various departments and has comprehensive 
knowledge of banking operations. He has held a 
number of positions and is currently part of the Bank’s 
management in Limassol. He is a member of the Board 
of Directors of the Cyprus Banking Employees Union.

Executive Directors
The three executive members of the Board of Directors 
comprise the Group’s Executive Management.

Andreas Eliades (Group Chief Executive Officer)
He was born in 1955. He holds a degree in Economics 
from the Athens School of Economics and Commercial 
Sciences and an M.Sc. in Economics with distinction 
from the London School of Economics. He joined Bank 
of Cyprus in 1980. In 1991, upon the establishment 
of Bank of Cyprus Greece, he was appointed Country 
Manager. In 1998 he became Group General Manager 
of Bank of Cyprus Greece, having responsibility of the 
Group’s growth in Greece. On 1 January 2005, he was 
appointed Group Chief Executive Officer. As of June 
2006 he is also a member of the Bank of Cyprus Group 
Board of Directors.

Chairperson of P.M. Tseriotis Ltd (the holding company 
of the Tseriotis Group of Companies). She is a member 
of the Board of Directors of various companies. She 
served as a Board member of the Junior School in 
Nicosia.

Andreas J. Jacovides (Independent)
He was born in Nicosia on 19 December 1936. He 
studied Law at the University of Cambridge (M.A., LL.B, 
LL.M with Double First Class Honours), the Inns of 
Court (Barrister-at-Law) and the Harvard Law School 
(Henry Fellow). He served for 14 years as Ambassador 
of Cyprus to the USA (including the World Bank and the 
International Monetary Fund / Signatory of the MIGA 
Convention), to Germany and the United Nations, and 
was accredited to a number of other countries (Canada, 
Brazil, Ecuador, Austria, Denmark) and organisations 
(IAEA, UNIDO, ICAO, OAS, etc), as well as Permanent 
Secretary of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs. He also 
served for 15 years as elected member of the UN 
International Law Commission, Commissioner of the 
UN Compensation Commission and Arbitrator/Senior 
Judge of the Claims Resolution Tribunal for Dormant 
Swiss Accounts, as a member of the Committee for 
the Protection of Minorities of the Council of Europe 
and of various bodies of the Commonwealth. He is 
currently an international lawyer and consultant, 
Patron of the American Society of International Law 
and an Arbitrator with the ICSID of the World Bank 
and other international bodies (Law of the Sea, 
OSCE). He is a member of the Board of Directors of 
other Cypriot and foreign organisations (including 
the A.G. Leventis Foundation and the Institute for the 
Study of Diplomacy, Georgetown University). He has 
written many studies on scientific subjects and he 
is an honorary citizen of many American cities and 
honorary doctor of American Universities. He has been 
decorated by the governments of Greece and Austria 
and he is an Honorary Fellow of St. John’s College, 
Cambridge.

Christos Mouskis (Independent)
He was born in Limassol in 1964. He studied Business 
Administration and Marketing in the USA. Following 
his return to Cyprus he undertook the expansion of the 
Muskita Group of Companies into the tourist sector. 
He is Executive Chairman of Muskita Holdings, which 
not only operates in the hotel sector but also in the 
aluminium industry, with units in both Cyprus and the 
UK and worldwide exports. The Group also operates 
in the property development industry. He is an active 
member of professional associations and organisations 
and also a member of the Board of Directors of other 
public and private companies.

Manthos Mavrommatis (Independent)
He was born in Nicosia in 1957. He holds a B.Sc. 
(Econ.) degree from the London School of Economics, 
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PricewaterhouseCoopers) at their London, Rotterdam 
and Athens offices. In 1980 he joined Bank of Cyprus 
and served as manager at various posts. In 1993, he 
was promoted to Group General Manager Support 
Services, a position which he held until October 
2003. After a year in the position of Group General 
Manager Credit Risk he became Group General 
Manager Information and Operations. In addition to 
these duties, he spent six months in Greece, from 
September 2007, as General Manager of Bank of 
Cyprus Greece. As of March 2008 he assumes the post 
of Group General Manager International Banking and 
Operations, responsible for the banking operations of 
the Group in Romania, Russia, Ukraine and Australia, 
as well as Group Operations, Information Technology, 
Organisation and Methods and Human Resources.

Vassos Shiarly 
(Group General Manager Domestic Banking)
He was born in 1948. In 1966 he graduated from high 
school in London. He studied accounting and worked 
for 19 years in various accounting firms in London. 
His last employment before his return to Cyprus in 
1985 was with Coopers & Lybrand, where he held 
the position of Senior Manager. In 1985, he joined the 
Bank of Cyprus Group, and later took over the position 
of Senior Manager of the Customer Management 
Services Unit. During the period 1998-2003 he held the 
position of Group General Manager Branch Banking. 
Since November 2003 he holds the position of Group 
General Manager Domestic Banking. 

Christis Hadjimitsis 
(Group General Manager Finance and Strategy)
He was born in 1957. In 1976 he graduated from the 
English School in Nicosia. He studied economics at the 
London School of Economics and obtained his degree 
with distinction. He worked for the accounting firm 
Peat Marwick, Mitchell & Co London and in 1985 he 
returned to Cyprus having obtained the title Chartered 
Accountant, with a specialisation in banking and 
financial services. From 1985 until 1988 he worked 
for Peat Marwick, Mitchell & Co in Cyprus. In 1988 
he was recruited by the Bank of Cyprus Group and 
in 1992 he was appointed Financial Controller of the 
Bank. From 1995 until 2004 he held the position of 
Group Financial Controller. On 1st January 2005 he 
was appointed Group General Manager Finance with 
responsibility, among others, for the Group Finance 
and Group Strategic Planning Divisions. He is a 
member of the Board of Directors of the Cyprus Public 
Companies Association since 1997 and a member of 
the Advisory Committee of the Cyprus Stock Exchange 
for the FTSE/CySE20. On 7 February 2008 his position 
was renamed to Group General Manager Finance and 
Strategy with the additional responsibility for Mergers 
and Acquisitions.

Charilaos G. Stavrakis (Chief Executive Officer Cyprus 
and Deputy Group Chief Executive Officer)
He was born in 1956. He studied Economics at the 
University of Cambridge from where he graduated 
in 1979 with Double-First Class Honours. He holds 
an MBA from Harvard University, Graduate School 
of Business Administration. In 1988, he became a 
member of the Chartered Institute of Bankers (ACIB). 
He has over 25 years experience in the banking sector. 
In 1989 he undertook a two-month consulting position 
in the World Bank. At Bank of Cyprus he has held 
various positions including the position of Head of 
Strategic Planning and Business Development and 
Senior Manager of Treasury and International Services. 
In the period 1998 to 2004 he served as Group General 
Manager International Banking. As of June 2003 he 
was also General Manager of the Cyprus Investment 
and Securities Corporation (CISCO). He has served as 
a member of the Board of Bank of Cyprus Australia, 
Bank of Cyprus (Channel Islands), Kyprou AEDAK, 
Bank of Cyprus Mutual Funds and BOC Ventures. On 
1 January 2005 he was appointed Chief Executive 
Officer Cyprus and Deputy Group Chief Executive 
Officer. In June 2005 he was appointed Chairman of 
the Board of Directors of the Electricity Authority of 
Cyprus. In August 2005 he was elected Chairman of the 
Board of Directors of the Cyprus Bankers Employers’ 
Association and he was re-elected in June 2006. In 
November 2006 he was appointed member of the 
Board of Directors of the Bank of Cyprus Group.

Yiannis Kypri (Group Chief General Manager)
He was born in 1951. He studied Economics at the 
London School of Economics on a scholarship and 
obtained his degree with distinction in 1974. In 1978, 
he returned to Cyprus holding the professional 
qualification of Chartered Accountant and worked 
for two years at the international audit firm Ernst & 
Young. In 1980, he joined the Bank of Cyprus Group 
and in 1982, he was appointed Chief Accountant of 
the Bank. From 1993 until 2004 he held the position 
of Group General Manager Finance. On 1st January 
2005 he was appointed Group Chief General Manager. 
He was a founding member and served as Chairman 
of the Cyprus Public Companies Association for six 
years. He is the Chairman of the Bank of Cyprus 
Cultural Foundation and a Trustee of the Bank of 
Cyprus Oncology Centre. On 9 November 2006 he was 
appointed member of the Board of Directors of the 
Bank of Cyprus Group.

GROUP GENERAL MANAGERS
Antonis Jacouris (Group General Manager International 
Business and Operations)
He was born in 1947. In 1973 he obtained the 
professional qualification of Chartered Accountant 
(FCA). During the period 1973-1980 he worked with 
the international audit firm Coopers & Lybrand (now 
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Remuneration Committee
As at the date of approval of this report by the Board 
of Directors the majority of the members of the 
Remuneration Committee were independent Directors:
• Andreas Pittas, Chairman (independent)
• Christakis G. Christofides
• Andreas J. Jacovides (independent)
• Manthos Mavrommatis (independent)

The Remuneration Committee held four meetings 
during 2007. The Committee considers and makes 
recommendations to the Board on matters relating 
to the remuneration of Executive Directors and 
Senior Executive Management, as well as the overall 
Group remuneration policy. Shareholders at the 
Annual General Meeting approve the remuneration of 
Directors in their capacity as members of the Board 
based on the Recommendations of the Remuneration 
Committee.

Nominations and Corporate Governance Committee
As at the date of approval of this report by the Board 
of Directors the members of the Nominations and 
Corporate Governance Committee were:
• George M. Georgiades, Chairman (independent)
• Christos S. Pantzaris
• Theodoros Aristodemou
• Evdokimos Xenophontos
• Andreas Artemis (independent)
• Christos Mouskis (independent)

During 2007, five meetings of the Nominations and 
Corporate Governance Committee were held. The 
Committee makes recommendations to the Board for 
the appointment of new Directors in order to fill vacant 
positions on the Board as well as for the re-election 
of retiring Board members, taking into consideration 
the relevant factors and criteria. The Committee is 
responsible for the formulation of the succession 
plans of the Board. Additionally the Committee has 
general responsibility for the application of corporate 
governance principles by the Group.

Risk Committee
As at the date of approval of this report by the Board of 
Directors the members of the Risk Committee were:
•  Evdokimos Xenophontos, Chairman
•  Vassilis G. Rologis
•  Christakis G. Christofides
•  Anna Diogenous (independent)
•  Eleftherios P. Ioannou, Chairman of the Board of  
 Directors
•  Andreas Eliades, Group Chief Executive Officer

During 2007, 10 meetings of the Risk Committee were 
held, of which six were jointly held with the Audit 
Committee. The Committee examines, inter-alia, the 
Group’s risk management policies and systems and 

Nicolas Karydas 
(Group General Manager Risk Management)
He was born in 1955. He has a degree in Business 
Administration from the Athens Graduate School of 
Economics and Business Science and an M.Soc.Sc. in 
Accounting from the University of Birmingham. From 
1980 to 1982 he worked at the Central Bank of Cyprus. 
During the period 1982 to 1986 he worked for Deloitte 
Haskins & Sells in London and in 1985 he obtained the 
professional qualification of Chartered Accountant. 
From 1986 until 2004 he worked at the Central 
Bank of Cyprus where he held various positions 
including Manager of the Domestic Bank Supervision 
Department and Internal Auditor of the Central Bank. 
He joined the Bank of Cyprus Group in November 2004 
and took up the position of Group General Manager 
Risk Management.

BOARD COMMITTEES
Specific responsibilities have been delegated to 
Committees of the Board.

Audit Committee
As at the date of approval of this report by the Board 
of Directors the majority of the members of the Audit 
Committee were independent Directors:
• Anna Diogenous, Chairperson (independent)
• Christos S. Pantzaris
• Costas Z. Severis
• Andreas J. Jacovides (independent)
• Manthos Mavrommatis (independent)

The Audit Committee held 22 meetings during 2007 of 
which six were jointly held with the Risk Committee. 
The Audit Committee reviews, inter-alia, the Group’s 
financial statements, reports prepared by Group 
Internal Audit and reports on the Group’s system of 
internal controls and its effectiveness. 

The Audit Committee confirms that it is satisfied 
with the independence of Group Internal Audit, 
which reports directly to the Board of Directors 
through the Audit Committee. Group Internal Audit is 
organisationally independent of units with executive 
functions and is not subordinated to any other unit of 
the Bank. 

The Audit Committee also recommends the 
appointment or retirement and the remuneration of 
the Company’s external auditors. The objectivity and 
independence of the external auditors is safeguarded 
through monitoring, by the Audit Committee, of their 
relationship with the Group, including the monitoring 
of the balance between audit and auxiliary non-audit 
services.
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Remuneration of non-executive Directors 
The remuneration of the non-executive Directors 
is related to the responsibilities and time devoted 
for Board meetings and decision-making for the 
governance of the Bank, and for their participation 
in the Committees of the Board of Directors and 
the Boards of Group subsidiary companies. The 
remuneration of Directors in their capacity as 
members of the Board of Directors and Committees of 
the Board of Directors is approved by the Shareholders 
at a General Meeting.

LOANS TO DIRECTORS 
AND OTHER TRANSACTIONS
Details of loans to Directors and other transactions 
with the Group are set out in Note 43 of the Group 
Financial Statements.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Going concern 
The Board of Directors confirms that it is satisfied 
that the Group has adequate resources to continue 
in business as a going concern for the next twelve 
months.

System of Internal Control
The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the 
Bank’s management maintains an effective system 
of internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness. 
Such a system is designed to manage and minimise 
risk, not necessarily to eliminate it, and can only 
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance 
against material misstatement or loss. 

The Directors review the effectiveness of the system 
of internal controls annually, including the procedures 
for verification of the correctness, completeness and 
validity of the information provided to investors. 

Throughout 2007, and to date, the Group has operated 
an effective system of internal control, which includes 
Group Internal Audit, financial and operating controls 
as well as compliance systems for the management 
of risks that could jeopardise the achievement of the 
Bank’s objectives. 

The Board of Directors confirms that it is not aware 
of any violation of the Cyprus Securities and Stock 
Exchange Laws and Regulations.

Corporate Governance Compliance Officer
The Board of Directors has appointed the Group Chief 
General Manager, Mr. Yiannis Kypri, as Corporate 
Governance Compliance Officer.

their effectiveness, and makes recommendations to 
the Board of Directors regarding these matters. The 
Risk Committee together with the Audit Committee 
ensure that there is a spherical perception and 
management of risks. 

REPORT ON DIRECTOR REMUNERATION
Details on Director remuneration and share options 
are provided in the Directors’ Report and Note 43 of the 
Group Financial Statements.

Remuneration of Group Executive Management
The Board of Directors sets the remuneration 
of Group Executive Management, following the 
recommendations of the Remuneration Committee. 
The reward package comprises salary, adjusted on 
an annual basis taking into account the prevailing 
economic and labour market conditions, and a bonus, 
the level of which depends on Group’s performance 
regarding profitability and the achievement of the 
Group’s objectives. 

The members of the Group Executive Management 
team participate in the Group’s Staff Retirement 
Benefit Schemes. The terms applicable to the 
members of the Group Executive Management team 
are the same as those that apply to the rest of the 
Group’s employees. The main characteristics of 
the basic retirement benefit scheme for Cyprus are 
presented in Note 9 of the Group Financial Statements.

Share options were granted to the members of the 
Group Executive Management team in the context 
of the Group’s Share Options 2006/2007 scheme 
granted to permanent employees of the Group. The 
Options were issued under the scope of the special 
resolution, approved at the Extraordinary Meeting of 
the shareholders, on 19 April 2000. The Options were 
granted in accordance with provision B.2.5 of the 
Corporate Governance Code, which requires that share 
options are not granted to Executive Directors at a 
price lower than the average closing price of the last 30 
trading days before the options were granted. 

All other benefits provided to the members of the 
Group Executive management team are provided on 
the same terms as those that apply to the rest of the 
Group’s employees. 

The service contracts of Group Executive Managers 
have a five-year duration and on their expiry are 
submitted to the Nominations Committee and 
subsequently to the Board of Directors for renewal. The 
service contracts include a clause for compensation 
in the event of a non-justified early termination. The 
compensation payable is the greater of either two 
annual salaries or the balance of the salaries payable 
until the expiry of the contract.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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SHAREHOLDER RELATIONS
All shareholders of Bank of Cyprus are treated on an 
equal basis. Shareholders are promptly and accurately 
informed of any material changes regarding the Group, 
including its financial condition, return, ownership and 
governance. 

The Board of Directors provides to holders of at least 
5% of the Company’s share capital the opportunity 
to request the inclusion of items on the agenda of 
General Meetings. The Board of Directors is available 
at the Annual General Meeting to answer shareholders’ 
questions. Any change or addition to the Articles of 
Association of the Bank is only valid if approved by 
special resolution at a meeting of the shareholders. 
The Board of Directors may issue share capital if there 
is sufficient authorised share capital and as long as the 
new shares to be issued are offered first to the existing 
shareholders, pro-rata to their percentage holding. 
In the event that a share capital increase requires an 
increase in the authorised share capital or if the new 
shares will not be offered to existing shareholders, the 
approval of the shareholders in General Meeting must 
be obtained. 

The Board of Directors has appointed Ms. Marianna 
Pantelidou as Investor Relations Officer, responsible 
for the communication between shareholders and the 
Bank. Information concerning the Bank is provided 
to shareholders, prospective investors, brokers and 
analysts in a prompt and unbiased manner, free of 
charge. 

The Senior Independent Director Mr. Andreas Artemis 
is available to shareholders if they have concerns 
that have not been resolved through the normal 
communication channels.

Board of Directors
Bank of Cyprus Public Company Ltd

27 February 2008
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SUMMARY OF RESULTS
2007 was a year of exceptional financial performance, upgrading of infrastructure and international expansion for the Bank of Cyprus 
Group.  Deploying the Group’s strategic plan, the growth rates achieved well exceeded the planned targets.
 
Specifically, profit after tax for 2007 reached €485mn (C£284 mn) recording an annual increase of 55%, thus achieving a spectacular 
return on equity of 27,6%. The ratio of non-performing loans to total loans has improved from 5,6% at 31 December 2006 to 3,8% at 
31 December 2007, achieving two years earlier the target of decreasing provisions to below 4% by 2009. At the beginning of 2008, 
the Group is strategically positioned in three new geographic markets aiming to initially leverage on the large number of client 
relationships with companies that operate in Russia, Romania and Ukraine and with excellent prospects of expanding operations in 
these countries given the healthy liquidity of the Group.

The increased Group profitability, led to the decision of the Board of Directors of the Bank to propose at the Annual General Meeting 
of its shareholders a dividend of €0,25 per share. The total of the proposed dividend and the interim dividend of €0,19 per share 
which was paid in December 2007 amounts to €0,44 per share compared to €0,29 paid last year, recording an increase of 52%.

The main financial highlights of the Group for 2007 are set out in the table below:

TABLE 1/ Group Financial Highlights

€ mn Change 2007 2006

Profit before tax +52% 582 384

Profit after tax  +55% 485 313

Earnings per Share +53% 86,8 cent 56,9 cent

Return on Equity +5,9 p.p.* 27,6% 21,7%

Cost/Income -3,1 p.p.* 43,6% 46,7%

* p.p. = percentage points, 1 percentage point = 1%

Group profit after tax for 2007 reached €485 mn (C£284 mn) compared to €313 mn (C£183 mn) for 2006, recording an increase     
of 55%.
The Group return on equity increased substantially to 27,6% compared to 21,7% for 2006.
The cost to income ratio improved to 43,6% compared to 46,7% for 2006.
The improvement of profitability is the result of the following:
- Increase of business volumes (31% in loans and 21% in deposits).
- Increase of income (increase of net interest income by 23%, fees and commission income by 15% and insurance income by 25%).
- Containment of cost growth at rates lower (15%) than those of the growth of business volumes (31%).
- Further improvement in loan quality, with a resultant decrease of the annual provision charge to 0,3% of total loans.
The improvement in the profitability of the Group’s Cyprus operations is spectacular. Profit after tax increased by 56% to €377 mn 
(C£221 mn).
The profitability of the Greek operations also registered a spectacular increase in 2007, with profit after tax increasing by 57% 
compared to 2006 to reach €100 mn (C£59 mn).
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2005 2006 2007

Evolution of indicators

27,6%
21,7%

11,9%

Return 
on Equity

2005 2006 2007

43,6%46,7%

56,7%

Cost / Income

31.12.05 31.12.06 31.12.07

Evolution of non performing loans (NPLs)

3,8%5,6%
9,3%

NPL ratio (NPLs/Total loans)

31.12.05 31.12.06 31.12.07

78%
66%

43%

Coverage ratio (Provisions/NPLs)

TABLE 2/ Analysis of Loans and Deposits by Geographic Sector 

 Group Cyprus Greece Other countries

€ mn  annual ±% 31.12.07 annual ±% 31.12.07 annual ±% 31.12.07 annual ±% 31.12.07

Loans  +31% 19.500 +38% 9.566 +22% 7.919 +39% 2.015
Contribution     49%  41%  10%

Deposits  +21% 25.178 +26% 14.838 +16% 8.799 +13% 1.541
Contribution     59%  35%  6%

FINANCIAL FOOTINGS

GROUP LOANS
The Group’s loans reached €19,50 bn (C£11,41 bn) at 31 December 2007, recording an annual increase of 31%.

Loans in Cyprus
The Group’s total loans in Cyprus at 31 December 2007 amounted to €9,57 bn (C£5,60 bn), recording an annual increase of 38%.

The Group has increased its market share in total loans of commercial banks and credit cooperatives in Cyprus, to 29,0% in 
December 2007, compared to 26,7% in December 2006. The continued increase in our market share is the result of the recognition 
of Bank of Cyprus’ leading brand name, as well as its extensive network and the effective marketing campaigns focusing on the 
business sector and mortgage lending. 

FINANCIAL REVIEW
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31.12.05 31.12.06 31.12.07
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26,7%

25,6%

Market share

Loans in Greece
In Greece, the annual rate of increase in the Group’s loans reached 22%, with the Greek loan portfolio reaching €7,92 bn (C£4,64 bn) 
at 31 December 2007 and the market share standing at 3,7% in October 2007. 

The Group’s dynamic expansion in Greece focused mainly on housing and consumer loans.  The balance of housing and consumer 
loans at 31 December 2007 increased by 31% and 23%, respectively, compared to 31 December 2006.

Loans in Other Countries
At 31 December 2007, Group loans in the United Kingdom and Australia increased by 9% and 39% respectively, reaching €1,27 bn 
(C£744 mn)  and €401 mn (C£235 mn), respectively. 

In the new markets, Russia and Romania, the Group’s loan portfolio at 31 December 2007 reached €342 mn (C£200 mn).

Loans by Customer Sector
The breakdown of the Group’s loan portfolio in Cyprus and Greece by customer sector is shown below.  

TABLE 3/ Analysis of Loans by Customer Sector 

 Cyprus Greece

  % annual  % annual
 € mn portfolio increase € mn portfolio increase

Corporate  4.550 47% 43% 1.869 24% 18%

Small and Medium-sized Enterprises (SMEs) 1.518 16% 36% 3.426 43% 21%

Retail
  - Mortgage 2.073 22% 51% 1.352 17% 31%

  - other 1.425 15% 11% 1.272 16% 23% 

Total 9.566 100% 38% 7.919 100% 22%

NON-PERFORMING LOANS (“NPLS”)
During 2007, the improvement in the quality of the Group’s loan portfolio was exceptional and was the result of, among others:

Collections of overdue amounts.
Lower inflow of new NPLs as a result of the continuous improvement of credit risk management.

Specifically, the total amount of loans in arrear for longer than three months which are not fully covered by collateral (“non 
performing loans”) has decreased to €747 mn (C£437 mn), an 11% decline in absolute numbers since 31 December 2006.

The ratio of NPLs to total Group loans at 31 December 2007 was 3,8% compared to 5,6% at 31 December 2006, thus achieving two 
years earlier the target of improving the NPL ratio to below 4% by 2009.

In parallel, the coverage ratio (provisions/NPLs) increased to 78% as at 31 December 2007, compared to 66% one year ago. The 
remaining balance of NPLs is fully covered by tangible collateral.
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The quality of the loan portfolio in Cyprus registered a significant improvement with the relevant indicator improving to 5,0% at 31 
December 2007 compared to 8,2% one year ago. 

The quality of the Group loan portfolio in Greece remains very good. Using the NPL definition mentioned above, the Group’s NPLs in 
Greece improved to 3,2% at 31 December 2007, compared to 3,9% a year earlier. This ratio compares favourably to the ratio of the 
Greek banking system, as per Bank of Greece data.

GROUP DEPOSITS
The Group’s total deposits recorded a significant increase of 21% and on 31 December 2007 they reached €25,18 bn (C£14,74 bn), 
enhancing its liquidity.

The increase in the Group’s deposits is particularly important due to the recent turmoil in the money and debt financial markets. 
The continuous increase in deposits and the low loans to deposits ratio (77%), confirm the Group’s ability to implement its strategic 
plan with moderate reliance on wholesale funding. It is noted that as at 31 December 2007, 79% of assets were funded by customer 
deposits and only 11% by wholesale funding. 

Deposits in Cyprus
In Cyprus, the annual rate of increase in Group deposits was 26%.  Deposits in Cyprus amounted to €14,84 bn (C£8,68 bn) at 31 
December 2007. The Bank’s market share of total deposits of commercial banks and credit cooperatives at end-December 2007 
amounted to 31,6%, compared to 29,9% at end-December 2006.

A percentage of 60% of total deposits of the Group’s Cyprus operations is in foreign currency.  The Bank’s market share in this 
sector of the deposit market among commercial banks stood at 44% in December 2007. It is noted that following Cyprus entry in 
the Eurozone on 1 January 2008, the Euro is the national currency in Cyprus. The foreign currency deposits of the Group’s Cyprus 
operations excluding euro denominated deposits amount to €6,5 bn (C£3,8 bn) and represent 44% of the Group’s total deposits in 
Cyprus.

Deposits in Greece
Group deposits in Greece increased at an annual rate of 16%, reaching €8,80 bn (C£5,15 bn) at 31 December 2007.  At the end of 
October 2007 the Group’s market share in deposits in Greece stood at 3,6%.
 
Deposits in Other Countries
At 31 December 2007, the Group’s deposits in the United Kingdom and Australia reached €1,26 bn (C£737 mn) and €259 mn
(C£151 mn), recording an annual increase of 11% and 10%, respectively

SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS
At 31 December 2007, the Group shareholders’ funds amounted to €1,97 bn (C£1,15 bn), recording a significant increase of 27% since 
31 December 2006. The Group capital adequacy ratio per Basel II requirements stood at 12,7% and the core tier 1 ratio at 8,7%.

ANALYSIS OF 2007 RESULTS
Net Interest Income and Net Interest Margin
Net interest income reached €752 mn (C£440 mn), recording an annual increase of 23%.  The increase is primarily attributable to the 
significant increase in the Group’s footings in Cyprus and Greece, as well as to the improvement in the net interest margin (NIM) of 
the Group’s operations in Cyprus. 

The Group net interest margin (NIM) for 2007 remained stable at 2,81%, compared to 2006.

The NIM of the Group’s operations in Cyprus increased from 2,38% for 2006 to 2,53% for 2007, primarily as a result of the higher 
growth rate in loans compared to deposits and the increased margin on foreign currency deposits.

The NIM of the Group’s operations in Greece stood at 2,87% for 2007 compared to 3,14% for 2006 as a result of the comparatively 
higher growth rate of mortgage loans compared to the growth rates of other sectors, as mortgage loans earn a lower spread due 
to their low-risk nature. In addition, the Group’s net interest margin fell due to the short term impact of the widening of the spread 
between the Euro base rate and the Euribor.
 
Income from Insurance Business 
The growth of the Group’s insurance operations was significant with an increase in new business premiums of 27% in life insurance 
and 13% in general insurance. Total income from insurance business recorded a 25% annual increase, reaching €56 mn (C£33 mn). 
The insurance business contributed 8% to Group profit before tax amounting to €45 mn (C£27 mn), recording an annual increase of 
53%.
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Expenses
Total expenses for 2007 amounted to €486 mn (C£284 mn), with the annual rate of increase of 15% being significantly lower than the 
rate of increase in loans (31%). Despite the significant investments for the expansion of the Group’s network in Greece and the start 
up expenses in Russia and Romania, the cost to income ratio improved to 43,6% for 2007 compared to 46,7% for 2006 mainly as a 
result of an increase in productivity.

Staff costs amounted to €296 mn (C£173 mn), recording an annual increase of 11%, mainly due to the increase in the costs of the 
expanding Greek operations by 28%.  Staff costs in Greece grew as a result of the increase in staff numbers by 15%. The increase 
in staff in Greece is necessary to respond to increased business volumes (22% increase in loans) and to staff the 15 new branches 
which opened in the last 12 months, as well as the 10 new branches which have been rented and are expected to become operational 
in the next few months. The Group currently operates 135 branches in Greece. The increase in staff costs in Cyprus was contained to 
3%, despite the much higher rates of increase in volumes (38% increase in loans).

The other (non-staff) operating expenses of the Group, including the operating expenses for the set up of the operations in Russia 
and Romania, recorded an annual increase of 21% and amounted to €190 mn (C£111 mn). 

The cost to income ratio of the Group’s Cyprus operations improved from 44,3% in 2006 to 37,6% in 2007.  This ratio for the Group’s 
Greek operations stands at the very satisfactory level of 50,9% (2006: 47,7%), especially considering the relatively low maturity level 
of the branch network and the cost of opening new branches, which is expensed as it is incurred.

Provisions for Impairment of Loans
The provision charge for 2007 amounted to €56 mn (C£33 mn) and represented 0,3% (2006: 0,7%) of total Group loans, reflecting 
both the improvement in the quality of the loan portfolio and the very satisfactory level of accumulated provisions which include an 
accumulated general provision charge  of €195 mn (C£114 mn) (1% of total loans). 
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TABLE 4/ Geographical Sector Analysis of Results and Other Financial Information

 Cyprus Greece Other countries

€ mn +% 2007  2006  +% 2007  2006  +% 2007  2006  

Net interest income +28% 435  341  +16% 276  238  +19% 41  35

Net fee and commission income +12% 135  120  +20% 51  42  +21% 12  10

Foreign exchange income +37% 43  31  +19% 4  3  -105% 0  1

Net gains on sale and change in fair  
value of financial instruments -7% 28  30  -96% 0  2  +111% 1  (7 )

Net income from insurance business +18% 47  40  +82% 9  5  - -  -

Other income +111% 32  16   0  0  - 0  0

Total expenses +25% 720  578  +17% 340  290  +40% 54  39

Staff costs +3% (181 ) (176 ) +28% (92 ) (72 ) +23% (22 ) (18 )

Other operating expenses +12% (89 ) (80 ) +23% (81 ) (66 ) +82% (20 ) (11 )

Total income +6% (270 ) (256 ) +25% (173 ) (138 ) +29% (42 ) (29 )

Profit before provisions +40% 450  322  +10% 167  152  +25% 12  10

Contribution  71%  67%   27%  31%   2%  2%

Provisions for impairment of loans  
and advances -43% (25 ) (45 ) -48% (30 ) (58 ) +121% (1 ) 2

Share of profit of associates - 9  0  - 0  0  - 0  0

Profit before tax +56% 434  277  +45% 137  94  -5% 11  12

Contribution  74%  72%   24%  25%   2%  3%

Tax +43% (52 ) (36 ) +21% (37 ) (30 ) -15% (3 ) (4 )

Minority Interest - (5 ) 0  - 0  0  - 0  0

Profit after tax  +56% 377  241  +57% 100  64  +2% 8  8

Contribution  78%  77%   21%  20%   1%  3%

Number of staff +4% 3.424  3.295  +15% 3.001  2.603  +65% 484  294

Net interest margin (NIM) +15 b.p.* 2,53%  2,38%  -27 b.p* 2,87%  3,14%  -12 b.p* 1,85%  1,97%

Cost/Income ratio -6,7 p.p.* 37,6%  44,3%  +3,2 p.p.* 50,9%  47,7%  -6,0 p.p.* 68,7%  74,7%

Return on equity (ROE) +11,7 p.p.* 47,2%  35,5%  +5,3 p.p.* 19,3%  14,0%  -1,7 p.p.* 6,9%  8,6%

- - -

Notes:
1. All geographical sector analyses are shown following restatements made to bring each sector’s capital to the same percentage level of the  
 sector’s risk weighted assets.
2.    Reclassifications of comparative information for 2006 were made to conform to changes in the presentation in the current year. Such
 reclas sifications relate mainly to the presentation of the Group’s insurance operations and to facilitate disclosures required by IFRS 7   
 which has been  adopted as of 1 January 2007.  These reclassifications had no impact on profit after tax or the equity of the Group.
3. The conversion from Euro (€) to Cyprus Pounds (C£) was made using the exchange rate at 31 December 2007 of €1=C£0,585274.

* b.p. = basic points, 100b.p. = 1 percentage point (1%)
* p.p. = percentage points, 1 percentage point = 1%
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59STATEMENT BY THE MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND THE COMPANY 
OFFICIALS RESPONSIBLE FOR THE DRAFTING OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BANK OF CYPRUS PUBLIC COMPANY LTD

(in accordance with the provisions of Law 190(I)/2007 on Transparency Requirements)

We, the members of the Board of Directors and the Company officials responsible for the drafting of the consolidated financial 
statements of Bank of Cyprus Public Company Ltd (the ‘Company’) for the year ended 
31 December 2007, declare that, to the best of our knowledge, 

(a) the financial statements 
 (i) have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union and  
  the requirements of the Cyprus Companies Law, and 
 (ii) give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit and loss of the Company and the undertakings  
  included in the consolidation taken as a whole, and

(b) the Directors’ report includes a fair review of the developments and performance of the business and the position of the   
 Company and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole, together with a description of the principal risks  
 and uncertainties that they face.

Eleftherios P. Ioannou   Chairman

Andreas Artemis Vice Chairman

Christos S. Pantzaris  Non Executive Director

Vassilis G. Rologis  Non Executive Director

Costas Z. Severis  Non Executive Director

Theodoros Aristodemou  Non Executive Director

Christakis G. Christofides  Non Executive Director

Evdokimos Xenophontos  Non Executive Director

Andreas Pittas  Non Executive Director

Anna Diogenous  Non Executive Director

George M. Georgiades  Non Executive Director

Andreas J. Jacovides  Non Executive Director

Christos Mouskis  Non Executive Director

Manthos Mavrommatis  Non Executive Director

Andreas Eliades  Executive Director

Charilaos G. Stavrakis  Executive Director

Yiannis Kypri  Executive Director

Costas Hadjipapas  Non Executive Director

Christis Hadjimitsis  Group General Manager Finance and Strategy

27 February 2008
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The Board of Directors submit to the shareholders their Report together with the audited consolidated financial statements for the 
year ended 31 December 2007.

ACTIVITIES
Bank of Cyprus Public Company Ltd (the ‘Company’) is the holding company of the Bank of Cyprus Group (the ‘Group’).  The principal 
activities of the Company and its subsidiaries in Cyprus and abroad during the year continued to be the provision of banking and 
financial services, insurance business and property and hotel business.

During the year the Group commenced banking operations in Romania and Russia and leasing operations in Romania.  Also during 
2007 the Group increased its participation in Cytrustees Investment Public Company Ltd to 49,98% and in Interfund Investments Plc 
to 22,83%.  All Group companies and branches are set out in Note 44 of the financial statements.

FINANCIAL RESULTS
Profit attributable to the shareholders of the Company for 2007 recorded an increase of 55% compared to 2006.  There was a 
significant improvement in all of the Group’s performance indicators in 2007 compared to 2006, with return on equity increasing 
to 27,6%, cost to income ratio improving to 43,6% and impaired loans to total loans, improving to 3,8%.  Both the Group’s banking 
operations in Cyprus and Greece as well as the insurance operations contributed to the improvement.

Group Financial Highlights

C£000 Change 2007 2006

Profit before tax +52% 340.842 224.523

Profit after tax and minority interest +55% 283.956 183.106

Earnings per share +53% 50,8 cent 33,3 cent

Cost/income -3,1 p.p.* 43,6% 46,7%

Return on equity +5,9 p.p.* 27,6% 21,7%

* p.p.= percentage points, 1 percentage point = 1%

Group Financial Footings

C£000 Change 2007 2006

Loans +32,0% 11.073.923 8.390.650

Deposits  +21,5% 14.736.594 12.130.360

Equity +29,7% 1.173.585 904.621

The improvement of profitability is the result of the following:
Increase of business volumes (32% in loans and 21% in deposits).
Increase of income (increase of net interest income by 23%, net fee and commission income by 15% and net insurance income 
by 25%).
Containment of cost growth at rates that are lower than those of the growth of business volumes.
Further improvement of loan quality, with a resultant decrease in the annual provision charge to about the equivalent of 0,3% 
of gross loans.
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DIVIDENDS
The Board of Directors proposes the payment of a final dividend of €0,25 (C£0,15) per share.  An interim dividend of C£0,11 per share 
amounting to C£61.861 thousand, was paid in December 2007.  The total dividend for year 2007 amounts to the equivalent of C£0,26 
(2006: C£0,17) per share.  

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS
The Group sets its strategic priorities for the three years 2008-2010, aiming to take advantage of its strategic advantages and create 
shareholder value on a sustainable basis.  The leading position of the Group in Cypriot banking, its critical role in the establishment 
of Cyprus as an international financial centre for businesses from Russia and other countries of Eastern Europe, its particularly 
successful presence in Greece and its entry into new markets with excellent prospects for profitable expansion represent its key 
growth drivers.

The strategic priorities of the Group for the three years 2008-2010 are to focus on the following four directions:

1. Capitalise on opportunities in Cyprus
Enhancement of its domestic banking market position with particular focus on the retail and small and medium-sized 
enterprises sectors.
Further strengthening of the Group’s leading position in the profitable sector of banking services to international companies based 
in Cyprus.
Enhancement of the insurance business through the introduction and marketing of new products, exploiting the Group’s brand and 
wide customer base.   

2. Enhancement of presence in Greece via expansion and gradual network maturity
Expansion of the Group’s branch network to 220 branches by 2010 (from 135 at 27 February 2008).
Significant enhancement of profitability through the maturity of the approximately 880.000 client relationships of the Group 
in Greece, which offer improved pricing and cross-selling opportunities and taking advantage of the particularly cost efficient 
structure of the operations.
Increasing fee and commission income through the enhancement of asset management services.  
Maintaining the growth rates of its insurance business, in terms of both production and profitability.

3. Operational merger of the operations in Cyprus and Greece under the ‘One Bank’ concept
The Group aims to achieve further improvements in network efficiency, by benefiting from the synergies arising from the adoption of 
a common currency (as of 1 January 2008), a common language and common legislative framework in its two main markets through 
the operational merger of its Cyprus and Greek operations.  Specifically the Group will proceed to:

Consolidate the information technology systems under a common IT platform.
Create centralised services in the areas of human resources, internet banking, telephone banking, asset management and 
investment services, international banking services, product launching and support services, aiming to decrease the cost and time 
required for product development.

 
4. Expansion into new markets
The objective of the expansion into new markets aims in the long-term continuation of its high growth rates and is based on its 
strategic advantages in order to minimise risk and create value for shareholders.  Countries that have been targeted are those 
where the Group has existing client relationships, that have significant population, strong macroeconomic environment, low banking 
sector penetration and brand recognition for Bank of Cyprus, thus providing very good prospects for the Group.  The experience 
of the Group’s successful expansion into the competitive Greek market and the existing client relationships constitute the Group’s 
competitive advantage. 

Dynamic expansion of operations in Romania
The Group entered the Romanian market in March 2007 by offering leasing services. In July 2007, the Group started banking 
operations by offering services to corporate clients.  The Group aims to increase its branch network to 40 branches/business centres 
by 2010 and to benefit from opportunities available in the project financing sector.

Dynamic expansion of operations in Russia
Russia is a large market where the Group commenced operations in August 2007 and aims to further enhance its loan portfolio and 
branch network in this country over the next three years.

Commencement of operations in Ukraine in 2008
In November 2007, Bank of Cyprus signed an agreement for the acquisition of 95% of the share capital of the Ukrainian bank 
AvtoZAZBank for about €52 million (C£30 million).  The agreement is subject to the relevant approvals being obtained by the 
supervisory authorities in Ukraine.  The acquisition is expected to be completed within the first half of 2008.
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FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS (continued)
4. Expansion into new markets (continued)
Commencement of operations in Ukraine in 2008 (continued)
AvtoZAZBank operates through a network of 26 branches located in four main regions of Ukraine.  Bank of Cyprus aims to provide 
full banking services in Ukraine, leveraging on its significant number of client relationships established via the international banking 
sector in Cyprus with businesses operating in this country. 

Selective acquisitions as part of the Group’s growth strategy
In the context of its organic growth strategy the Group will continue to evaluate on an ongoing basis, in parallel with its organic 
growth plans, acquisition opportunities in the targeted markets with the aim of accelerating its penetration into targeted markets. 

EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE 
Events after the balance sheet date are disclosed in Note 47 of the financial statements.

RISK MANAGEMENT
Like other financial organisations, the Group is exposed to risks, the most significant of which are credit risk, liquidity risk and 
market risk that arises from adverse movements in exchange rates, interest rates, equity security prices or other security prices, as 
well as operational risk.  The Group monitors and manages these risks through various control mechanisms.  Detailed information 
relating to Group risk management is set out in Notes 38 to 41 of the financial statements. 

SHARE CAPITAL
During the year, the issued share capital of the Company increased by C£6.193 thousand, of which C£3.700 thousand was the result 
of dividend reinvestment and C£2.493 thousand the result of the exercise of share options by the Group’s employees, as described in 
Note 28 of the financial statements.

During the year, the authorised share capital of the Company was increased from C£300.000.000 to C£438.955.500 with the creation 
of 277.911.000 additional ordinary shares of a nominal value of C£0,50 each.  As from 1 January 2008, the nominal value of the share 
capital of the Company was increased to €1,00 each.  Share premium amounting to C£48.284 thousand (€82.498 thousand) was 
applied for the increase in the nominal value of the shares, so that the number of issued shares remains the same, but their nominal 
value is €1,00 each instead of C£0,50 each. 

IMPLEMENTATION AND COMPLIANCE TO THE CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  
The Group recognises the importance of implementing sound corporate governance policies, practices and procedures. As a 
company listed on the Cyprus Stock Exchange (CSE), Bank of Cyprus Public Company Ltd has adopted CSE’s Corporate Governance 
Code and applies its principles. 

In March 2006 the CSE issued a revised Code of Corporate Governance. The Group complies with all the provisions of the revised 
Code except provision A.2.3 due to the introduction of a new criterion in the definition of independent directors. According to this 
criterion, a director with tenure exceeding nine years is not considered independent. Provision A.2.3 requires that at least 50% of 
the members of the Board of Directors, excluding the Chairman, are independent non executive directors. The CSE has granted the 
Company an extension until December 2009 to comply with this provision. 

In addition, as a company listed on the Athens Exchange, Bank of Cyprus Public Company Ltd follows the provisions of the corporate 
governance of listed companies as laid out in law L3016/2002 of the Hellenic Republic.

SHAREHOLDERS HOLDING MORE THAN 5% OF THE SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY 
As at 31 December 2007 and 20 February 2008, 6,99% of the share capital of the Company was held by all pension/retirement plans 
funded in Cyprus by the Group.  There are no other shareholders holding more than 5% of the issued share capital of the Company.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The members of the Board of Directors of the Company are listed on page 6.  All Directors were members of the Board throughout 
the year 2007 and up to the date of this Report, except Mr Costas Hadjipapas who was appointed on 10 May 2007 in replacement of 
Mr Dimitris P. Ioannou, who resigned from the Board of Directors on the same day.

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, Messrs Eleftherios P. Ioannou, Vassilis G. Rologis, Christakis G. 
Christofides, Anna Diogenous, George M. Georgiades and Manthos Mavrommatis retire.  The Chairman, Mr. Eleftherios P. Ioannou 
has reached 75 years of age and retires in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association.  The remaining members of the 
Board, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.  The vacancies so created will be filled by election.

The members of the Board of Directors express their gratitude to the retiring Chairman Mr Eleftherios P. Ioannou for his valuable 
contribution as Chairman of the Board of Directors.  They also express their gratitude to Mr Dimitris P. Ioannou for his valuable 
contribution during his long period of service on the Board of Directors of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN THE SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY
The beneficial interest in shares of the Company’s directors, their spouses, minor children and companies in which they hold, directly 
or indirectly, at least 20% of the voting shares, at 31 December 2007 and 20 February 2008, is set out below:

 31 December 20 February
 2007 2008
 % %

Non executives  

Eleftherios P. Ioannou 0,010 0,010

Andreas Artemis 0,330 0,330

Christos S. Pantzaris 0,098 0,098

Vassilis G. Rologis 0,002 0,002

Costas Z. Severis 0,403 0,403

Theodoros Aristodemou 0,018 0,018

Christakis G. Christofides 0,029 0,029

Evdokimos Xenophontos 0,001 0,001

Andreas Pittas 0,037 0,037

Anna Diogenous 0,169 0,169

George M. Georgiades 0,036 0,036

Andreas J. Jacovides 0,021 0,021

Christos Mouskis 0,028 0,028

Manthos Mavrommatis 0,027 0,027

Costas Hadjipapas 0,001 0,001

Executives  

Andreas Eliades 0,001 0,001

Charilaos G. Stavrakis 0,013 0,013

Yiannis Kypri 0,005 0,005

 1,229 1,229

The members of the Board of Directors held at 31 December 2006 13.000 Share Options 2001/2007 and 15.000 Share Options 
2006/2007.  During 2007, 10.000 Share Options 2001/2007 (2006: Nil) which were granted to two non executive directors in 2000 while 
they were executive directors were exercised at the price of C£3,26 per option.  Also during 2007, the executive directors exercised 
3.000 (2006: 6.000) Share Options 2001/2007 at the price of C£3,26 per option and 15.000 (2006: Nil) Share Options 2006/2007 at the 
price of C£4,32 per option.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
The independent auditors of the Company, Ernst & Young, have expressed their willingness to continue in office.  
A resolution for their re-appointment and remuneration will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting.

E. P. Ioannou
Chairman

27 February 2008
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
for the year ended 31 December 2007

  2007  2006  2007  2006

 Notes C£000  C£000  €000  €000

Turnover 2 1.270.425  974.290  2.170.650  1.664.673

Interest income 3 1.011.832  752.237  1.728.818  1.285.273

Interest expense 4 (571.484 ) (393.608 ) (976.439 ) (672.519 )

Net interest income  440.348  358.629  752.379  612.754

Fee and commission income 5 123.202  107.359  210.504  183.434

Fee and commission expense 5 (7.246 ) (6.248 ) (12.381 ) (10.675 )

Foreign exchange income  27.339  20.789  46.711  35.520

Net gains on sale, change in fair value and
impairment of financial instruments 6 17.002  14.979  29.050  25.593

Insurance income  7 102.321  123.064  174.826  210.267

Insurance claims 7 (69.282 ) (96.662 ) (118.376 ) (165.157 )

Other income 8 18.947  8.719  32.372  14.897

  652.631  530.629  1.115.085  906.633

Staff costs 9 (173.005 ) (155.883 ) (295.597 ) (266.342 )

Other operating expenses  (111.435 ) (91.864 ) (190.397 ) (156.959 )

Profit before provisions  368.191  282.882  629.091  483.332

Provisions for impairment of loans 
and advances 38 (32.703 ) (58.359 ) (55.877 ) (99.712 )

Profit before share of profit of associates  335.488  224.523  573.214  383.620

Share of profit of associates  10 5.354  -  9.148  -

Profit before tax 11 340.842  224.523  582.362  383.620

Taxation 12 (53.754 ) (41.417 ) (91.843 ) (70.765 )

Profit after tax  287.088  183.106  490.519  312.855

Profit after tax attributable to:     

Shareholders of the Company    283.956  183.106  485.168  312.855

Minority interest  3.132  -  5.351  -

  287.088  183.106  490.519  312.855

Basic earnings per share (cent) 13 50,8  33,3  86,8  56,9

Diluted earnings per share (cent) 13 50,8  33,3  86,8  56,9

Supplementary 
information  
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 
as at 31 December 2007

  2007  2006  2007  2006

 Notes C£000  C£000  €000  €000

Assets     

Cash and balances with central banks 14 775.600  684.349  1.325.191  1.169.280

Placements with banks 14 3.604.332  2.496.297  6.158.367  4.265.176

Investments at fair value through profit or loss 15 304.997  236.592  521.118  404.241

Life insurance business assets attributable 
to policyholders 16 310.552  287.157  530.610  490.637

Loans and advances to customers 17 11.073.923  8.390.650  18.920.921  14.336.277

Investments available-for-sale and held-to-
maturity 19 2.076.930  2.110.688  3.548.646  3.606.325

Property and equipment 20 187.090  153.813  319.662  262.805

Intangible assets 21 48.067  41.173  82.127  70.348

Other assets 22 198.542  170.708  339.230  291.672

Investment in associate 46 10.136  -  17.318  -

Total assets  18.590.169  14.571.427  31.763.190  24.896.761

Liabilities     

Amounts due to banks  721.840  275.682  1.233.337  471.031

Repurchase agreements  254.676  -  435.140  -

Customer deposits  23 14.736.594  12.130.360  25.178.966  20.725.951

Insurance liabilities 24 356.178  328.625  608.566  561.489

Debt securities in issue 25 733.752  434.380  1.253.690  742.182

Other liabilities 26 222.143  175.138  379.553  299.240

Subordinated loan stock 27 391.401  322.621  668.748  551.231

Total liabilities   17.416.584  13.666.806  29.758.000  23.351.124

Equity     

Share capital 28 283.112  276.919  483.726  473.144

Share premium  402.873  341.365  688.349  583.257

Revaluation and other reserves 30 109.051  96.407  186.327  164.721

Retained earnings  355.652  189.930  607.666  324.515

Equity attributable to shareholders of 
the Company  1.150.688  904.621  1.966.068  1.545.637

Minority interest  22.897  -  39.122  -

Total equity  1.173.585  904.621  2.005.190  1.545.637

Total liabilities and equity   18.590.169  14.571.427  31.763.190  24.896.761

Contingent liabilities and commitments     

Contingent liabilities 33 1.025.211  857.273  1.751.677  1.464.738

Commitments 33 2.000.181  1.592.332  3.417.512  2.720.661

Supplementary 
information  

E. P. Ioannou Chairman

A. Artemis Vice-Chairman

A. Eliades Group Chief Executive Officer

Y. Kypri Group Chief General Manager

Chr. Hadjimitsis Group General Manager Finance and Strategy 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
for the year ended 31 December 2007

          Minority  Total
 Share  Share  Revaluation  Retained  Total  interest 
 capital premium  and other  earnings    
     reserves  (Note 30)
    (Note 30)
  C£000 C£000  C£000  C£000  C£000  C£000  C£000

At 1 January 2007 276.919 341.365  96.407  189.930  904.621  -  904.621

Gains/(losses) from change in fair
value of available-for-sale investments       
- treasury bills and debt securities  - -  (16.756 ) -  (16.756 ) -  (16.756 )

- equity securities - -  10.547  -  10.547  -  10.547

Gains from change in fair value/ 
termination of financial instruments 
designated as cash flow hedges - -  1.275  -  1.275  -  1.275

Property revaluation  - -  28.131  -  28.131  -  28.131

Deferred tax - -  (4.932 ) 902  (4.030 ) -  (4.030 )

Exchange adjustments - -  667  -  667  -  667

Increase in value of in-force life insurance 
policies (Note 21) - -  6.852  (6.852 ) -  -  -

Reversal of revaluation of investment 
upon becoming an associate - -  (43 ) (455 ) (498 ) -  (498 )

Transfer of realised profits on disposal 
of property - -  (1.271 ) 1.271  -  -  -

Transfer to the income statement on 
impairment of debt securities - -  5.048  -  5.048  -  5.048

Transfer to the income statement on 
redemption/sale of available-for
-sale investments - -  (4.546 ) -  (4.546 ) -  (4.546 )

Transfer of capital reserve  - -  (2.183 ) 2.183  -  -  -

Net income/(expense) recognised 
directly in equity - -  22.789  (2.951 ) 19.838  -  19.838

Profit after tax for the year - -  -  283.956  283.956  3.132  287.088

Total income for the year  - -  22.789  281.005  303.794  3.132      306.926

Dividend paid (Note 29) and
dividend reinvested (Note 28) 3.700 45.894  -  (117.466 ) (67.872 ) -  (67.872 )

Dividend paid by subsidiaries net of 
reinvestment - -  -  -  -  (475 ) (475 )

Exercise of share options (Note 28)  2.493 15.614  -  -  18.107  -  18.107

Cost of share-based payments (Note 9) - -  -  2.183  2.183  -  2.183

Shares of the Company held by subsidiaries 
and associates - -  (10.145 ) -  (10.145 ) -  (10.145 )

Acquisition of subsidiary - -  -  -  -  20.240  20.240

At 31 December 2007 283.112 402.873  109.051  355.652  1.150.688  22.897  1.173.585

Attributable to the shareholders of the Company



67
BANK OF CYPRUS GROUP

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
for the year ended 31 December 2006

 Share  Share  Revaluation  Retained  Total
 capital  premium  and other  earnings 
     reserves  (Note 30)
     (Note 30)
  C£000  C£000  C£000  C£000  C£000  

At 1 January 2006 272.658  311.399  93.021  84.573  761.651

Gains/(losses) from changes in fair value of 
available-for-sale investments     
- treasury bills and debt securities  -  -  (12.386 ) -  (12.386 )

- equity securities -  -  23.341  -  23.341

Losses from change in fair value of financial instruments 
designated as cash flow hedges -  -  (599 ) -  (599 )

Deferred tax -  -  1.029  456  1.485

Exchange adjustments -  -  287  -  287

Increase in value of in-force life insurance 
policies (Note 21) -  -  4.556  (4.556 ) -

Transfer of realised profits on disposal of property -  -  (798 ) 798  -

Transfer to the income statement on redemption/sale of 
available-for-sale investments -  -  (12.044 ) -  (12.044 )

Net income/(expense) recognised directly in equity -  -  3.386  (3.302 ) 84

Profit after tax for the year -  -  -  183.106  183.106

Total income for the year  -  -  3.386  179.804  183.190

Dividend paid (Note 29) and dividend reinvested (Note 28) 3.259  24.434  -  (76.712 ) (49.019 )

Exercise of share options (Note 28) 1.002  5.532  -  -  6.534

Cost of share-based payments (Note 9) -  -  -  2.265  2.265

At 31 December 2006 276.919  341.365  96.407  189.930  904.621
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
for the year ended 31 December 2007

  2007  2006  2007  2006

 Note C£000  C£000  €000  €000

Net cash flow from operating activities 35 1.042.195  219.876  1.780.696  375.680

Cash flow from investing activities     
Purchases of investments     
- treasury bills  -  (94.278 ) -  (161.084 )
- debt securities  (682.169 ) (944.518 ) (1.165.555 ) (1.613.805 )
- equity securities  (4.042 ) (793 ) (6.906 ) (1.355 )
Proceeds on disposal/redemption of investments       
- treasury bills  41.563  117.410  71.015  200.607
- debt securities  669.692  743.613  1.144.237  1.270.538
- equity securities  10.704  10.680  18.289  18.248
Interest on treasury bills  634  2.119  1.083  3.621
Interest on debt securities  113.213  90.366  193.436  154.399
Dividend income from equity securities  2.704  999  4.620  1.707
Acquisition of associates less dividends received  (17.712 ) -  (30.263 ) -
Acquisition of subsidiary  (8.595 ) -  (14.685 ) -
Purchase of property and equipment  (20.886 ) (9.902 ) (35.686 ) (16.919 )
Proceeds on disposal of property and 
equipment  1.543  2.516  2.636  4.299
Purchase of intangible assets  (4.466 ) (4.172 ) (7.631 ) (7.128 )
Purchase of investment properties  (551 ) (6.244 ) (941 ) (10.669 )
Proceeds on disposal of investment properties  5.887  6.007  10.059  10.264
Net cash flow from/(used in) investing activities  107.519  (86.197 ) 183.708  (147.277 )

Cash flow from financing activities     
Issue of share capital (exercise of share options)  18.107  6.534  30.938  11.164
Issue of subordinated loan stock  74.000  114.840  126.437  196.216
Redemption of subordinated loan stock  -  (153.237 ) -  (261.821 )
Dividend payment net of reinvestment  (67.872 ) (49.019 ) (115.966 ) (83.754 )
Dividend paid by subsidiaries  (475 ) -  (812 ) -
Interest on subordinated loan stock  (14.459 ) (16.886 ) (24.705 ) (28.851 )
Net cash flow  from/(used in) financing activities  9.301  (97.768 ) 15.892  (167.046 )
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 
for the year  1.159.015  35.911  1.980.296  61.357

Cash and cash equivalents     
At 1 January  2.816.456  2.780.258  4.812.201  4.750.353
Exchange adjustments  667  287  1.139  491
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
for the year   1.159.015  35.911  1.980.296  61.357
At 31 December 36 3.976.138  2.816.456  6.793.636  4.812.201

Supplementary 
information 
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies used by Bank of Cyprus Public Company Ltd (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) that are 
relevant to an understanding of the financial statements are stated below.  

1. BASIS OF PREPARATION
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for properties, investment properties, 
available-for-sale investments, derivative financial instruments and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, that have 
been measured at fair value.  The carrying values of recognised assets and liabilities that are hedged items in fair value hedges, and 
otherwise carried at cost, are adjusted to record changes in fair value attributable to the risks that are being hedged.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Cyprus pounds (C£) and all amounts are rounded to the nearest thousand 
except where otherwise indicated.  

For information purposes, the consolidated Income Statement, consolidated Balance Sheet and consolidated Cash Flow Statement 
are also displayed in Euro (€) as supplementary information.  The translation from Cyprus pounds to Euro for both 2007 and 2006 
was carried out using the conversion rate of €1=C£0,585274. 

Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) 
as adopted by the European Union (EU).  Additionally, these financial statements comply with IFRSs as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

All IFRSs issued by the IASB and effective at the time of preparing these consolidated financial statements, have been adopted 
by the EU through the endorsement procedure established by the European Commission, with the exception of certain provisions 
of International Accounting Standard (IAS) 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” relating to portfolio hedge 
accounting.  Since the Group is not affected by these provisions, these consolidated financial statements comply with both the IFRSs 
as adopted by the EU and the IFRSs as issued by the IASB.

In addition, the consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Cyprus Companies 
Law, Cap. 113 and the Cyprus Stock Exchange Laws and Regulations.

2. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except as detailed below:

The Group has adopted the following new and amended IFRSs and IFRIC Interpretations during the year.  Adoption of these 
Standards and Interpretations did not have any effect on the financial performance or position of the Group.  They did however give 
rise to additional disclosures. 

IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures”
IAS 1 “Amendment – Presentation of Financial Statements – Capital Disclosures”
IFRIC 7 “Applying the Restatement Approach” under IAS 29 “Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies”
IFRIC 8 “Scope of IFRS 2”
IFRIC 9 “Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives”
IFRIC 10 “Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment”

The Group has also early adopted IFRIC 11 “IFRS 2 – Group and Treasury Share Transactions”.

The principal effects of these changes are as follows:

IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures” and a complementary amendment to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements 
– Capital Disclosures” 
IFRS 7 requires additional disclosure of qualitative and quantitative information regarding exposure to risks arising from financial 
instruments.  In particular, it specifies minimum disclosures about credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk.  IFRS 7 replaces IAS 
30 “Disclosures in the Financial Statements of Banks and Similar Financial Institutions” and the disclosure requirements in IAS 32 
“Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation”. 
 
The amendment to IAS 1, introduces disclosures relating to the level of an entity’s capital and how it is managed.

The new disclosures are included throughout the financial statements.  

IFRIC 7 “Applying the Restatement Approach” under IAS 29 “Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies” 
IFRIC 7 requires entities to apply IAS 29 in the reporting period in which an entity first identifies the existence of hyperinflation in the 
economy of its functional currency, as if the economy had always been hyperinflationary.  IFRIC 7 is not relevant to the operations of 
the Group.
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2. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES (continued)
IFRIC 8 “Scope of IFRS 2”  
IFRIC 8 clarifies that IFRS 2 “Share-Based Payments” applies to any arrangement by which equity securities are granted or liabilities 
(based on the value of an entity’s equity securities) are incurred and the identifiable consideration appears to be less than the fair 
value of the equity securities granted or the liabilities incurred.  The adoption of IFRIC 8 did not have any impact on the financial 
statements of the Group.

IFRIC 9 “Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives”
IFRIC 9 requires an entity to assess upon entering into a contract, whether this contains an embedded derivative and prohibits 
reassessment unless there is a change to the contract terms as a result of which there are significant changes in the cash flows.  
The adoption of IFRIC 9 did not have any impact on the financial statements of the Group.

IFRIC 10 “Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment”
IFRIC 10 provides that, should any impairment losses be recognised in the interim financial statements in relation to goodwill, 
available-for-sale investments in equity securities or unquoted equity securities carried at cost, these impairment losses may not be 
reversed in subsequent interim periods or when preparing the annual financial statements.  The adoption of IFRIC 10 did not have 
any impact on the financial statements of the Group.

IFRIC 11 “IFRS 2 - Group and Treasury Share Transactions”
The Group has elected to early adopt IFRIC 11 as of 1 January 2007. IFRIC 11 requires arrangements whereby an employee is granted 
options to buy equity securities of an entity, to be accounted for as equity-settled schemes by an entity, even if the entity chooses or 
is required to buy those equity securities from another party or the shareholders of the entity provide the equity securities granted.  
The Interpretation also extends to the way in which subsidiaries, in their separate financial statements, account for such schemes 
when their employees receive rights to equity instruments of the parent.  IFRIC 11 applies to the way the Group’s subsidiaries 
account, in their individual financial statements, for options granted to their employees to buy equity securities of the Company.

In addition to the above, the Group adopted an accounting policy for recording investments in associates, as stated in section 6 below, 
as the Group had no such investments in the previous year.

3. STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS THAT ARE ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
Up to the date of approval of the financial statements, certain new standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards 
have been published that are not yet effective for the current reporting period and which the Group has not early adopted, as follows:

(i) Standards and interpretations issued by the IASB and adopted by the EU
IFRS 8 “Operating Segments” (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009)
IFRS 8 replaces IAS 14 “Segment Reporting” and adopts a management-based approach to segment reporting. The information 
reported would be that which management uses internally for evaluating the performance of operating segments and allocating 
resources to those segments. This information may be different from that reported in the balance sheet and income statement and 
entities will need to provide explanations and reconciliations of the differences.  The Group is in the process of assessing the impact 
of this Standard on its financial statements.

(ii) Standards and interpretations issued by the IASB but not yet adopted by the EU  
Amendment to IAS 23 “Borrowing Costs” (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009)
The option in the current standard to expense borrowing costs to the income statement in case of a qualifying asset has been 
eliminated.  All borrowing costs must be capitalised if they are directly attributable to the acquisition or construction of a qualifying 
asset.  A qualifying asset is an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale.  In 
accordance with the transitional requirements of the standard, the Group will adopt this as a prospective change.  Accordingly, 
borrowing costs will be capitalised on qualifying assets with a commencement date after 1 January 2009.  No changes will be made 
for borrowing costs incurred to this date that have been expensed.

IFRIC 12 “Service Concession Arrangements” (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2008)
IFRIC 12 outlines an approach to account for contractual arrangements arising from entities providing public services.  It provides 
that the operator should not account for the infrastructure as property, plant and equipment, but recognise a financial asset and/or 
an intangible asset.  IFRIC 12 is not relevant to the Group.

IFRIC 13 “Customer Loyalty Programmes” (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2008)
IFRIC 13 requires customer loyalty award credits to be accounted for as a separate component of the sales transaction in which they 
are granted and therefore part of the fair value of the consideration received is allocated to the award credits and deferred over the 
period that the award credits are fulfilled.  The Group expects that this Interpretation will not have a material impact on its financial 
statements at the date of adoption.  

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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3. STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS THAT ARE ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE (continued)
(ii) Standards and interpretations issued by the IASB but not yet adopted by the EU (continued)
IFRIC 14 “AS 19 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction” (effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2008)
IFRIC 14 provides guidance on how to assess the limit on the amount of surplus in a defined benefit scheme that can be recognised 
as an asset under IAS 19 “Employee Benefits”. It also explains how this limit, also referred to as the “asset ceiling test”, may be 
influenced by a minimum funding requirement and aims to standardise current practice.  The Group expects that this amendment 
will have no impact on its financial statements.

Amendment to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009)
IAS 1 has been revised to enhance the usefulness of information presented in the financial statements.  The main revisions are the 
introduction of a new statement of comprehensive income that combines all items of income and expense recognised in profit or loss 
together with “other comprehensive income” and the requirement to present restatements of financial statements or retrospective 
application of a new accounting policy as at the beginning of the earliest comparative period, i.e. a third column on the balance sheet.  
The Group will make the necessary changes to the presentation of its financial statements in 2009.

Amendment to IFRS 2 “Share Based Payment – Vesting Conditions and Cancellations” (effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2009)
The Amendment clarifies two issues.  The definition of “vesting condition”, introducing the term “non-vesting condition” for conditions 
other than vesting conditions.  It also clarifies that the same accounting treatment applies to awards that are effectively cancelled by 
either the entity or a counterparty.  The Group expects that this amendment will have no impact on its financial statements.

Revisions to IFRS 3 “Business Combinations” and Amendment to IAS 27 “Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements” (effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009)
Main changes to the existing standards refer to: (a) addition of an option to measure minority interests (now called “non-controlling 
interests”) at fair value; (b) recognition of goodwill for step acquisitions; (c) recognition of acquisition-related costs; (d) recognition 
of contingent consideration; (e) transactions with non-controlling interests which do not result in loss of control; (f) allocation of 
subsidiary’s losses between controlling and non-controlling interests; (g) re-measurement of retained interest on loss of control of a 
subsidiary.  The Group expects that the application of the revisions will not have a material impact on its financial statements at the 
date of adoption.

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES
The preparation of the financial statements requires the Group’s management to make judgments and estimates that can have a 
material impact on the amounts recognised in the financial statements, the most significant of which are presented below:

(i) Provision for impairment of loans and advances
The Group reviews its loans and advances to customers to assess whether a provision for impairment should be recorded in the 
income statement.  In particular, management is required to estimate the amount and timing of future cash flows in order to 
determine the amount of provision required.  Such estimates are based on assumptions about a number of factors and therefore 
actual results may differ, resulting in future adjustments to the level of the provision.

In addition to provisions for impairment against individually significant loans and advances, the Group also makes a collective 
impairment provision.  In determining the amount of the collective provision, a number of estimates are made by management, such 
as: (a) the classification of loans into portfolios of similar credit risk characteristics, (b) the estimated period between the event 
causing impairment and the identification of the impairment loss, and (c) whether current economic conditions are such that the 
actual amount of incurred losses is likely to be greater or lower than that derived from historical experience.

(ii) Fair value of unquoted treasury bills, equity securities, debt securities and derivative financial instruments
The fair value of treasury bills, equity securities, debt securities and derivative financial instruments that are not quoted in an active 
market, is determined using valuation models.  These models are periodically reviewed by qualified personnel and validated.

To the extent possible, models use observable data, as well as factors such as the determination of credit risk and volatilities which 
require management to make estimates and assumptions.  Changes in these estimates and assumptions could affect the fair value 
of the relevant financial instruments.

(iii) Impairment of available-for-sale investments in equity securities and debt securities
Available-for-sale investments are measured at fair value with fair value changes taken to the “Revaluation reserve” in equity.  

Available-for-sale investments in equity securities are impaired when there has been a significant or prolonged decline in their 
fair value below cost.  In such a case, the total loss previously recognised in equity is recognised in the income statement.  The 
determination of what is significant or prolonged requires judgement by management.  The factors which are evaluated include 
the expected volatility in share prices.  In addition, impairment may be appropriate when there is evidence that significant adverse 
changes have taken place in the technological, market, economic or legal environment in which the investee operates.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)
(iii) Impairment of available-for-sale investments in equity securities and debt securities (continued)
Available-for-sale investments in debt securities are impaired when there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one 
or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the investment and the loss event (or events) has an impact on the 
estimated future cash flows of the investment.  The determination of such events requires judgement by management.  The factors 
evaluated are the financial situation of the issuer, any breach of contract, the probability that the issuer will enter bankruptcy or 
other financial reorganisation and the disappearance of an active market for the security.

(iv) Retirement benefits
The cost of defined benefit pension plans is determined using actuarial valuations.  The actuarial valuation involves making 
assumptions about discount rates, expected rate of return on plan assets, future salary increases, mortality rates and future pension 
increases where necessary.  The Group sets these assumptions based on market expectations at the balance sheet date using best-
estimates for each parameter covering the period over which obligations are to be settled.  Due to the long-term nature of these 
plans, such estimates are subject to significant uncertainty.   

(v)  General insurance business
For general insurance contracts, a provision is made for both the estimated cost of claims notified but not settled and claims 
incurred but not reported at the balance sheet date.  It can take a significant amount of time before the ultimate claims cost can be 
established with certainty.  Estimates regarding the provisions for claims are based on past experience and industry practices.  The 
historical claims development is analysed by accident year, by insurance/claim type and by geographical area.  Claims projection 
techniques are used which extrapolate the development of paid and incurred losses, average costs per claim and claim numbers 
based on the observed development of earlier years and expected loss ratios. 

(vi) Life insurance business
The liability for life insurance contracts is based on actuarial assumptions relating to mortality, morbidity, longevity, investment 
returns, expenses, lapse and surrender rates and discount rates.  The mortality and morbidity tables are based on standard industry 
mortality tables adjusted where appropriate to reflect the Group’s unique risk exposure, product characteristics and own mortality 
experience.  Estimates are also made for the value of in-force business and the future investment income arising from the assets 
backing life insurance contracts.  Estimates for future expense are based on current expense levels adjusted for expected expense 
inflation.  All estimates are based on current values as well as expectations about future economic and financial developments.

Estimates for future deaths, voluntary terminations, investment returns and administration expenses are used to calculate the 
liability over the term of the contract.  At each reporting date, these estimates are reassessed and monitored for adequacy and any 
changes are reflected with corresponding adjustments to the liability amount.

(vii) Taxation
The Group operates and is therefore subject to taxation in various countries.  Estimates are required in determining the provision 
for taxes at the balance sheet date and therefore the final tax determination is uncertain.  Where the final tax is different from the 
amounts that were initially recognised, such differences will impact the income tax expense, the tax liabilities and deferred tax 
assets or liabilities of the period in which the final tax is agreed with the relevant tax authorities.

5. BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group as at and for the year ended 31 December 
each year.  The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared as of the same reporting date as that of the Company, using 
consistent accounting policies.

All intra-group balances and transactions are eliminated on consolidation.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group.  Control is achieved where the 
Group has the power to govern the financial and operating strategies of an entity so as to benefit from its activities.  The results of 
subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated income statement from the date of acquisition 
or up to the date of disposal, respectively.

Business combinations are accounted for using the purchase method.  An excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair values of the 
identifiable net assets acquired, is recognised as goodwill on the balance sheet.  Where the fair values of the identifiable net assets 
are greater than the cost of acquisition (i.e. negative goodwill), the difference is recognised directly in the income statement in the 
year of acquisition. 

Minority interest represents the portion of profit or loss and net assets not held by the Group and is presented separately in the 
consolidated income statement and within equity separately from the Company shareholders’ equity. 

6. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 
The Group’s investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting.  An associate is an entity in which 
the Group has significant influence and which is neither a subsidiary company nor a joint venture.
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6. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)
Using the equity method, the investment in an associate is carried in the balance sheet at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the 
Group’s share of net assets of the associate.  The Group’s share of the results of the associate is included in the income statement.  
Losses of the associate in excess of the Group’s cost of the investment are recognised as a liability only when the Group has incurred 
obligations on behalf of the associate.  Goodwill relating to an associate is included in the carrying amount of the investment and 
is not amortised.  Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets over the cost of the 
investment (i.e. negative goodwill) is included as income in the determination of the Group’s share of the associate’s profit or loss 
in the period in which the investment is acquired.  The Group recognises its share of any changes in the equity of the associate 
through the statement of changes in equity.  Profits and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and the associate are 
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the associate.

The financial statements of the associates are prepared as of the same reporting date as that of the Company, using consistent 
accounting policies.

7. INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES
The Group recognises its interest in joint ventures using proportionate consolidation.  The financial statements of the joint venture 
entities are prepared as of the same reporting date as that of the Company, using consistent accounting policies.

8. FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Cyprus pounds (C£), which was the functional and presentation currency of 
the Company and its subsidiaries in Cyprus for 2007.  Each overseas branch or subsidiary of the Group determines its own functional 
currency and items included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency.

(i) Transactions and balances
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded using the functional currency rate of exchange ruling at the date of the transaction.  

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency rate of exchange ruling 
at the balance sheet date.  All differences are taken to “Foreign exchange income” in the income statement, with the exception of 
differences on foreign currency liabilities that provide a hedge against the net investment in overseas branches and subsidiaries. 
These differences are recognised directly in equity in the “Exchange adjustments reserve” until the disposal of the net investment, at 
which time they are recognised in the income statement.

Non-monetary items that are measured at historic cost in a foreign currency, are translated using the exchange rates ruling as at the 
dates of the initial transactions.  Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 
rates ruling at the date when the fair value was determined.

(ii) Subsidiary companies and branches
At the reporting date, the assets and liabilities of overseas subsidiaries and branches are translated into the Group’s presentation 
currency (Cyprus pounds) at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date, and their income statements are translated using 
the average exchange rates for the year.  Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of overseas branches and subsidiaries and any fair 
value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on the acquisition, are treated as assets and liabilities of 
the foreign branches and subsidiaries and translated at the rate ruling on the balance sheet date.

Exchange differences arising on translation are recognised directly in the “Exchange adjustments reserve” in equity. On disposal of 
an overseas subsidiary or branch, the cumulative amount of the exchange differences previously recognised in equity and relating to 
that particular overseas operation, is recognised in the income statement as part of the profit or loss on disposal.

9. SEGMENTAL REPORTING
The Group is organised by business segments and this is the primary format for segmental reporting.  Each business segment 
provides products or services which are subject to risks and returns that are different from those of other business segments.  The 
geographic segments cover products or services which are subject to risks and returns that are different from those of similar 
products and services provided in other economic environments.

10. TURNOVER 
Group turnover comprises gross interest income, fee and commission income, foreign exchange income, gross insurance premiums, 
turnover of property and hotel business and other income.

11. REVENUE RECOGNITION
Revenue is recognised when it is probable that economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can be reliably measured.  
The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised.

(i) Interest income
For all financial assets measured at amortised cost and interest bearing financial assets classified as available-for-sale investments, 
interest income is recognised using the effective interest rate method.



74
BANK OF CYPRUS GROUP

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

11. REVENUE RECOGNITION (continued)
(ii) Fee and commission income
Fee and commission income is recognised on the basis of work done so as to match the cost of providing the service, whereas fees 
and commissions in respect of loans and advances are recognised in the income statement using the effective interest rate method.

(iii) Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the Group’s right to receive payment is established.

(iv) Rental income
Rental income from investment properties is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease and is recognised in 
the income statement in “Other income”.

(v) Income from the disposal of property held for sale
Income and cost of sales from the disposal of these properties is recognised in the income statement in “Other income” when the 
buyer accepts delivery and the transfer of risks and rewards to the buyer is completed.  
 
12. RETIREMENT BENEFITS 
The Group operates several defined benefit retirement plans covering the majority of its employees.  The main retirement benefit 
plans require the payment of contributions to separately administered funds (funded schemes).

The cost of providing benefits for defined benefit plans is estimated separately for each plan using the Projected Unit Credit Method 
of actuarial valuation. 

Actuarial gains or losses are recognised as income or expense if the net cumulative unrecognised gains or losses at the end of 
the previous reporting period exceed the greater of 10% of the present value of the defined benefit obligations of the plan or 10% 
of the fair value of plan assets as at that date.  The portion of the actuarial gains or losses to be recognised is the excess amount 
determined above, divided by the expected average remaining working lives of the employees participating in the plan.

The cost of providing benefits under defined contribution and early retirement plans is recognised in the income statement on an 
accruals basis.

13. SHARE-BASED BENEFITS 
The Group grants to its employees options to buy equity securities or other securities of the Company.  These are recognised as 
share-based equity-settled transactions.  The cost of equity-settled transactions is measured by reference to the fair value at the 
date on which the options are granted.  The fair value is determined using appropriate valuation models.

The cost of share-based benefits is recognised over the period in which the vesting conditions are fulfilled and which ends when the 
right of the employees to receive the shares is established.  The total cost recognised at each reporting date reflects the Group’s best 
estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest.

The income statement charge or credit for a period is included in “Staff costs” and represents the movement in the cumulative cost 
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period, with a corresponding debit or credit in “Retained earnings” in equity.

No cost is recognised for benefits which do not ultimately vest.

The above are applicable to benefits granted after 7 November 2002 and which had not vested by 1 January 2005, which is the date of 
adoption of IFRS 2 “Share-based Payment” by the Group.

14. TAXATION 
Taxation on income is provided in accordance with the fiscal regulations and rates which apply in the countries where the Group 
operates and is recognised as an expense in the period in which the income arises.  Deferred tax is provided using the liability 
method.
 
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their 
carrying amounts at the balance sheet date, which will give rise to taxable amounts in future periods.  Deferred tax liabilities are 
recognised for all taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiary and associate companies and branches 
except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary 
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences and carry forward of unutilised tax losses to the extent 
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available, against which the deductible temporary differences and carry-forward of 
unutilised tax losses can be utilised.  The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to utilise all or part of the deductible 
temporary differences or tax losses. 
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount that is expected to be paid to or recovered from the tax authorities, 
after taking into account the tax rates and legislation that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date. 
 
Current and deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they arise from the same tax reporting entity and relate to the same 
tax authority and when the legal right to offset exists.

15. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(i) Date of recognition 
Purchases or sales of financial assets, where delivery is required within a time frame established by regulations or by market 
convention, are recognised on the trade date, i.e. the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Derivatives are 
recognised on a trade date basis.  “Balances with Central banks”, “Amounts due to banks”, “Customer deposits”, “Placements with 
banks” and “Loans and advances to customers” are recognised when cash is received by the Group or advanced to the borrowers.

(ii) Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments
The classification of financial instruments at initial recognition depends on the purpose for which the financial instruments were 
acquired and their characteristics.  All financial instruments are measured initially at their fair value plus, in the case of financial 
assets and liabilities not measured at fair value through profit or loss, any directly attributable incremental costs of acquisition or 
issue.

(iii) Derivative financial instruments 
Derivatives are recorded at fair value and classified as assets when their fair value is positive and as liabilities when their fair value is 
negative.  Subsequently, derivatives are measured at fair value.  Changes in the fair value of derivatives held for trading are included 
in “Net gains on sale, change in fair value and impairment of financial instruments” in the income statement.  Interest income and 
expense are included in the corresponding captions in the income statement.

Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments, such as the conversion option in an acquired convertible bond, are treated as 
separate derivatives and recorded at fair value if their economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the host 
contract, and the host contract is not itself measured at fair value with fair value changes recognised in the income statement.  The 
embedded derivatives separated from the host are carried at fair value, with changes in fair value recognised in “Net gains on sale, 
change in fair value and impairment of financial instruments” in the income statement.

(iv) Financial assets or financial liabilities held for trading 
Financial assets or financial liabilities held for trading represent assets and liabilities acquired or incurred principally for the 
purpose of selling or repurchasing them in the near term and are recognised in the balance sheet at fair value.  Changes in fair value 
are recognised in “Net gains on sale, change in fair value and impairment of financial instruments” in the income statement. Interest 
income and expense are included in the corresponding captions in  the income statement according to the terms of the relevant 
contract, while dividend income is recognised in “Other income” when the right to receive payment has been established.

(v) Other financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets and financial liabilities classified in this category are designated by management on initial recognition when the 
following criteria are met: (a) the designation eliminates or significantly reduces the inconsistency that would otherwise arise from 
the measurement of the assets or liabilities or the recognition of gains or losses on them on a different basis, or (b) the assets and 
liabilities are part of a group of financial assets, financial liabilities or both which are managed and their performance is evaluated on 
a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy, or (c) the financial instrument contains 
an embedded derivative, unless the embedded derivative does not significantly modify the cash flows of the instrument or it is clear, 
with little or no analysis, that the embedded derivative could not be separated.

These assets do not form part of the trading portfolio because no recent pattern of short-term profit taking exists. They include listed 
debt securities economically hedged by derivatives, and not designated for hedge accounting, as well as unlisted equities which are 
managed on a fair value basis.

Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in the balance sheet at fair value.  Changes 
in fair value are recognised in “Net gains on sale, change in fair value and impairment of financial instruments” in the income 
statement. Interest income and expense are included in the corresponding captions according to the terms of the relevant contract, 
while dividend income is recognised in “Other income” when the right to receive payment has been established.

(vi) Held-to-maturity investments 
Held-to-maturity investments are those with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities and which the Group has the 
intention and ability to hold to maturity.  After initial measurement, held-to-maturity investments are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium 
on acquisition and fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The amortisation is included in “Interest income” in the 
income statement.  Losses arising from impairment of such investments are recognised in “Net gains on sale, change in fair value 
and impairment of financial instruments” in the income statement.
 

14. TAXATION (continued)
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(vii) Loans and advances 
Loans and advances are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. They are 
not entered into with the intention of immediate or short-term resale and are not classified as “Investments held for trading”, nor 
designated as “Investments available-for-sale” or “Investments at fair value through profit or loss”.  This accounting policy covers 
the balance sheet captions “Placements with banks” and “Loans and advances to customers”.  After their initial recognition, loans 
and advances to customers are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less any provision 
for impairment.  The losses arising from impairment are recognised in the income statement in “Provisions for impairment of loans 
and advances”.
 
(viii) Available-for-sale investments
Available-for-sale investments are those which are designated as such or do not qualify to be classified as “Investments at fair value 
through profit or loss”, “Investments held-to-maturity” or “Loans and advances to customers”.  These investments can be sold in 
response to changes in market risks or liquidity requirements and include equity securities, debt securities and treasury bills. 
 
After initial measurement, available-for-sale investments are measured at fair value. Unrealised gains and losses from changes in 
fair value are recognised directly in equity in the “Revaluation reserve”.  When the investment is disposed of, the cumulative gain or 
loss previously recognised in equity is recognised in the income statement in “Net gains on sale, change in fair value and impairment 
of financial instruments”.  Where the Group holds more than one investment in the same security, they are deemed to be disposed of 
on a weighted average cost basis. Interest income from available-for-sale debt securities and treasury bills is recorded as “Interest 
income” using the effective interest rate method.  Dividend income from available-for-sale equity securities is recognised in the 
income statement in “Other income” when the right to receive payment has been established.  Impairment losses on available-for-
sale investments are recognised in the income statement in “Net gains on sale, change in fair value and impairment of financial 
instruments”.

(ix) Subordinated loan stock and debt securities in issue
Subordinated loan stock and debt securities in issue are initially measured at the fair value of the consideration received, net of any 
issue costs.  They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, in order to amortise the 
difference between the cost at inception and the redemption value, over the period to the earliest date that the Company has the right 
to redeem the subordinated loan stock and the debt securities in issue.

Debt instruments issued by the Company and held by the Group for trading purposes are treated as redemptions.  Gains or losses 
on redemption are recognised if the repurchase price of the debt instrument was different from its carrying value at the date of 
repurchase.  Subsequent sales of own debt instruments in the market are treated as debt re-issuance.
 
Interest on subordinated loan stock and debt securities in issue is included in “Interest expense” in the income statement.

16. DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 
(i) Financial assets 
A financial asset is derecognised when: (a) the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired, or (b) the Group has 
transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full to 
a third party and has: either (a) transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor 
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

(ii) Financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires.

17. IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial 
assets is impaired.  A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result 
of one or more events that have occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred “loss event”) and that loss event (or 
events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets, that can be reliably 
estimated.  Objective evidence of impairment may include indications that the borrower or group of borrowers is experiencing 
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that the borrower might be 
declared bankrupt or proceed with a financial restructuring and where observable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease 
in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or the economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

(i) Loans and advances to customers
For loans and advances to customers carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses individually whether objective evidence of 
impairment exists for loans and advances that are individually significant.  Furthermore, a collective impairment assessment is made 
for loans and advances that are not individually significant and for losses that have been incurred but are not yet identified relating to 
loans and advances that have been assessed individually and for which no provision has been made. 

The collectability of individually significant loans and advances is evaluated based on the customer’s overall financial condition, 
resources and payment record, the prospect of support from creditworthy guarantors and the realisable value of any collateral.
 

15. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
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17. IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)
(i) Loans and advances to customers (continued)
There is objective evidence that a loan is impaired when it is probable that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due 
according to the original contract terms, unless such loans are secured or other factors exist whereby the Group expects that all 
amounts due will be collected. 

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference 
between the carrying amount of the loan and the present value of the estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses 
not yet incurred) including the cash flows which may arise from guarantees and tangible collateral, irrespective of the outcome 
of foreclosure.  The carrying amount of the loan is reduced through the use of a provision account and the amount of the loss 
is recognised in the income statement.  Loans together with the associated provisions are written off when there is no realistic 
prospect of future recovery.  Loans are monitored continuously and are reviewed for impairment every six months.  If, in a 
subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment loss decreases and the decrease is due to an event occurring after the 
impairment was recognised, when the creditworthiness of the customer has improved to such an extent that there is reasonable 
assurance that all or part of the principal and interest according to the original contract terms of the loan will be collected timely, 
the previously recognised impairment loss is reduced by adjusting the impairment provision account.  If a previously written-off loan 
is subsequently recovered, any amounts previously charged are credited to “Provisions for impairment of loans and advances” in the 
income statement.

The present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted using the loan’s original effective interest rate.  If a loan bears 
a variable interest rate, the discount rate used for measuring any impairment loss is the current reference rate plus the margin 
specified in the initial contract.  

For the purposes of a collective evaluation of impairment, loans are grouped based on similar credit risk characteristics taking into 
account the type of the loan and the industry, geographic location, collateral type, past-due amounts and other relevant factors.

Future cash flows for a group of loans and advances that are collectively evaluated for impairment are estimated on the basis of 
historical loss experience for loans with similar credit risk characteristics to those of the group.  Historical loss experience is 
adjusted on the basis of current observable data to reflect the impact of current conditions that did not affect the period on which 
the historical loss experience is based and to remove the impact of conditions in the historical period that do not currently exist.  The 
methodology and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss 
estimates and actual loss experience.
 
(ii) Held-to-maturity investments
For held-to-maturity investments, the Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence of impairment. 
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses not yet 
incurred).  The carrying amount of the asset is reduced and the amount of the loss is recognised in “Net gains on sale, change in fair 
value and impairment of financial instruments” in the income statement.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment loss decreases because of an event occurring after the 
impairment was recognised, the impairment loss previously recognised is reversed and the reversal is credited to the “Net gains on 
sale, change in fair value and impairment of financial instruments” in the income statement.
 
(iii) Available-for-sale investments
For available-for-sale investments, the Group assesses whether there is objective evidence of impairment at each balance sheet 
date.
 
In the case of equity securities classified as available-for-sale, objective evidence would include a significant or prolonged decrease 
in the fair value of the investment below cost.  Where there is evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss – measured as the 
difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously recognised 
in the income statement – is deducted from the “Revaluation reserve” and recognised in “Net gains on sale, change in fair value and 
impairment of financial instruments” in the income statement.  Impairment losses on equity securities are not reversed through the 
income statement.  Increases in their fair value after impairment are recognised in the “Revaluation reserve” in equity.

In the case of debt securities and treasury bills classified as available-for-sale, impairment is assessed based on the same criteria 
applicable to financial assets carried at amortised cost.  If, in a subsequent period, the impairment loss decreases and the decrease 
can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, the impairment loss previously recognised 
is reversed through “Net gains on sale, change in fair value and impairment of financial instruments” in the income statement.
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18. HEDGE ACCOUNTING
The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge exposures to interest rate and foreign exchange risks. The Group applies 
hedge accounting for transactions which meet the specified criteria.

At inception of the hedging relationship, the Group formally documents the relationship between the hedged item and the hedging 
instrument, including the nature of the risk and the objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge.  The method that will be used 
to assess the effectiveness of the hedging relationship forms part of the Group’s documentation.
 
At inception of the hedging relationship, a formal assessment is also undertaken to ensure that the hedging relationship is highly 
effective regarding the offsetting of the changes in fair value or the cash flows attributable to the hedged risk.  A hedge is regarded 
as highly effective if the changes in fair value or cash flows attributable to the hedged risk of the hedging instrument and the hedged 
item during the period for which the hedge is designated, are expected to offset in a range of 80% to 125%.  In the case of cash flow 
hedges where the hedged item is a forecast transaction, the Group assesses whether the transaction is highly probable and presents 
an exposure to variations in cash flows that could ultimately affect the income statement.

(i) Fair value hedges
In the case of fair value hedges that meet the criteria, the change in the fair value of a hedging instrument is recognised in the 
income statement in “Net gains on sale, change in fair value and impairment of financial instruments”.  The change in the fair value 
of the hedged item attributable to the risk hedged is recorded as part of the carrying value of the hedged item and is also recognised 
in the income statement in “Net gains on sale, change in fair value and impairment of financial instruments”.

If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or where the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge 
accounting, the hedging relationship is terminated.
 
For hedged items recorded at amortised cost, the difference between the carrying value of the hedged item on termination and the 
face value is amortised over the remaining term of the original hedge.  If the hedged item is derecognised, the unamortised fair value 
adjustment is recognised immediately in the income statement.

(ii) Cash flow hedges
In the case of cash flow hedges that meet the criteria, the effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is 
recognised directly in equity in the “Cash flow hedge reserve”.  The ineffective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument 
is recognised in “Net gains on sale, change in fair value and impairment of financial instruments” in the income statement.

When the hedged cash flows affect the income statement, the gain or loss previously recognised in the “Cash flow hedge reserve” is 
transferred to the income statement.

(iii) Hedge of a net investment 
Hedges of net investments in overseas branches or subsidiaries are accounted for in a way similar to cash flow hedges.  Gains or 
losses on the hedging instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge are recognised directly in equity while gains or losses 
relating to the ineffective portion are recognised in “Foreign exchange income” in the income statement.

On disposal of the overseas branch or subsidiary, the cumulative gains or losses recognised directly in equity are recognised in 
“Foreign exchange income” in the income statement.

19. OFFSETTING FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet if there is a currently 
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and 
settle the liability simultaneously. 

20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of the cash flow statement consist of cash, non-obligatory balances with central banks, 
placements with banks and other securities that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash or are repayable within three 
months of the date of their acquisition.

21. INSURANCE BUSINESS
The Group undertakes both life insurance and general insurance business and issues only insurance contracts.  An insurance 
contract is a contract under which one party (the insurer) accepts significant insurance risk from another party (the policyholder) by 
agreeing to compensate the policyholder if a specified uncertain future event (the insured event) adversely affects the policyholder.
 
Once a contract has been classified as an insurance contract, it remains an insurance contract until expiry or until all of the rights 
and obligations under the contract have been fulfilled, even if the insurance risk has been significantly reduced during its term.

(i) Life insurance business
Premium income from unit-linked insurance contracts is recognised when received and when the units have been allocated to 
policyholders.  Premium income from non-linked insurance contracts is recognised when due, in accordance with the terms of the 
relevant insurance contracts.
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Fees and other expenses chargeable to the long-term assurance funds in accordance with the terms of the relevant insurance 
contracts, as well as the cost of death cover, are recognised in a manner consistent with the recognition of the relevant insurance 
premiums. 

Claims are recorded as an expense when they are incurred.  Life insurance contract liabilities are determined on the basis of an 
actuarial valuation and for unit-linked insurance contracts they include the fair value of units allocated to policyholders on a contract 
by contract basis.

(ii) In-force business
The Group recognises as an intangible asset the value of in-force business in respect of life insurance contracts.  The asset 
represents the present value of the shareholders’ interest in the profits expected to emerge from those contracts written at the 
balance sheet date, using appropriate economic and actuarial assumptions, similar to the calculation of the respective life insurance 
contract liabilities.  The change in the present value is determined on a post-tax basis.  For presentation purposes, the change in 
value is grossed up at the underlying rate of tax.

(iii) General insurance business 
Premiums are recognised in the income statement in the period in which insurance cover is provided.  Unearned premiums relating 
to the period of risk after the balance sheet date are deferred to subsequent reporting periods.
 
Provision is made for the estimated cost of claims reported but not settled and claims incurred but not reported at the balance sheet 
date.  The provision for the cost of claims reported but not settled is made on a case by case basis after taking into consideration all 
known facts, the cost of claims that have recently been settled and assumptions regarding the future development of outstanding 
cases.  Similar statistical techniques are used to determine the provision for claims incurred but not reported at the balance sheet 
date.

(iv) Liability adequacy test
At each balance sheet date, liability adequacy tests are performed to ensure the adequacy of insurance contract liabilities.  In 
performing these tests, current best estimates of discounted future contractual cash flows and claims, expenses and investment 
returns are used.  Any deficiency is charged to the income statement.
 
22. REPURCHASE AGREEMENTS 
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase at a specific future date (“repos”) are not derecognised from the balance sheet.  The 
corresponding cash received, including accrued interest, is recognised on the balance sheet as “Repurchase agreements”, reflecting 
its economic substance as a loan to the Company.  The difference between the sale price and repurchase price is treated as interest 
expense and is accrued over the life of the agreement using the effective interest rate method.  The repos relate to agreements with 
central and other banks.

23. FINANCE LEASES – THE GROUP AS LESSOR
Finance leases, where the Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the leased item to the 
lessee, are included in “Loans and advances to customers”.  A receivable is recognised over the lease period of an amount equal 
to the present value of the lease payments using the implicit rate of interest and including any guaranteed residual value.  Finance 
income is recognised in “Interest income” in the income statement. 

24. OPERATING LEASES – THE GROUP AS LESSEE
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the income statement on a straight line basis over the lease term in 
“Other operating expenses”.

25. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 
Owner-occupied property is property held by the Group for use in the supply of services or for administrative purposes.  Investment 
property is property held by the Group to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation.  If a property of the Group includes a portion 
that is owner-occupied and another portion that is held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation, the classification is based on 
whether or not these portions can be sold separately.  Otherwise, the whole property is classified as owner-occupied property 
unless the owner-occupied portion is insignificant.  The classification of property is reviewed on a regular basis to account for major 
changes in its use.
 
Owner-occupied property is originally measured at cost and subsequently measured at fair value less accumulated depreciation.  
Valuations are carried out periodically by independent qualified valuers on the basis of current market values.  Depreciation is 
calculated on the revalued amount less the estimated residual value of each building on a straight line basis over its estimated 
useful life.  Useful lives are in the range of 35 to 67 years.  On disposal of freehold land and buildings, the relevant “Revaluation 
reserve” balance is transferred to “Retained earnings”.
 
The cost of adapting/improving leasehold property is amortised over 5 years or over the period of the lease if this does not exceed 5 
years.

21. INSURANCE BUSINESS (continued)
(i) Life insurance business (continued)
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Equipment is measured at cost less accumulated depreciation.  Depreciation of equipment is calculated on a straight line basis over 
its estimated useful life of 5 to 10 years.  

At the balance sheet date, the carrying value of equipment is reviewed for evidence of impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recovered.  Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying 
amount, equipment is written down to its recoverable amount.

26. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment 
properties are measured at fair value, as at the balance sheet date.  Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of 
investment properties are included in the income statement.  Valuations are carried out by independent qualified valuers on the basis 
of current market values.
 
The “Property revaluation reserve” includes revaluation of property initially used by the Group for its operations and subsequently 
transferred to “Investment properties”.
 
The Group in its normal course of business, acquires properties in debt satisfaction, which are held either directly or by entities set 
up and controlled by the Group for the sole purpose of managing these properties.  These properties are recognised in the Group’s 
financial statements as investment properties, reflecting the substance of these transactions.  

27. STOCK OF PROPERTY HELD FOR SALE
Stock of property held for sale is measured at the lower of cost or net realisable value.

28. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of the acquisition over the net fair value of the Group’s share of identifiable assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquired entity at the date of acquisition.  After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at 
cost less any impairment loss.  Goodwill is reviewed for impairment on an annual basis as at 31 December or earlier when events or 
changes in circumstances indicate a possible impairment.
 
Licence fees, acquired insurance portfolio customer lists and computer software programmes are measured at cost less 
accumulated amortisation.  Amortisation is calculated on a straight line basis over the estimated useful life of the assets which is 10 
years for licence fees, 3 years for acquired insurance portfolio customer lists and 3 to 5 years for computer software programmes.

At each balance sheet date, licence fees, acquired insurance portfolio customer lists and computer software programmes are 
reviewed for impairment when events relating to changes to circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.  
If the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount then the licence fees, the acquired customer lists and the computer software 
programmes are written down to their recoverable amount.

29. SHARE CAPITAL
Any difference between the issue price of share capital and the nominal value is recognised as share premium.  The costs incurred 
attributable to the issue of share capital are deducted from equity.

30. PROVISIONS FOR PENDING LITIGATION OR CLAIMS
Provisions for pending litigation or claims against the Group are made when: (a) there is a present obligation (legal or constructive) 
arising from past events, (b) the settlement of the obligation is expected to result in an outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits, and (c) a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.
 
31. FINANCIAL GUARANTEES
The Group issues financial guarantees to its customers, consisting of letters of credit, guarantees and acceptances. Financial 
guarantees are initially recognised in the financial statements at fair value, in “Other liabilities”. Subsequently, the Group’s liability 
under each guarantee is measured at the higher of: (a) the amount initially recognised reduced by the cumulative amortised 
premium which is periodically recognised in the income statement in “Fee and commission income” in accordance with the terms 
of the guarantee, and (b) the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle any financial obligation arising as a result of the 
guarantee.
 
Any increase in the liability relating to financial guarantees is recognised in the income statement in “Provisions for impairment 
of loans and advances”.  The balance of the liability for financial guarantees that remains is recognised in “Fee and commission 
income” in the income statement when the guarantee is fulfilled, cancelled or expires. 

32. COMPARATIVE INFORMATION
Reclassifications to comparative information were made to conform to changes in the presentation in the current year.  Such 
reclassifications relate mainly to the presentation of the Group’s insurance operations and to facilitate disclosures required by IFRS 7 
which has been adopted as of 1 January 2007.  These reclassifications had no impact on profit after tax or the equity of the Group.

25. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
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1. CORPORATE INFORMATION
The consolidated financial statements of Bank of Cyprus Public Company Ltd for the year ended 31 December 2007 were authorised 
for issue by a resolution of the Board of Directors on 27 February 2008.

Bank of Cyprus Public Company Ltd is the holding company of the Bank of Cyprus Group.  The principal activities of the Company 
and its subsidiary companies during the year continued to be the provision of banking and financial services, insurance business and 
property and hotel business.

The Company was incorporated as a limited liability company in 1930 and is a public company under the Cyprus Companies Law, the 
Cyprus Stock Exchange Laws and Regulations and the Income Tax Law of Cyprus.

2. SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS
The Group has three principal business segments: banking and financial services, life and general insurance business and property 
and hotel business. 

The Group’s business is mainly conducted in three geographic segments: (a) Cyprus, (b) Greece, and (c) other countries, principally 
the United Kingdom, Australia, Romania and Russia. 

Share of profit of associates is included in the banking and financial services segment in Cyprus.

Generally, pricing between the different segments is based on market rates.  The analysis by geographic segment is based on the 
location of the entity recording the transaction. 

Even though the activities of some of the Group entities are interdependent, the analyses by business activity and geographic 
segment are presented without adjustments for the cost of the net investment, the allocation of the benefit of earnings on the 
Group’s capital and of Group head office expenses, as such adjustments are subjective.

The primary reporting format is by business segment.

 Banking and  Insurance Property and  Total
 financial business hotel 
 services  business

2007 C£000 C£000 C£000 C£000 

Turnover  1.170.883 88.643 10.899 1.270.425

Profit before tax 306.019 26.525 8.298 340.842

Assets 18.138.346 445.221 32.516 18.616.083

Inter-segment assets    (25.914 )

Total assets    18.590.169

Liabilities 17.040.900 374.447 8.785 17.424.132

Inter-segment liabilities    (7.548 )

Total liabilities    17.416.584

Capital expenditure 24.591 680 81 25.352

Depreciation and amortisation 17.216 751 174 18.141

Business segments
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 Banking and  Insurance Property and  Total
 financial business hotel 
 services  business

2006 C£000 C£000 C£000 C£000 

Turnover  884.363 77.057 12.870 974.290

Profit before tax 202.608 17.366 4.549 224.523

Assets 14.158.364 400.851 34.669 14.593.884

Inter-segment assets    (22.457 )

Total assets    14.571.427

Liabilities 13.321.457 342.199 12.030 13.675.686

Inter-segment liabilities    (8.880 )

Total liabilities    13.666.806

Capital expenditure 13.728 292 54 14.074

Depreciation and amortisation 17.833 743 154 18.730

2. SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS (continued)
Business segments (continued)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 Cyprus  Greece  Other countries  Total

2007 C£000  C£000  C£000  C£000 

Turnover 829.017  408.940  107.331  1.345.288

Inter-segment turnover, mainly interest (11.380 ) (52.185 ) (11.298 ) (74.863 )

Turnover with third parties 817.637  356.755  96.033  1.270.425

Assets 11.261.101  7.175.249  1.456.284  19.892.634

Inter-segment assets       (1.302.465 )

Total assets       18.590.169

Capital expenditure 6.650  15.116  3.586  25.352

2006    

Turnover 659.382  292.656  67.241  1.019.279

Inter-segment turnover, mainly interest (13.576 ) (23.214 ) (8.199 ) (44.989 )

Turnover with third parties 645.806  269.442  59.042  974.290

Assets 8.629.236  5.718.673  1.279.567  15.627.476

Inter-segment assets       (1.056.049 )

Total assets       14.571.427

Capital expenditure 5.578  7.294  1.202  14.074

Geographic segments
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3. INTEREST INCOME

 2007 2006 
 C£000 C£000 

Loans and advances to customers 674.252 494.236

Placements with banks and central banks 166.573 128.664

Investments available-for-sale 98.966 85.893

Investments held-to-maturity 3.743 115

 943.534 708.908

Trading investments  6.798 5.407

Derivatives 57.160 36.852

Other investments at fair value through profit or loss 4.340 1.070

 1.011.832 752.237

Interest income from loans and advances to customers includes C£17.446 thousand (2006: C£18.561 thousand) of interest income 
accrued on impaired loans and advances.

4. INTEREST EXPENSE

 2007 2006 
 C£000 C£000 

Customer deposits 471.432 320.317

Amounts due to banks, including repurchase agreements 3.743 7.442

Debt securities in issue 32.854 15.364

Subordinated loan stock  14.459 16.886

 522.488 360.009

Derivatives 48.996 33.599

 571.484 393.608

5. FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME AND EXPENSE
Fee and commission income

 2007 2006 
 C£000 C£000 

Credit related fees and commissions 54.141 50.624

Other banking commissions  57.491 47.835

Mutual funds and other management fees  5.771 4.471

Brokerage commissions 5.434 4.098

Other commissions 365 331

 123.202 107.359
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Mutual funds and other management fees include C£5.281 thousand (2006: C£4.010 thousand) of income relating to fiduciary activities.

Fee and commission expense

5. FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME AND EXPENSE (continued)

 2007 2006 
 C£000 C£000 

Banking commissions  6.962 6.147

Mutual funds and other management fees  148 8

Brokerage commissions 136 93

 7.246 6.248

6. NET GAINS ON SALE, CHANGE IN FAIR VALUE AND IMPAIRMENT 
 OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

 2007  2006  

 C£000  C£000  

Trading portfolio  

- equity securities 4.792  1.487

- debt securities (1.939 ) (2.949 )

- derivatives 8.009  8.765

Other investments at fair value through profit or loss   

- equity securities 1.560  (3.453 )

- debt securities (1.760 ) (153 )

Disposal gains from available for-sale-investments  

- equity securities 8.667  7.194

- debt securities 2.472  4.595

Impairment of available-for-sale debt securities (Note 19) (5.048 ) -

Change in fair value of financial instruments designated as fair value hedges  

- hedging instruments 9.495  (7.492 )

- hedged items (9.246 ) 6.985

 17.002  14.979

7. INSURANCE INCOME AND CLAIMS

 2007 2006

 Income  Claims  Income  Claims  
 C£000  C£000  C£000  C£000 

Life insurance business 79.961  (59.602 ) 102.853  (87.183 )

General insurance business 22.360  (9.680 ) 20.211  (9.479 )

 102.321  (69.282 ) 123.064  (96.662 )
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7. INSURANCE INCOME AND CLAIMS (continued)

 2007 2006
 Life General Life General
 insurance insurance insurance insurance

Income C£000 C£000 C£000 C£000

Gross premiums 53.442  35.201  46.027  31.030

Reinsurance premiums (6.583 ) (17.633 ) (5.394 ) (15.696 )

Net premiums 46.859  17.568  40.633  15.334

Change in provision for unearned premiums  -  (1.025 ) -  (303 )

Total net earned premiums  46.859  16.543  40.633  15.031

Income and gains from life insurance assets 
attributable to policyholders 23.293  22  55.568  11

Commissions from reinsurers and other income 2.957  5.795  2.096  5.169

 73.109  22.360  98.297  20.211

Change in value of in-force business 
before tax (Note 21) 6.852  -  4.556  -

 79.961  22.360  102.853  20.211

 2007 2006
 Life General Life General
 insurance insurance insurance insurance

Claims  C£000  C£000  C£000  C£000 

Gross payments to policyholders (31.439 ) (9.653 ) (27.268 ) (15.351 )

Reinsurers’ share of payments to policyholders 2.442  3.102  2.048  9.092

Gross change in insurance contract liabilities (23.589 ) (1.332 ) (56.947 ) (22 )

Reinsurers’ share of change in insurance 
contract liabilities  887  279  1.305  (1.308 )

Commissions paid to agents and other direct 
selling costs (7.903 ) (2.076 ) (6.321 ) (1.890 )

 (59.602 ) (9.680 ) (87.183 ) (9.479 )
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Other insurance income and expense items
The following insurance income and expense items were recognised in the relevant captions of the consolidated income statement:

 2007 2006

 Life  General  Life  General   
 insurance   insurance  insurance  insurance  

 C£000  C£000  C£000  C£000 

Income from assets of the general insurance
business and non-linked life insurance business 113  1.013  104  694

Net gains on sale and change in fair value of 
financial assets and other income of the general 
insurance business and non-linked life insurance 
business 2.592  2.448  366  768

Staff costs (3.611 ) (4.721 ) (3.027 ) (4.108 )

Other operating expenses (2.400 ) (1.933 ) (2.030 ) (1.803 )

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

7. INSURANCE INCOME AND CLAIMS (continued)

8. OTHER INCOME
 2007 2006 

 C£000 C£000 

Dividend income from equity securities 2.704 999

Profit on disposal of stock of property held for sale 7.980 4.302

Profit on disposal of property and equipment and write off of intangible assets 125 315

Rental income from investment properties 186 512

Gains from change in fair value of investment properties 3.628 412

Negative goodwill on acquisition of subsidiary (Note 45) 1.943 -

Other income 2.381 2.179

 18.947 8.719

9. STAFF COSTS 2007 2006 

 C£000 C£000

Salaries  134.826 115.081

Employer’s contributions 22.603 18.283

Retirement benefit plan costs 13.393 20.254

Cost of equity-settled share-based payments (Note 28) 2.183 2.265

 173.005 155.883
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9. STAFF COSTS (continued)
The number of persons employed by the Group as at 31 December 2007 was 6.909 (2006: 6.192).
 
Retirement benefit plan costs 

 2007 2006 

 C£000 C£000 

Defined benefit plans  10.553 17.245

Defined contribution plans  989 775

Early retirement plans 1.851 2.234

 13.393 20.254

The Group operates several retirement benefit plans covering substantially all its employees.  The majority of the plans are funded.

Cyprus
The main retirement plan for the Group’s permanent employees in Cyprus covers 45,5% of total Group employees and is a defined 
benefit plan.  The plan provides for a lump sum payment on retirement or death in service of up to 78 final average monthly salaries 
depending on the length of service.  A small number of employees who do not participate in the main retirement plan, are members 
of a pension scheme that is closed to new entrants and may receive part or all of their retirement benefit entitlement by way of a 
pension for life.  The plans are managed by Administrative Committees which comprise of representatives of both the employees and 
the employer.

The present value of the defined benefit obligations of the main retirement plans is estimated annually using the Projected Unit 
Credit Method of actuarial valuation, carried out by independent actuaries.  The principal actuarial assumptions used for the 
valuations were as follows:

 2007 2006 

Discount rate 5,25% 4,75%

Expected rate of return on plan assets 7,29% 6,00%

Future salary increases 6,50% 6,50%

Greece
The Group’s employees in Greece (43,5% of total Group employees) are covered by two defined benefit plans and a defined 
contribution plan.

All employees are entitled by law to a compensation in case of dismissal or a lump sum payment upon normal retirement, under a 
defined benefit plan, at rates specified in the legislation.  All the benefits paid from statutory retirement indemnities are payable from 
the Company’s assets because these plans are unfunded.

In addition, a number of employees recruited up to 31 December 2002 (15,4% of total Group personnel) participate in a defined 
benefit plan which provides for the payment of a lump sum on retirement of up to approximately 50 monthly salaries depending on 
the length of service.     

The present value of the defined benefit obligations under the two defined benefit plans in Greece is estimated annually using the 
Projected Unit Credit Method of actuarial valuation, carried out by independent actuaries. The principal actuarial assumptions used 
for the valuations were as follows:

 2007 2006 

Discount rate 5,25% 4,06%

Expected rate of return on plan assets 6,20% 4,06%

Future salary increases 5,00% 5,00%

The third plan applies to employees recruited after 31 December 2002 and is a defined contribution plan.
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9. STAFF COSTS (continued)
Retirement benefit plan costs (continued)

 2007 2006 

Discount rate 5,75% 4,90%

Expected rate of return on plan assets 7,60% 7,40%

Future salary increases 5,00% 5,00%

The second plan applies to employees recruited after 31 March 2003 and is a defined contribution plan.
 
Other countries
The terms of the retirement plans of employees in other countries reflect the economic conditions prevailing in these countries.
 
Analysis of the results of the actuarial valuations for the Group’s defined benefit plans
The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are shown below:

 2007  2006

 C£000  C£000  

Net present value of funded obligations 290.236  298.530

Fair value of plan assets (411.158 ) (345.871 )

 (120.922 ) (47.341 )

Net present value of unfunded obligations 3.169  2.424

Unrecognised past service cost  (620 ) -

Unrecognised net actuarial gains 116.646  48.158

Amount not recognised as an asset because of the asset 
restriction requirement 3.890  -

Net liability of retirement benefit plans recognised in the balance sheet  2.163  3.241

 

Amounts recognised in the balance sheet   

Liabilities (Note 26) 3.559  3.241

Assets (Note 22) (1.396 ) -

 2.163  3.241

United Kingdom
The Group’s employees in the United Kingdom (3,1% of total Group employees) are covered by a defined benefit plan and a defined 
contribution plan.

A number of employees recruited up to 31 March 2003 (1,8% of total Group employees) participate in a defined benefit plan which 
provides for the payment of a pension for life, based on the final employee salary prior to retirement and the years of service.  

The present value of the defined benefit obligations for the defined benefit plan in the United Kingdom is estimated annually using 
the Projected Unit Credit Method of actuarial valuation, carried out by independent actuaries.  The principal actuarial assumptions 
used for the valuation were as follows:
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The movement in the net present value of obligations is set out below:

9. STAFF COSTS (continued)
Retirement benefit plan costs (continued)
Analysis of the results of the actuarial valuations for the Group’s defined benefit plans (continued)

 2007  2006

 C£000  C£000  

At 1 January 300.954  264.696

Current service cost 15.613  14.285

Interest expense on obligations 14.410  13.291

Actuarial (gains)/losses (28.201 ) 14.240

Past service cost 667  -

Benefits paid from the plans (7.771 ) (6.926 )

Benefits paid directly by the Group (189 ) -

Contributions by plan participants  206  170

Terminations  137  -

Exchange differences from overseas plans (2.421 ) 1.198

At 31 December 293.405  300.954

The changes in the fair value of plan assets are set out below: 

 2007  2006

 C£000  C£000  

At 1 January 345.871  193.628

Expected rate of return on plan assets 20.634  11.856

Actuarial gains  42.946  128.698

Employer’s contributions  11.397  17.516

Contributions by plan participants  206  170

Benefits paid from the plans (7.771 ) (6.926 )

Exchange differences from overseas plans (2.125 ) 929

At 31 December 411.158  345.871

The actual return on plan assets for 2007 was C£63.580 thousand (2006: C£140.554 thousand).
 
The major categories of plan assets as a percentage of total plan assets are as follows:

 2007  2006

Equity securities 75%  73%

Debt securities 17%  17%

Placements with banks   6%  8%

Other plan assets 2%  2%

 100%  100%
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9. STAFF COSTS (continued)
Retirement benefit plan costs (continued)
Analysis of the results of the actuarial valuations for the Group’s defined benefit plans (continued)
The assets held by the funded plans include securities issued by the Company, the fair value of which is:

 2007  2006

 C£000  C£000

Equity securities 282.349  226.962

Debt securities 23.422  12.822

 305.771  239.784

The components of the expense recognised in the income statement in relation to the defined benefit plans are as follows:

 2007  2006

 C£000  C£000  

Current service cost 15.613  14.285

Interest expense on obligations 14.410  13.291

Expected return on plan assets (20.634 ) (11.856 )

Amortisation of actuarial (gains)/losses  (2.914 ) 1.525

Amortisation of past service cost 51  -

Effect of terminations 137  -

Effect of restriction on asset recognition  3.890  -

 10.553  17.245

Experience adjustments and their effect on the net present value of obligations and the fair value of plan assets are as follows:

 2007  2006  2005

 C£000  C£000  C£000  

Net present value of obligations (293.405 ) (300.954 ) (264.696 )

Fair value of plan assets 411.158  345.871  193.628

Surplus/(deficit) 117.753  44.917  (71.068 )

Experience adjustments to obligations (2.075 ) (4.348 ) 2.116

Experience adjustments to plan assets 42.946  128.698  42.375

Principal actuarial assumptions used in the actuarial valuations 
The discount rate used in the actuarial valuations reflects the rate at which liabilities could effectively be settled and is set by 
reference to market yields at the balance sheet date in high quality corporate bonds of suitable term and currency.  For the 
Group’s plans in the Eurozone (Cyprus and Greece) which comprise 91% of the defined benefit obligations, the Group considers the 
international index iBoxx Euro Corporates AA 10+ Bond Index and for the United Kingdom, the iBoxx Sterling Corporates AA 15+ 
Bond Index.

To develop the assumptions relating to the expected rates of return on plan assets, the Group, in consultation with its advisers, uses 
forward-looking assumptions for each asset class reflecting market conditions and future expectations at the balance sheet date.  
Adjustments are made annually to the expected rate of return assumption based upon revised expectations of future investment 
performance of asset classes, changes to local laws that may affect investment strategy as well as changes to the target strategic 
asset allocation.
 
Medical plan costs
The main medical plans operated by the Group cover almost all of its active employees.
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  2007  2006

  C£000  C£000  

Interfund Investments Plc  

- share of profit (Note 46) 2.289  -

- negative goodwill on acquisition (Note 46) 633  -

Cytrustees Investment Public Company Ltd  

- share of profit 248  -

- negative goodwill on acquisition (Note 45) 2.184  -

  5.354  -

Cytrustees Investment Public Company Ltd became a subsidiary in April 2007 (Note 45).

10. SHARE OF PROFIT OF ASSOCIATES

  2007  2006

  C£000  C£000  

Operating lease rentals for land and buildings 11.121  8.736

Depreciation of property and equipment 13.743  13.912

Impairment of property and equipment  651  -

Amortisation of intangible assets 4.398  4.818

Auditors’ remuneration 605  453

All of the above are included in “Other operating expenses”.

11. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 

12. TAXATION

  2007  2006

  C£000  C£000  

Current tax  

- Cyprus 27.888  17.062

- overseas 14.869  14.228

Cyprus defence contribution 137  325

Deferred tax 8.737  4.918

Prior years’ tax adjustments 2.123  2.010

One-off tax on reserves -  2.874

  53.754  41.417

Profit before tax is stated after charging the following:
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12. TAXATION (continued)

  2007  2006

  C£000  C£000  

Profit before tax 340.842  224.523

Tax at the normal tax rates in Cyprus 34.221  22.777

Tax effect of  

- expenses not deductible for tax purposes  5.346  3.893

- income not subject to tax (2.620 ) (1.379 )

- difference between overseas tax rates and Cyprus tax rates 14.684  11.242

  51.631  36.533

Prior years’ tax adjustments 2.123  2.010

One-off tax on reserves -  2.874

  53.754  41.417

Corporation tax in Cyprus is calculated at the rate of 10% on taxable income.  For life insurance business there is a minimum tax 
charge of 1,5% on gross premiums.  Defence contribution is payable on rental income at a rate of 3% and on interest income from 
activities outside the ordinary course of business at a rate of 10%.  

The profits of the Group’s overseas operations are taxed at the rates prevailing at the respective countries, which for 2007 were: 
Greece 25% (2006: 29%), United Kingdom 30% (2006: 30%), Australia 30% (2006: 30%), Romania 16% and Russia 24%.

At 31 December 2007 the accumulated tax losses of subsidiary companies amounted to C£6.151 thousand (2006: C£5.385 thousand), 
of which C£3.306 thousand can be carried forward indefinitely and C£2.845 thousand expire within five to ten years.  The tax losses as 
at 31 December 2006 were partly utilised against the taxable profits of year 2007.  It is expected that the remaining tax losses will be 
utilised against future taxable profits. 

The one-off tax on reserves in 2006 related to the tax imposed on the untaxed and special taxable reserves of the Company’s branch 
in Greece as at 31 December 2005, following an amendment of the relevant legislation, at a rate of 15%.  Following the imposition of 
this tax, these reserves are free for distribution without any additional tax charge. 

In case of distribution of the undistributed reserves of the Company’s overseas branches and subsidiaries, additional tax of around 
C£1,5 million (2006: C£1,2 million) would arise, for which no deferred tax liability has been recognised.

Deferred tax asset
The deferred tax asset comprises of:

  2007  2006

  C£000  C£000  

Difference between capital allowances and depreciation -  231

Property revaluation -  (116 )

Different tax treatment of finance leases 404  1.288

Unutilised tax losses carried forward  420  300

Other temporary differences  807  1.017

  1.631  2.720

The reconciliation between the tax expense and the profit before tax as estimated using the current tax rates is set out below:
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12. TAXATION (continued)
Deferred tax liability
The deferred tax liability comprises of:

  2007  2006

  C£000  C£000  

Difference between capital allowances and depreciation 4.810  4.096

Property revaluation 10.723  6.695

Investment revaluation (1.279 ) 207

Value of in-force life insurance policies 3.991  3.089

Provisions for impairment of loans and advances 7.538  882

Other temporary differences 814  (198 )

  26.597  14.771

13. BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE

  2007  2006

Profit after tax attributable to the shareholders of the Company (C£ thousand) 283.956  183.106

Weighted average number of shares in issue during the year, excluding 
shares of the Company held by subsidiaries and associates (thousand) 558.463  549.188

Basic earnings per share (cent) 50,8  33,3

Weighted average number of shares, adjusted for the exercise of share 
options, excluding shares of the Company held by subsidiaries and 
associates (thousand) 558.463  549.971

Diluted earnings per share (cent) 50,8  33,3

The Group issues share options to its employees, which constitute potentially dilutive ordinary shares.  The diluted earnings per 
share are calculated after adjusting the weighted average number of shares in issue during the year, under the assumption that all 
potentially dilutive ordinary shares are converted into shares by their holders. 

The weighted average number of shares for the year ended 31 December 2006 has been adjusted to reflect the bonus element of the 
shares issued under the Dividend Reinvestment Plan arising from the dividend payments in June and December 2007.

14. CASH, BALANCES WITH CENTRAL BANKS AND PLACEMENTS WITH BANKS

  2007  2006

  C£000  C£000  

Cash  262.468  79.701

Balances with central banks 513.132  604.648

  775.600  684.349

Placements with banks 3.604.332  2.496.297

Balances with central banks include obligatory deposits for liquidity purposes which amount to C£302.567 thousand (2006: C£245.799 
thousand).  

The analysis by rating agency designation of balances with central banks and placements with banks is set out in Note 38.  
Placements with banks earn interest which is based on the interbank rate of the relevant term and currency.
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15. INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

 Trading  Other investments Total
 investments at fair value
  through profit or
  loss

 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
 C£000 C£000 C£000 C£000 C£000 C£000 

Debt securities 159.276 158.334 106.975 65.188 266.251 223.522

Equity securities 35.577 3.357 1.650 9.713 37.227 13.070

Mutual funds 1.519 - - - 1.519 -

 196.372 161.691 108.625 74.901 304.997 236.592

Debt securities      

Cyprus government 147.902 149.153 91.133 56.157 239.035 205.310

Other governments - - 1.776 501 1.776 501

European banks and other organisations  11.097 8.750 14.066 8.530 25.163 17.280

Cyprus local authorities 277 279 - - 277 279

Cyprus public companies  - 152 - - - 152

 159.276 158.334 106.975 65.188 266.251 223.522

Listed on the Cyprus Stock Exchange 147.902 149.305 91.133 56.157 239.035 205.462

Listed on European stock exchanges 10.893 8.750 15.842 9.031 26.735 17.781

Unlisted certificates of deposit, bank and local 
authority bonds 481 279 - - 481 279

 159.276 158.334 106.975 65.188 266.251 223.522

Equity securities      

Listed on the Cyprus Stock Exchange 14.929 3.357 - - 14.929 3.357

Listed on European stock exchanges 20.487 - - - 20.487 -

Listed on US stock exchanges  157 - - - 157 -

Unlisted 4 - 1.650 9.713 1.654 9.713

 35.577 3.357 1.650 9.713 37.227 13.070

On 9 February 2007, the Group completed the sale of its shares in Universal Life Insurance Public Co. Ltd (amounting to 22% of the share capital of 
that company) for C£6,1 million.  The book value of the above shares at the date of disposal and at 31 December 2006 amounted to C£6,1 million.

Included in investments at fair value through profit or loss are C£202.238 thousand (2006: Nil) of debt securities pledged as collateral under 
repurchase agreements with central banks.
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16. LIFE INSURANCE BUSINESS ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO POLICYHOLDERS

  2007  2006

  C£000  C£000  

Equity securities 151.143  140.182

Debt securities 75.745  78.936

Property 4.628  1.703

Mortgages and other loans 2.996  3.466

Bank deposits 74.305  61.838

  308.817  286.125

Other assets  1.735  1.032

  310.552  287.157

All assets attributable to policyholders are measured at fair value and match the net life insurance contract liabilities.

17. LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS

  2007  2006

  C£000  C£000  

Loans and advances to customers 10.383.496  7.940.920

Hire purchase and finance lease debtors (Note 18) 1.029.305  911.438

Gross loans and advances to customers 11.412.801  8.852.358

Provisions for impairment of loans and advances (Note 38) (338.878 ) (461.708 )

  11.073.923  8.390.650

Additional analysis and information regarding credit risk and analysis of the provisions for impairment of loans and advances to 
customers are set out in Note 38.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

  2007  2006

  C£000  C£000  

Gross investment in hire purchase and finance lease contracts 1.408.658  1.184.389

Unearned finance income (379.353 ) (272.951 )

Present value of hire purchase and finance lease payments 1.029.305  911.438

Repayable  

Within one year 254.297  263.258

Between one and five years  516.037  546.382

After five years 638.324  374.749

Gross investment in hire purchase and finance lease contracts 1.408.658  1.184.389

Repayable  

Within one year 206.075  216.803

Between one and five years  389.010  410.246

After five years 434.220  284.389

Present value of hire purchase and finance lease payments 1.029.305  911.438

Analysis by geographical area  

Cyprus 234.569  218.763

Greece  1.160.496  965.626

Romania 13.593  -

Gross investment in hire purchase and finance lease contracts 1.408.658  1.184.389

Under hire purchase contracts, the hirer: (a) pays a nominal fee at the end of the hire purchase term in exchange for the right 
to purchase the goods, (b) makes monthly payments which include hire purchase fees on all the amounts outstanding and (c) is 
responsible for any loss or damage incurred to the goods concerned.

Under finance lease contracts the item belongs to the Group and is leased for a fixed period.  The lessee: (a) makes payments 
throughout the lease term covering the rentals and any other amounts that are payable under the terms of the contract, (b) 
undertakes to maintain the items in good condition and to compensate the Group for any damage or loss incurred and (c) upon expiry 
of the contract, can either return the items to the Group or continue to pay a nominal annual fee in exchange for the right to continue 
to use the items.
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19. INVESTMENTS AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE AND HELD-TO-MATURITY

 Available-for-sale Held-to-maturity Total

 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

 C£000 C£000 C£000 C£000 C£000 C£000 

Treasury bills - 41.563 - - - 41.563

Debt securities 1.958.470 2.029.509 73.421 2.594 2.031.891 2.032.103

Equity securities 45.039 37.022 - - 45.039 37.022

 2.003.509 2.108.094 73.421 2.594 2.076.930 2.110.688

Treasury bills      
Cyprus government - 41.563 - - - 41.563

Debt securities      
Cyprus government 256.213 295.428 1.421 - 257.634 295.428

Other governments  504.398 462.612 - - 504.398 462.612

Local authorities 771 942 637 - 1.408 942

Banks and other organisations 1.196.181 1.269.465 71.213 2.594 1.267.394 1.272.059

Cyprus public companies  907 1.062 150 - 1.057 1.062

 1.958.470 2.029.509 73.421 2.594 2.031.891 2.032.103

Listed on the Cyprus Stock Exchange 257.120 296.490 1.571 - 258.691 296.490

Listed on European or US/Canadian 
stock exchanges 1.700.281 1.731.776 71.213 2.594 1.771.494 1.734.370

Unlisted certificates of deposit, bank and 
local authority bonds  1.069 1.243 637 - 1.706 1.243

 1.958.470 2.029.509 73.421 2.594 2.031.891 2.032.103

Geographical dispersion by country of issuer      
Cyprus 258.189 297.733 2.208 - 260.397 297.733

Greece 292.848 228.395 - - 292.848 228.395

United Kingdom and Ireland 274.765 262.891 2.017 2.124 276.782 265.015

France 182.570 203.036 - - 182.570 203.036

Germany 118.574 168.000 239 263 118.813 168.263

Other European countries 343.894 410.907 55.236 207 399.130 411.114

U.S.A. and Canada 345.627 319.901 - - 345.627 319.901

Australia 88.836 116.834 - - 88.836 116.834

Other countries 7.939 8.774 13.721 - 21.660 8.774

Supranational organisations 45.228 13.038 - - 45.228 13.038

 1.958.470 2.029.509 73.421 2.594 2.031.891 2.032.103

Equity securities      
Listed on the Cyprus Stock Exchange 42.964 35.710 - - 42.964 35.710

Listed on European stock exchanges 1.116 915 - - 1.116 915

Unlisted 959 397 - - 959 397

 45.039 37.022 - - 45.039 37.022
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 19. INVESTMENTS AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE AND HELD-TO-MATURITY (continued)

 Treasury bills   Debt securities

 Available-for-sale  Available-for-sale  Held-to-maturity

2007 C£000  C£000  C£000

At 1 January  41.563  2.029.509  2.594

Acquisition of subsidiary company -  -  2.827

Exchange adjustments -  (59.624 ) (5.128 )

Additions -  675.283  71.638

Disposals -  (334.931 ) -

Redemptions (41.563 ) (331.230 ) (1.040 )

Losses from change in fair value -  (18.950 ) -

Amortisation of premiums/discounts  -  (1.587 ) 2.530

At 31 December  -  1.958.470  73.421

2006   

At 1 January  63.940  1.860.419  2.573

Exchange adjustments -  (40.870 ) 48

Additions 94.278  985.340  -

Disposals -  (539.842 ) -

Redemptions (117.410 ) (209.263 )                     -

Losses from change in fair value (175 ) (22.251 ) -

Amortisation of premiums/discounts  930  (4.024 ) (27 )

At 31 December  41.563  2.029.509  2.594

Treasury bills and debt securities
The movement in investments in treasury bills and debt securities is summarised below:

Included in available-for-sale debt securities are C£68.500 thousand (2006: Nil) of debt securities which have been determined to 
be individually impaired. An amount of C£5.048 thousand (2006: Nil) in respect of these securities has been transferred from the 
revaluation reserve to the income statement (Note 6).

Losses from change in fair value for 2007 include an amount of C£2.194 thousand (2006: loss of C£10.040 thousand) which relates 
to debt securities that are hedged items in fair value hedges, and is included in the income statement. The fair value of held-to-
maturity investments in debt securities at 31 December 2007 was C£69.997 thousand (2006: C£2.568 thousand).  

Included in available-for-sale debt securities are C£107.167 thousand (2006: Nil) of debt securities pledged as collateral under 
repurchase agreements with banks.
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 19. INVESTMENTS AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE AND HELD-TO-MATURITY (continued)

Equity securities available-for-sale
The movement for the year is summarised below:

  2007  2006

  C£000  C£000  

At 1 January  37.022  18.329

Acquisition of subsidiary company  77  -

Reversal of revaluation of investment upon becoming an  associate (43 ) -

Exchange adjustments (4 ) 2

Additions 4.042  793

Disposals (6.602 ) (5.443 )

Gains from change in fair value 10.547  23.341

At 31 December  45.039  37.022

20. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

 Property  Equipment  Total

2007 C£000  C£000  C£000

Net book value at 1 January 133.262  20.551  153.813

Exchange adjustments 274  (218 ) 56

Additions 13.578  7.308  20.886

Revaluation for the year 28.131  -  28.131

Impairment  (651 ) -  (651 )

Disposals and write-offs (1.190 ) (212 ) (1.402 )

Depreciation charge for the year (6.716 ) (7.027 ) (13.743 )

Net book value at 31 December 166.688  20.402  187.090

At 1 January 2007   

Cost or valuation  171.719  80.602  252.321

Accumulated depreciation (38.457 ) (60.051 ) (98.508 )

Net book value 133.262  20.551  153.813

At 31 December 2007   

Cost or valuation 207.595  85.860  293.455

Accumulated depreciation (40.907 ) (65.458 ) (106.365 )

Net book value 166.688  20.402  187.090
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20. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

 Property  Equipment  Total

2006 C£000  C£000  C£000

Net book value at 1 January 137.901  21.763  159.664

Exchange adjustments 499  117  616

Additions 3.897  6.005  9.902

Disposals and write-offs (1.996 ) (205 ) (2.201 )

Transfer to investment properties (256 ) -  (256 )

Depreciation charge for the year (6.783 ) (7.129 ) (13.912 )

Net book value at 31 December 133.262  20.551  153.813

At 1 January 2006   

Cost or valuation  169.464  75.513  244.977

Accumulated depreciation (31.563 ) (53.750 ) (85.313 )

Net book value 137.901  21.763  159.664

At 31 December 2006   

Cost or valuation 171.719  80.602  252.321

Accumulated depreciation (38.457 ) (60.051 ) (98.508 )

Net book value 133.262  20.551  153.813

The net book value of the Group’s property comprises of:

  2007  2006

 C£000  C£000 

Freehold property 153.864  119.728

Improvements on leasehold property 12.824  13.534

 166.688  133.262

Property includes land amounting to C£61.181 thousand (2006: C£48.921 thousand) for which no depreciation is charged.  The 
freehold property of the Group was revalued at 30 June 2007 by independent qualified valuers, on the basis of market value, using 
observable prices and recent market transactions.  The total revaluation surplus at 31 December 2007 amounted to C£69.682 
thousand (2006: C£41.908 thousand) and is included in the revaluation reserve. 

The net book value of freehold property, on a cost less accumulated depreciation basis, as at 31 December 2007 would have 
amounted to C£84.440 thousand (2006: C£79.060 thousand). 

There are no fixed charges in favour of third parties on the Group’s property and equipment as at 31 December 2007 and 2006.
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21. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
 Computer   Licence  Insurance  In-force life  Goodwill on  Total
 software   fees  portfolio  insurance  acquisition of 
     customer  business  subsidiary
     list    

2007 C£000  C£000  C£000  C£000  C£000  C£000  

Net book value at 1 January  7.323  2.076  180  30.889  705  41.173

Exchange adjustments (10 ) -  -  -  -  (10 )

Additions 4.466  -  -  -  -  4.466

Disposals and write-offs (16 ) -  -  -  -  (16 )

Increase in value of in-force life insurance policies  -  -  -  6.852  -  6.852

Amortisation charge for the year (3.858 ) (360 ) (180 ) -  -  (4.398 )

Net book value at 31 December 7.905  1.716  -  37.741  705  48.067

At 1 January 2007      

Cost  48.392  3.607  540  30.889  705  84.133

Accumulated amortisation (41.069 ) (1.531 ) (360 ) -  -  (42.960 )

Net book value 7.323  2.076  180  30.889  705  41.173

At 31 December 2007      

Cost  52.669  3.607  540  37.741  705  95.262

Accumulated amortisation (44.764 ) (1.891 ) (540 ) -  -  (47.195 )

Net book value 7.905  1.716  -  37.741  705  48.067

The goodwill on acquisition of subsidiary arose on the acquisition of the brokerage company Kyprou Securities SA in 2001.
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21. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)
 Computer   Licence  Insurance  In-force life  Goodwill on  Total
 software   fees  portfolio  insurance  acquisition of 
     customer  business  subsidiary
     list    

2006 C£000  C£000  C£000  C£000  C£000  C£000  

Net book value at 1 January  7.426  2.436  360  26.333  705  37.260

Exchange adjustments 3  -  -  -  -  3

Additions 4.172  -  -  -  -  4.172

Increase in value of in-force life insurance policies -  -  -  4.556  -  4.556

Amortisation charge for the year (4.278 ) (360 ) (180 ) -  -  (4.818 )

Net book value at 31 December 7.323  2.076  180  30.889  705  41.173

At 1 January 2006      

Cost  44.125  3.607  540  26.333  705  75.310

Accumulated amortisation (36.699 ) (1.171 ) (180 ) -  -  (38.050 )

Net book value 7.426  2.436  360  26.333  705  37.260

At 31 December 2006      

Cost  48.392  3.607  540  30.889  705  84.133

Accumulated amortisation (41.069 ) (1.531 ) (360 ) -  -  (42.960 )

Net book value 7.323  2.076  180  30.889  705  41.173

The actuarial assumptions made to determine the value of in-force life insurance policies, relate to future mortality, redemptions, level of 
administration and selling expenses and investment returns.  The main assumptions used in determining the value of the in-force policies are:

  2007  2006

  C£000  C£000  

Risk discount rate (after tax) 10,0%  10,0%

Return on investments 5,5%  5,5%

Expense inflation 5,0%  5,0%
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22. OTHER ASSETS

  2007  2006

  C£000  C£000  

Debtors 24.585  17.087

Stock of property held for sale  7.548  8.196

Investment properties 20.710  22.409

Taxes refundable 6.662  1.813

Deferred tax asset (Note 12) 1.631  2.720

Fair value of derivative financial instruments (Note 34) 32.566  25.081

Retirement benefit plans asset (Note 9) 1.396  -

Reinsurers’ share of insurance contract liabilities (Note 24) 25.264  23.016

Accrued interest 36.805  30.157

Prepaid expenses 2.174  7.076

Items in course of collection and other assets 39.201  33.153

  198.542  170.708

Investment properties
The movement of investment properties is summarised below:

  2007  2006

  C£000  C£000  

At 1 January 22.409  20.418

Exchange adjustments  9  15

Transfer from assets held for sale -  1.071

Transfer from property and equipment  -  256

Additions  551  6.244

Disposals (5.887 ) (6.007 )

Gains from change in fair value 3.628  412

At 31 December 20.710  22.409
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23. CUSTOMER DEPOSITS 
  2007  2006

  C£000  C£000  

By category

Demand 2.134.504  1.658.918

Savings 1.036.764  1.030.370

Time or notice 11.565.326  9.441.072

  14.736.594  12.130.360

By geographical area  

Cyprus 8.687.141  6.909.668

Greece 5.149.790  4.421.955

United Kingdom 737.266  661.227

Australia 151.313  137.510

Romania and Russia 11.084  -

  14.736.594  12.130.360

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Demand and savings deposits are payable on demand and their carrying amount represents their fair value.  

The fair value of time or notice deposits that bear a floating rate of interest is equivalent to their carrying amount.  The fair value of deposits that 
bear a fixed rate of interest is based on the present value of their future cash flows, estimated using interest rates on new deposits which have the 
same remaining period to maturity, and is not materially different from their carrying amount.  The majority (86%) mature within three months 
from the balance sheet date (Note 40).

24. INSURANCE LIABILITIES

 2007 2006 

 Gross  Reinsurance  Net  Gross  Reinsurance  Net

 C£000  C£000  C£000  C£000  C£000  C£000  

Life insurance 316.983  (6.431 ) 310.552  292.519  (5.363 ) 287.156

General insurance       

- unearned premiums 17.027  (7.393 ) 9.634  15.374  (6.765 ) 8.609

- claims outstanding 22.168  (11.440 ) 10.728  20.732  (10.888 ) 9.844

 356.178  (25.264 ) 330.914  328.625  (23.016 ) 305.609

Reinsurance balances receivable are included in “Other assets” (Note 22).

Life insurance liabilities 
The movement of life insurance contract liabilities over the year is analysed as follows:

 2007 2006 

 Gross  Reinsurance  Net  Gross  Reinsurance  Net

 C£000  C£000  C£000  C£000  C£000  C£000  

At 1 January 292.519  (5.363 ) 287.156  236.412  (4.607 ) 231.805

New business 4.806  (823 ) 3.983  3.753  (707 ) 3.046

Changes in existing business 19.658  (245 ) 19.413  52.354  (49 ) 52.305

At 31 December  316.983  (6.431 ) 310.552  292.519  (5.363 ) 287.156
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24. INSURANCE LIABILITIES (continued)

General insurance liabilities 
The movement in general insurance contract liabilities and reinsurance assets over the year is analysed as follows:

 Gross  Reinsurance  Net

Provisions for unearned premiums  C£000  C£000  C£000

At 1 January 2006 14.585  (6.279 ) 8.306

Premium income  31.030  (15.696 ) 15.334

Earned premiums     (30.241 ) 15.210  (15.031 )

At 31 December 2006  15.374  (6.765 ) 8.609

Premium income  35.201  (17.633 ) 17.568

Earned premiums   (33.548 ) 17.005  (16.543 )

At 31 December 2007 17.027  (7.393 ) 9.634

The provisions for unearned premiums represent the liability for short-term insurance contracts for which the Group’s obligations 
have not expired at the year end.

 Gross  Reinsurance  Net  

Claims and loss adjustments   C£000  C£000  C£000

Notified claims 19.470  (11.753 ) 7.717

Incurred but not reported  1.241  (617 ) 624

At 1 January 2006 20.711  (12.370 ) 8.341

Cash paid for claims settled in the year (15.353 ) 9.093  (6.260 )

Increase in liabilities arising from claims  15.374  (7.611 ) 7.763

At 31 December 2006 20.732  (10.888 ) 9.844

Cash paid for claims settled in the year  (9.653 ) 3.101  (6.552 )

Increase in liabilities arising from claims 11.089  (3.653 ) 7.436

At 31 December 2007 22.168  (11.440 ) 10.728

Notified claims 17.526  (8.460 ) 9.066

Incurred but not reported 3.206  (2.428 ) 778

At 31 December 2006 20.732  (10.888 ) 9.844

Notified claims  18.345  (8.607 ) 9.738

Incurred but not reported 3.823  (2.833 ) 990

At 31 December 2007 22.168  (11.440 ) 10.728
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25. DEBT SECURITIES IN ISSUE

 Contractual interest rate 2007 2006 

Medium term senior debt   C£000 C£000 

€500 million 2007/2010  Three-month Euribor plus 0,20% 288.077 -

€300 million 2006/2009  Three-month Euribor plus 0,33% 169.239 173.499

€300 million 2005/2008 Three-month Euribor plus 0,30% 175.862 173.108

€3 million 2003/2008 Three-month Euribor plus 0,45% 1.769 1.744

  634.947 348.351

Short term commercial paper     

In Euro - 94.186 19.053

In U.S. Dollars - 4.331 66.688

  98.517 85.741

Interest-free loan from the European Development Bank - 288 288

  733.752 434.380

Debt securities in issue are not secured and the rights and claims of debt security holders rank pari passu with the claims of 
depositors and other creditors of the Group.

The fair value of the Group’s debt securities in issue at 31 December 2007 was C£727.831 thousand (2006: C£434.749 thousand).

Medium term senior bonds
The Company has established a Euro Medium Term Note (EMTN) Programme with an aggregate nominal amount up to €2.000 
million (2006: €1.500 million).  

Under this Programme, the Company issued in June 2005, €300 million Senior debt 2005/2008.  The Senior Debt has a three-year 
term, bears a floating rate of interest and was issued at the price of 99,853%.  In the context of the EMTN programme, the Company 
also issued in June 2006, €300 million Senior Debt 2006/2009 which has a three-year term, bears a floating rate of interest and was 
issued at the price of 99,942%.  In June 2007 the Company issued €500 million Senior Debt 2007/2010 which has a three year term, 
bears a floating rate of interest and was issued at the price of 99,915%.  The €3 million Senior Debt 2003/2008 was issued at par in 
2003.

At 31 December 2007, the nominal amount of the €300 million Senior Debt 2005/2008 outstanding was €299.500 thousand (2006: 
€299.000 thousand) as €500 thousand (2006: €1.000 thousand) of debt was held by the Group for trading purposes.  At 31 December 
2007, the nominal amount of the €300 million Senior debt 2006/2009 outstanding was €288.900 thousand (2006: €300.000 thousand) 
as €11.100 thousand (2006: Nil) of debt securities were held by the Group for trading purposes.  At 31 December 2007, the nominal 
amount of the €500 million Senior Debt 2007/2010 outstanding was €492.500 thousand as €7.500 thousand of debt securities were 
held by the Group for trading purposes.

The issues of €300 million 2005/2008, €300 million 2006/2009 and €500 million 2007/2010 are listed on the Luxembourg Stock 
Exchange.

The three-month Euribor fluctuated during 2007 between 3,725% and 4,953% (2006: 2,488% - 3,724%) per annum. 

Short term commercial paper 
The Company has established a Euro Commercial Paper (ECP) Programme with an aggregate nominal amount up to €1.000 million 
(2006: €500 million).  According to the terms of the Programme, the Commercial Paper is issued in various currencies at a discount and 
pays no interest.  Each issue has a maturity period up to 364 days and the Commercial Paper is unlisted.    
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26. OTHER LIABILITIES

  2007  2006

  C£000  C£000  

Income tax payable 15.416  11.858

Deferred tax liability (Note 12) 26.597  14.771

Fair value of derivative financial instruments (Note 34) 17.790  16.999

Liability of retirement benefit plans (Note 9) 3.559  3.241

Provision for pending litigation or claims 1.949  2.473

Items in course of settlement  55.568  32.438

Special defence contribution payable 8.679  7.781

Financial guarantees  2.549  2.008

Other accrued expenses 15.232  15.196

Deferred income 5.675  2.581

Other liabilities 69.129  65.792

  222.143  175.138

Provision for pending litigation or claims
The movement for the year in the provision for pending litigation or claims is as follows:

  2007  2006

  C£000  C£000  

At 1 January  2.473  2.025

(Decrease)/increase of provision for the year (529 ) 445

Exchange adjustments 5  3

At 31 December  1.949  2.473

The provision for pending litigation or claims does not include insurance claims arising in the ordinary course of business of the 
Group’s insurance subsidiaries. 

27. SUBORDINATED LOAN STOCK

 Contractual interest rate 2007 2006  

  C£000 C£000 

Subordinated Bonds 2008/2013 in Euro (€200 million)  Three-month Euribor plus 1,00% 118.358 115.775

Subordinated Bonds 2011/2016 in Euro (€200 million) Three-month Euribor plus 0,60% 115.429 112.057

Capital Securities Series A (C£65 million) Base rate plus 1,00% 53.394 64.717

Capital Securities Series B (C£30 million) Base rate plus 1,00% 30.072 30.072

 6,00% for six months
Capital Securities 12/2007 (C£74 million) and three-month Euribor plus 1,25% thereafter 74.148 -

  391.401 322.621

The subordinated loan stock issued by the Company is not secured and the rights and claims of loan stockholders are subordinated 
to the claims of depositors and other creditors of the Company, but have priority over those of the shareholders of the Company.

The Subordinated Bonds are classified as Tier 2 Capital and the Capital Securities as Tier 1 Capital for capital adequacy purposes.

The fair value of Group’s subordinated loan stock at 31 December 2007 was C£386.541 thousand (2006: C£324.626 thousand).
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27. SUBORDINATED LOAN STOCK (continued)
Subordinated Bonds
The Company has established a Euro Medium Term Note (ΕΜΤΝ) Programme with an aggregate nominal amount up to €2.000 million (2006: 
€1.500 million).  

Under this Programme, the Company issued in October 2003, €200 million Subordinated Bonds 2008/2013 in Euro, bearing floating rate of interest 
and maturing in October 2013.  The Company has the option to call the Bonds during or after October 2008.  The interest rate of the Bonds was set 
at the three-month Euribor plus 1,00% until October 2008 and will increase to plus 2,20% thereafter.  The issue price of the Bonds was 99,766%.  
The Bonds are listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange.  At 31 December 2007, the nominal amount of €200 million Subordinated Bonds 
2008/2013 outstanding amounted to €199.114 thousand (2006: €198.350 thousand) as €886 thousand (2006: €1.650 thousand) were held by the 
Company for trading purposes.

Also in the context of the EMTN Programme, the Company issued in May 2006 €200 million floating rate Subordinated Bonds 2011/2016 in Euro 
maturing in May 2016.  The Company has the option to call the Bonds in whole during or after May 2011.  The interest rate of the Bonds was set 
at the three-month Euribor plus 0,60% until May 2011 and will increase to plus 1,60% thereafter.  The issue price of the Bonds was 99,861%.  
The Bonds are listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange.  At 31 December 2007, the nominal amount of the €200 million Subordinated Bonds 
2011/2016 outstanding amounted to €196.000 thousand (2006: €193.000 thousand) as €4.000 thousand (2006: €7.000 thousand) were held by the 
Company for trading purposes.

Capital Securities
Capital Securities Series A amounting to C£65 million and Series B amounting to C£30 million were issued in Cyprus pounds in February 2003 
and March 2004 respectively, and were offered in Cyprus.  On 20 December 2007 the Company completed the issue of Capital Securities 12/2007 
amounting to C£74m.  The Capital Securities 12/2007 were issued in Cyprus pounds.  The Capital Securities have no maturity date, but may be 
redeemed in whole at the option of the Company, subject to the prior consent of the Central Bank of Cyprus, at their nominal amount together with 
any outstanding interest payments, five years after their issue date or on any interest payment date thereafter.  

The Capital Securities Series A and B bear a floating interest rate, which is revised every three months.  The interest rate of Capital Securities 
Series A and B is equal to the base rate of the Company at the beginning of each three-month period plus 1,00%.  The interest rate of Capital 
Securities 12/2007 is fixed at 6,00% for the first six months and floating thereafter, equal to the three-month Euribor plus 1,25%. Interest is 
payable quarterly.  The Capital Securities Series A and B are listed on the Cyprus Stock Exchange. The Company intends to apply to the relevant 
authorities for the listing of the Capital Securities 12/2007 on the Cyprus Stock Exchange. 

In December 2007 the Group decided to exercise its option to redeem in whole the Capital Securities Series A at par on 20 February 2008.

At 31 December 2007, the Capital Securities Series A, Series B and 12/2007 outstanding amounted to C£53.036 thousand, C£29.883 thousand and 
C£74.000 thousand respectively (2006: C£64.311 thousand, C£29.883 thousand and Nil respectively) as C£11.964 thousand of Capital Securities 
Series A and C£117 thousand of Capital Securities Series B (2006: C£689 thousand and C£117 thousand respectively) were held by the Company for 
trading purposes.

The Company’s base rate fluctuated during 2007 between 4,00% and 4,50% (2006: 4,25% - 4,50%) per annum.  The three-month Euribor fluctuated 
during 2007 between 3,725% and 4,953% (2006: 2,488% - 3,724%) per annum.

28. SHARE CAPITAL
 2007 2006

 Shares  C£000  Shares  C£000
 (thousand)    (thousand) 

Authorised    

Ordinary shares of C£0,50 each 877.911  438.956  600.000  300.000

Issued and fully paid     

At 1 January 553.839  276.919  545.316  272.658

Dividend reinvestment 7.398  3.700  6.519  3.259

Exercise of share options 4.986  2.493  2.004  1.002

At 31 December 566.223  283.112  553.839  276.919



109
BANK OF CYPRUS GROUP

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)
The Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company held on 5 December 2007 approved the increase in the Company’s authorised 
share capital from C£300.000.000 to C£438.955.500 (€750.000.000) with the creation of 277.911.000 additional ordinary shares of 
a nominal value of C£0,50 each.  As from 1 January 2008, the nominal value of the share capital of the Company was increased to 
€1,00 each.  Share premium amounting to C£48.284 thousand (€82.498 thousand) was applied for the increase in the nominal value 
of the shares, so that the number of issued shares remains the same, but their nominal value is €1,00 each instead of C£0,50 each. 

The Company has in force a Dividend Reinvestment Plan under which all shareholders have the option to reinvest all or part of their 
dividend in shares of the Company at a discount of 10% on the market value of the shares. The reinvestment price for the interim 
dividend paid on 12 December 2007 was set at C£6,78 per share, for the dividend paid on 26 June 2007 it was set at C£6,63 per share 
and for the interim dividend paid on 11 December 2006 it was set at C£5,07 per share.  As a result of the dividend reinvestment, 
7.398.023 (2006: 6.519.027) shares were issued and the Company’s share capital and share premium increased by C£3.700 thousand 
(2006: C£3.259 thousand) and C£45.894 thousand (2006: C£24.434 thousand) respectively.

Shares of the Company held by subsidiaries and associates are deducted from equity.  No gain or loss is recognised in the income 
statement on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of such shares.  The number of these shares at 31 December 2007 was 1.435 
thousand (2006: Nil).

In addition, the life insurance subsidiaries of the Group held, as at 31 December 2007, a total of 3.167 thousand (2006: 3.970 
thousand) shares of the Company, as part of their financial assets which are invested for the benefit of insurance policyholders.

All issued ordinary shares carry the same rights.

The share premium is not available for distribution to equity holders.

Share-based payments – share options 
In 2000, the Company granted Share Options 2001/2007 to all Group employees who were in service at 31 December 2000.  The total 
number of Share Options granted was 3.216.700 and they gave the holder the right to buy one share of the Company at the price of 
C£3,26 per option (as adjusted after the rights issue in December 2005).  The Share Options 2001/2007 were exercisable by their holders 
from 31 January 2004 to 31 December 2007.  The Share Options 2001/2007 were outside the scope of IFRS 2 “Share-based payments”.

During the year 2007, 796.807 (2006: 2.004.493) Share Options 2001/2007 were exercised by the Group employees.  At 31 December 
2007, there were no options unexercised by their holders, while 79.550 options during 2007 were either forfeited because of the 
departure of their holders from the Group or lapsed unexercised.  As a result of the exercise of the Share Options the Company’s 
share capital and share premium increased by C£398 thousand (2006: C£1.002 thousand) and C£2.199 thousand (2006: C£5.532 
thousand) respectively. 

In 2006, the Company granted Share Options 2006/2007 to all permanent employees of the Group in Cyprus and Greece who were 
in service at 30 September 2006 (grant date) provided they remained in service until 31 March 2007.  The number of Share Options 
2006/2007 issued was 4.283.300.  The exercise price of the options had been set at C£3,70 and the exercise period was from 31 March 
2007 to 30 June 2007 and was extended until 31 August 2007.  During the exercise period, 4.189.106 options were exercised, as a 
result of which the Company’s share capital and share premium increased by C£2.095 thousand and C£13.415 thousand respectively, 
while 60.353 options during 2007 were forfeited because of the departure of their holders from the Group or lapsed unexercised.

The movement in the number of share options is summarised below:

  2007  2006

  000  000  
At 1 January  5.126  3.217

Share options granted  -  4.283

Share options exercised  (4.986 ) (2.004 )

Share options forfeited  (140 ) (370 )

At 31 December -  5.126

Share options that can be exercised on 31 December -  876

The fair value of Share Options 2006/2007 was measured at the grant date, using the Black-Scholes-Merton valuation model and 
amounted to C£1,06 per Share Option.  The main variables taken into account are the share price (C£4,56 on 30 September 2006), the 
exercise price (C£3,70), the dividend yield (2,5%), the risk-free interest rate (4%), the duration of the Share Options and the expected 
volatility of the share price (13% on an annual basis, calculated using the historic volatility of the share).
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29. DIVIDENDS
Declared and paid during the year:  2007 2006

   C£000 C£000

Final dividend for 2006: C£0,10 (2005: C£0,07) per share  55.819 38.211

Interim dividend for 2007: C£0,11 (2006: C£0,07) per share 61.861 38.501

  117.680 76.712

Proposed for approval at the Annual General Meeting 
(not recognised as a liability as at 31 December)  

Final dividend for 2007: €0,25 (C£0,15) (2006: C£0,10) per share 82.849 55.819

The final dividend will be paid out of retained earnings as at 31 December 2007 (2006: 31 December 2006).

The proposed ex-dividend date is 19 May 2008.  As a result, registered shareholders on 16 May 2008 will be eligible to receive the dividend, which 
will be paid on 3 June 2008.

Out of the total dividend paid during 2007 of C£117.680 thousand, dividend amounting to C£214 thousand (2006: Nil) relates to the Company’s 
shares held by subsidiaries and associates.

30. REVALUATION AND OTHER RESERVES 

 Property  Revaluation reserve  Cash flow  Life insurance  Capital  Exchange  Shares  Total
 revaluation  of available- hedge reserve  in-force  reserve  adjustments  of the 
 reserve  for-sale    business    reserve  Company
   investments   reserve
   
   Equity  Treasury bills 
   securities  and debt 
     securities

 C£000  C£000  C£000  C£000  C£000  C£000  C£000  C£000  C£000

At 1 January 2007 36.016  28.199  5.355  (535 ) 27.800  2.183  (2.611 ) -  96.407

Gains/(losses) from 
change in fair value -  10.547  (16.756 ) 1.130  -  -  -  -  (5.079 )

Transfer to the income 
statement on 
redemption/sale -  (4.565 ) 19  145  -  -  -  -  (4.401 )

Property revaluation 28.131  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  28.131

Deferred tax (3.896 ) (32 ) 34  (136 ) (902 ) -  -  -  (4.932 )

Exchange adjustments  -  -  -  -  -  -  667  -  667

Increase in value of in-force  
life insurance policies  -  -  -  -  6.852  -  -  -  6.852

Reversal of revaluation of 
investments upon 
becoming an associate -  (43 ) -  -  -  -  -  -  (43 )

Transfer to the income  
statement on impairment -  -  5.048  -  -  -  -  -  5.048

Transfer of realised profits 
on disposal of property  
to retained earnings (1.271 ) -  -  -  -  -  -  -  (1.271 )

Shares of the Company 
held by subsidiaries 
and associates -  -  -  -  -  -  -  (10.145 ) (10.145 )

Transfer of capital reserves 
to retained earnings -  -  -  -  -  (2.183 ) -  -  (2.183 )

At 31 December  2007 58.980  34.106  (6.300 ) 604  33.750  -  (1.944 ) (10.145 ) 109.051
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30. REVALUATION AND OTHER RESERVES (continued)
 Property  Revalution reserve  Cash flow   Life insurance   Capital  Exchange Total
 revaluation  of available- hedge reserve  in-force  reserve  adjustments   
 reserve  for-sale    business    reserve  
   investments   reserve
   
   Equity  Treasury bills 
   securities  and debt 
     securities

 C£000  C£000  C£000  C£000  C£000  C£000  C£000  C£000  

At 1 January  2006 36.656  6.815  26.565  -  23.700  2.183  (2.898 ) 93.021

Gains/(losses) from 
change in fair value -  23.341  (12.386 ) (599 ) -  -  -  10.356

Deferred tax 158  -  1.263  64  (456 ) -  -  1.029

Exchange adjustments  -  -  -  -  -  -  287  287

Increase in value of in-force life 
insurance policies  -  -  -  -  4.556  -  -  4.556

Transfer of realised profits 
on disposal of property 
to retained earnings (798 ) -  -  -  -  -  -  (798 )

Transfer to the income 
statement on  
redemption/sale -  (1.957 ) (10.087 ) -  -  -  -  (12.044 )

At 31 December 2006 36.016  28.199  5.355  (535 ) 27.800  2.183  (2.611 ) 96.407

Capital reserve
The capital reserve resulted from the capitalisation of the profits of subsidiary companies and the joint venture.  The balance was transferred to 
retained earnings during 2007.

Retained earnings
Retained earnings is the only distributable reserve.

As from 1 January 2003, companies which do not distribute at least 70% of their profits after tax as defined by the Special Defence Contribution for 
the Republic Law, during the two years after the end of the year of assessment to which the profits refer, will be deemed to have distributed this 
amount as dividend.  Special defence contribution at 15% will be payable on such deemed dividend distribution to the extent that the shareholders 
(individuals and companies) at the end of the period of two years from the end of the year of assessment to which the profits refer are tax residents 
of Cyprus.  The amount of this deemed dividend distribution is reduced by any actual dividend paid out of the profits of the relevant year.  This 
special defence contribution is paid by the Company on account of the shareholders.  There was no special defence contribution payable for 2005 
and 2004.

31. FIDUCIARY TRANSACTIONS
The Group offers fund management services that result in the holding or placing of financial assets on behalf of its customers.  The Group is not 
liable to its customers for any default by other banks or organisations.  The assets under management are not included in the balance sheet of the 
Group unless they are placed with the Group.  The total assets under management at 31 December 2007 amounted to C£544 million (2006: C£647 
million).
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32. ANALYSIS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BY EXPECTED MATURITY 

 2007 2006 

 Less than  Over  Total  Less than  Over  Total
 one year  one year    one year  one year 

 C£000  C£000  C£000  C£000  C£000  C£000  

Assets      

Cash and balances with central banks 472.285  303.315  775.600  438.681  245.668  684.349

Placements with banks 3.604.332  -  3.604.332  2.446.297  50.000  2.496.297

Investments at fair value through 
profit or loss 196.480  108.517  304.997  161.712  74.880  236.592

Life insurance business assets 
attributable to policyholders 38.382  272.170  310.552  9.219  277.938  287.157

Loans and advances to customers 2.821.772  8.252.151  11.073.923  2.310.605  6.080.045  8.390.650

Investments available-for-sale  
and held to maturity 327.647  1.749.283  2.076.930  404.251  1.706.437  2.110.688

Property equipment  
and intangible assets -  235.157  235.157  -  194.986  194.986

Other assets 88.056  110.486  198.542  110.261  60.447  170.708

Investment in associate  -  10.136  10.136  -  -  -

 7.548.954  11.041.215  18.590.169  5.881.026  8.690.401  14.571.427

Liabilities       

Amounts due to banks 604.785  117.055  721.840  225.378  50.304  275.682

Repurchase agreements 146.400  108.276  254.676  -  -  -

Customer deposits  8.143.940  6.592.654  14.736.594  6.841.727  5.288.633  12.130.360

Insurance liabilities 39.146  317.032  356.178  36.439  292.186  328.625

Debts securities in issue 275.582  458.170  733.752  85.741  348.639  434.380

Other liabilities 168.328  53.815  222.143  139.546  35.592  175.138

Subordinated loan stock  169.572  221.829  391.401  -  322.621  322.621

 9.547.753  7.868.831  17.416.584  7.328.831  6.337.975  13.666.806

The main assumptions used in determining the expected maturity of assets and liabilities are set out below:

Loans and advances to customers and customer deposits in Cyprus are classified based on historic behavioural data.  Loans and advances to 
customers and customer deposits in Greece, United Kingdom and Australia are classified on the same basis as that used for regulatory purposes.

Trading investments were classified in the less than one year column.

The expected maturity of all other assets and liabilities is the same as their contractual maturity.
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33. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS 
The nominal principal amount of contingent liabilities and commitments as at 31 December is summarised below:

  2007  2006

  C£000  C£000  

Contingent liabilities  

Acceptances and endorsements   30.093  27.994

Guarantees  995.118  829.279

  1.025.211  857.273

Commitments  

Documentary credits 44.582  37.252

Undrawn formal standby facilities, credit lines and other commitments to lend 1.955.599  1.555.080

  2.000.181  1.592.332

Commitments to lend are agreements to grant a loan to a customer in the future.  Such commitments are made for a fixed period of time and are 
cancellable by the Group subject to notice requirements.  Most commitments expire without being fully drawn upon.

The table below shows the contractual expiry by maturity of contingent liabilities and commitments:

 Contingent liabilities Commitments

 2007  2006  2007  2006  

 C£000  C£000  C£000  C£000

Less than one year 697.109  523.843  896.320  928.538

Over one year 328.102  333.430  1.103.861  663.794

 1.025.211  857.273  2.000.181  1.592.332

Capital and other commitments
Contractual commitments for the acquisition of property and equipment as at 31 December 2007 amount to C£3.803 thousand (2006: C£4.956 
thousand).

The Group also has a contractual commitment amounting to C£31.904 thousand relating to the share purchase agreement for the acquisition of 
AvtoZAZBank in Ukraine (Note 44).

Litigation
The Group’s provision for pending litigation or claims is set out in Note 26.  There are no other significant pending litigation, claims or assessments 
against the Group, the outcome of which would have a material effect on the Group’s financial position and performance.

The court of New York has issued a judgement in relation to the application which was pending before it for the payment by the Company of an 
amount up to $77 million (C£31 million) plus interest since May 2001, which specific customers allegedly hold with the Company.  The judgement 
was issued on 12 March 2007 and the court ruled that at the time of service of the application there were no funds within its jurisdiction in the 
name of the specific customers and as a result the claim for the payment of the said amount to the applicants was rejected.  There is a pending 
application before the court for the reopening of the case.  An appeal has also been filed by the petitioner.  The final outcome of the case is not 
expected to have a material impact on the Group’s financial position and performance.

On 27 July 2005, the Securities and Exchange Commission of Cyprus announced that it has carried out an investigation into a possible breach by 
the Company of the provisions of articles 67 and 68 of the Cyprus Stock Exchange Law, with respect to the sale of shares in Greece in October 
2000, and that a report on its findings will be prepared and sent to the Attorney General of the Republic of Cyprus.  As there have been no 
developments since, and considering the time that has elapsed, the Group considers the matter as closed. 
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33. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS (continued)

Litigation (continued)
In September 2006, the ‘Trustees of the AremisSoft Corporation Liquidating Trust’ filed civil actions against the Company for at 
least $50 million (C£20 million), their main claim being that the Company, in breach of its obligations to AremisSoft, permitted the 
principal shareholder of AremisSoft to execute transactions leading to the appropriation by him of significant sums belonging to 
AremisSoft.  In August 2007, a federal judge granted the Company’s motion to dismiss that case and found that the appropriate 
forum for the trial of the case is the Republic of Cyprus.  On 28 August 2007, the Trustees filed an application for reconsideration 
of the judgement issued by the court, which is still pending.  The Group does not expect to have any material financial impact as a 
result of the law suit.

The United States Attorney for the Southern District of New York, pursuant to a coordination agreement with the Trustees of 
the AremisSoft Corporation Liquidating Trust, filed on 15 October 2007 a civil action against the Company based on very similar 
allegations as the ones set out in the Trustees of the AremisSoft Corporation Liquidating Trust’s civil action already dismissed by 
the federal judge.  Despite the fact that the Company did not engage in any conduct in the United States, the US Attorney’s civil suit 
claims that the Company violated US Law by enabling the principal shareholder of AremisSoft to transfer $162 million of proceeds 
from his own fraudulent conduct through accounts maintained with the Company.  The Company denies the allegations contained in 
the new case, and regards them as totally unfounded, both legally and factually.  The Company does not expect to have any material 
financial impact as a result of the civil actions, because the civil claims are, in its view, factually and legally without merit.

34. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGE ACCOUNTING
The use of derivatives is an integral part of the Group’s activities.  Derivatives are used to manage the Group’s own exposure to 
fluctuations in interest rates, exchange rates and equity price indices.  Derivatives are also sold to customers as risk management 
products.

Forward exchange rate contracts are irrevocable agreements to buy or sell a specified quantity of foreign currency on a specified 
future date at an agreed rate.

Currency swaps involve the exchange of two currencies at the current market rate and the commitment to re-exchange them at a 
specified rate upon maturity of the swap.

Interest rate swaps are contractual agreements between two parties to exchange fixed rate and floating rate interest by means of 
periodic payments based upon a notional principal amount and the interest rates defined in the contract. 

Interest rate, currency and equity options provide the buyer with the right but not the obligation, to either purchase or sell the 
underlying values at a specified price or level on or before a specified date.

Interest rate futures are contractual agreements for the purchase or sale of specific financial instruments at a specified price and 
date in the future in order to fix a forward rate of interest for an agreed period of time, starting at a specified future date.  Futures 
contracts are transacted in standardised amounts on regulated exchanges.

Interest rate caps/floors protect the holder from fluctuations of interest rates above or below a specified interest rate for a specified 
period of time.

The credit exposure of derivative financial instruments represents the cost to replace these contracts at the balance sheet date.  
The exposure arising from these transactions is managed as part of the Group’s credit risk management process for credit facilities 
granted to customers and financial institutions. 

The nominal amounts of certain types of derivative financial instruments provide a basis for comparison with other instruments 
recognised on the balance sheet but do not necessarily indicate the amounts of future cash flows involved or the current fair value of 
the instruments and, consequently, do not indicate the Group’s exposure to credit or market risks. 

The fair value of the derivatives can be either positive (asset) or negative (liability) as a result of fluctuations in market interest rates, 
foreign exchange rates or equity price indices, in accordance with the terms of the relevant contract.  The aggregate net fair value of 
derivatives may fluctuate significantly over time. 

Hedge accounting 
The Group applies either fair value or cash flow hedge accounting using derivatives when the required criteria for hedge accounting 
are met.  The Group also uses derivatives for economic hedging (hedging the changes in interest rates or exchange rates) which do 
not meet the criteria for hedge accounting.  As a result, these derivatives are accounted for as trading derivatives and the gains or 
losses arising from changes in their fair value are recognised in the income statement. 

Changes in the fair value of derivatives designated as fair value hedges, are recognised in the income statement. 
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34. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGE ACCOUNTING (continued)
The effective portion of the gains or losses from changes in the fair value of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges, is recognised in equity and 
the ineffective portion is recognised in the income statement.

Fair value hedges
The Group uses interest rate swaps with a nominal amount of C£464.479 thousand (2006: C£417.800 thousand) to hedge the interest rate risk 
arising as a result of the possible adverse movement in the fair value of fixed rate bonds classified as available-for-sale and of fixed interest 
rate loans and deposits.  The fair value of these derivatives excluding accrued interest at 31 December 2007 was C£6.944 thousand (gain) (2006: 
C£8.711 thousand (gain)) and the change in the fair value of the relevant hedged items excluding accrued interest was C£6.740 thousand (loss) 
(2006: C£8.879 thousand (loss)). 

Cash flow hedges
The Group uses interest rate swaps with a nominal amount of C£105.406 thousand (2006: C£115.332 thousand) to hedge the future cash flows of 
floating rate bonds.  The net fair value of these derivatives at 31 December 2007 was C£2.976 thousand (gain) (2006: C£1.258 thousand (gain)).  The 
amount included in equity in relation to cash flow hedges is expected to impact the income statement over the term of the hedging relationship in 
order to match the cash flows from the hedged items.

Hedges of net investment in foreign entities
The Group hedges the currency risk arising on the retranslation into Cyprus pounds of the net assets of its overseas subsidiaries and branches.  
Liabilities amounting to C£202.272 thousand (2006: C£158.130 thousand) have been designated as hedges and have given rise to a loss of C£5.561 
thousand (2006: C£2.080 thousand (gain)) which was recognised in the ‘Exchange adjustments reserve’, against the profit or loss that arose on the 
retranslation of the net assets to Cyprus pounds.

The nominal amounts and fair values of the derivative financial instruments are set out below:

 2007 2006 

 Nominal  Fair value   Nominal  Fair value  
 value      value
   Assets  Liabilities    Assets  Liabilities

 C£000  C£000  C£000  C£000  C£000  C£000  

Trading derivatives       

Forward exchange rate contracts 93.070  1.345  2.131  152.881  3.456  1.895

Currency swaps 700.074  4.848  12.718  541.621  2.344  5.377

Interest rate swaps 801.341  10.601  1.177  537.499  6.229  3.386

Currency options  2.085  1  4  -  -  -

Interest rate futures -  -  -  578  -  2

Equity options 7.786  393  392  3.315  165  165

Interest rate caps/floors 40.691  160  173  6.029  52  55

 1.645.047  17.348  16.595  1.241.923  12.246  10.880

Derivatives qualifying for 
hedge accounting      

Fair value hedges 
- interest rate swaps 464.479  12.191  1.144  417.800  10.669  5.211

Cash flow hedges 
- interest rate swaps 105.406  3.027  51  115.332  2.166  908

 569.885  15.218  1.195  533.132  12.835  6.119

Total 2.214.932  32.566  17.790  1.775.055  25.081  16.999
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35. NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
  2007  2006

  C£000  C£000  

Profit before tax 340.842  224.523

Adjustments for  

Provisions for impairment of loans and advances 32.703  58.359

Depreciation of property and equipment 13.743  13.912

Amortisation of intangible assets 4.398  4.818

Cost of share-based payments 2.183  2.265

Amortisation of discounts/premiums 61  3.671

Profit on disposal of property and equipment and 
write-offs of intangible assets  (125 ) (315 )

Interest on treasury bills (634 ) (2.119 )

Interest on debt securities (113.213 ) (90.366 )

Dividend income from equity securities (2.704 ) (999 )

Profit on sale of investments in equity securities (8.667 ) (7.194 )

Profit on sale of investments in debt securities (2.472 ) (4.595 )

Minority interest (3.132 ) -

Share of profit of associates (5.354 ) -

Negative goodwill arising on acquisition  (1.943 ) -

Losses from change in fair value of available-for-sale debt
securities designated as fair value hedges 2.194  10.040

Impairment of available-for-sale debt securities 5.048  -

Impairment of property and equipment  651  -

Interest on subordinated loan stock 14.459  16.886

Change in present value of future income from in force business (6.852 ) -

  271.186  228.886

Increase in  

Amounts due to banks 446.158  84.929

Obligatory balances with central banks (56.768 ) -

Customer deposits  2.614.187  1.373.453

Life insurance business assets and liabilities 4.158  -

Loans and advances to customers (2.717.147 ) (1.447.471 )

Other assets (27.655 ) (21.074 )

Prepayments and accrued income (1.746 ) (7.886 )

Placements with banks -  (52.103)

Other liabilities 29.766  11.425

Accruals and deferred income 3.130  5.475

Debt securities in issue 294.161  115.924

Investments at fair value though profit or loss (33.579 ) (147.261 )

Repurchase agreements 254.676  -

Decrease in  

Obligatory balances with central banks -  107.577

Life insurance business assets and liabilities -  (3.077 )

Placements with banks 17.164  -

Subordinated loan stock held for trading (9.143 ) (3.357 )

  1.088.548  245.440

Tax paid  (46.353 ) (25.564 )

Net cash flows from operating activities 1.042.195  219.876
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35. NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (continued)

Operational cash flow from interest and dividends

  2007  2006

  C£000  C£000  

Interest paid (536.047 ) (388.544 )

Interest received 943.342  737.658

Dividend received 2.704  999

  409.999  350.113

36. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents comprise of:

  2007  2006

  C£000  C£000  

Cash and non obligatory balances with central banks  473.033  438.550

Placement with banks repayable within three months 3.503.105  2.377.906

  3.976.138  2.816.456

  2007  2006

  C£000  C£000  

Cash and non obligatory balances with central banks  473.033  438.550

Other balances with central banks  302.567  245.799

Total cash and balances with central banks (Note 14) 775.600  684.349

Placements with banks repayable within three months   3.503.105  2.377.906

Other placements with banks 101.227  118.391

Total placements with banks (Note 14) 3.604.332  2.496.297

37. OPERATING LEASES – THE GROUP AS LESSEE
The total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases at 31 December, are stated below: 

  2007  2006

  C£000  C£000  

Within one year 7.768  6.538

Between two and five years 15.135  15.226

After five years 5.816  2.941

  28.719  24.705

The above relate mainly to property leases for the Group’s branches and offices.

The Group had the option to buy a building for C£3,3 million that was leased as at 31 December 2006 which could be exercised 
between 1 July and 15 November 2007, under certain conditions.  The option was not exercised and the Group is in negotiations to 
extend the term of the option. 
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38. RISK MANAGEMENT – CREDIT RISK
In the ordinary course of business, the Group is exposed to credit risk, which is monitored through various control mechanisms 
across the Group in order to prevent undue risk concentrations and to price facilities and products on a risk adjusted basis.

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to discharge an 
obligation. 

The Group Credit Risk Management unit defines the Group’s credit dispensing policies and monitors compliance with the related 
credit sanctioning procedures and controls at each sector (consumer, business and corporate) and at each geographical area where 
the Group operates.  Credit exposures from related accounts are aggregated and monitored on a consolidated basis. 

The Group Credit Risk Management unit sets targets and limits for the composition and quality of the loans and advances portfolio 
and monitors compliance with them.  The assessment of the quality of the portfolio is carried out using credit rating and credit 
scoring systems to determine the creditworthiness of customers.

Portfolio monitoring is carried out on the basis of customers’ creditworthiness, sector of the economy and country of operation.  
Regular audits are carried out by a specialist unit of the Group Internal Audit Division.

The credit risk exposure of the Group is diversified both geographically and across the various sectors of the economy.

The Group’s policy regarding the definition of impaired loans and advances and the determination of provisions for impairment is set 
out in the summary of significant accounting policies.

Maximum exposure to credit risk 
The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk, which is shown gross, without taking into account any collateral held 
and other credit enhancements.

 

  2007  2006

  C£000  C£000  

Balances with central banks  513.132  604.648

Placements with banks 3.604.332  2.496.297

Trading investments - debt securities 159.276  158.334

Investments at fair value through profit or loss - debt securities 106.975  65.188

Loans and advances to customers 11.073.923  8.390.650

Investments available-for-sale and held-to-maturity 2.031.891  2.073.666

Debtors (Note 22) 24.585  17.087

Fair value of derivative financial instruments (Note 34) 32.566  25.081

Reinsurer’s share of insurance contract liabilities (Note 22) 25.264  23.016

Accrued interest (Note 22) 36.805  30.157

Items in course of collection and taxes refundable  45.863  34.966

Total on-balance sheet 17.654.612  13.919.090

Contingent liabilities 1.025.211  857.273

Commitments  2.000.181  1.592.332

Total off-balance sheet 3.025.392  2.449.605

Total credit risk exposure 20.680.004  16.368.695

Maximum exposure to    
credit risk
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38. RISK MANAGEMENT – CREDIT RISK (continued)

Maximum exposure to credit risk (continued)

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk is also analysed by the following geographic areas: 

  2007  2006

On-balance sheet C£000  C£000  

Cyprus  11.278.839  8.620.931

Greece 5.251.755  4.369.121

United Kingdom 799.864  728.662

Australia 293.191  200.376

Romania and Russia 30.963  -

  17.654.612  13.919.090

Off-balance sheet  

Cyprus  1.736.162  1.366.377

Greece 1.214.335  1.016.113

United Kingdom 49.789  48.725

Australia 23.199  18.390

Romania and Russia 1.907  -

  3.025.392  2.449.605

Credit portfolio concentration 
There are restrictions on loan concentrations which are imposed by the Banking Law in Cyprus and the relevant Directive of the 
Central Bank of Cyprus.  According to these restrictions, banks should not lend more than 25% of their capital base to any one 
customer group.  In addition, total lending to customers whose borrowings exceed 10% of a bank’s capital base, should not in 
aggregate exceed eight times its capital base.  The Group is in compliance with both restrictions.  

In addition to the above, the Group’s overseas subsidiaries must comply with large exposure guidelines set by the regulatory 
authorities of the countries in which they operate.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from customers who have credit facilities amounting to more than 10% of the Group’s 
capital base as at 31 December 2007, was C£202.609 thousand (2006: C£151.662 thousand).

Collateral and other credit enhancements 
Loans and advances to customers
The Group Credit Risk Policy and Credit Risk Management units determine the amount and type of collateral and other credit 
enhancements required.

The main types of collateral obtained by the Group are mortgages of properties, cash collateral / blocked deposits, bank guarantees, 
government guarantees, pledges of equity securities and debt instruments of public companies, fixed and floating charges over 
corporate assets, assignment of life insurance policies, assignment of rights on certain contracts and personal and corporate 
guarantees.

The Group’s management regularly monitors changes in the market value of the collateral and, when necessary, requires the 
pledging of additional collateral in accordance with the relevant agreement.

Other financial instruments 
Collateral held as security for financial assets other than loans and advances is determined by the nature of the instrument.  Debt 
securities, treasury bills and other eligible bills are generally unsecured with the exception of asset-backed securities and similar 
instruments, which are secured by pools of financial assets.
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38. RISK MANAGEMENT – CREDIT RISK (continued)

Collateral and other credit enhancements (continued)
Other financial instruments (continued)
The ISDA Master Agreement is the Group’s preferred agreement for documenting derivatives activity.  It provides the contractual 
framework within which dealing activity across a full range of over-the-counter (OTC) products is conducted and contractually binds 
both parties to apply close-out netting across all outstanding transactions covered by an agreement, if either party defaults.  In some 
cases the parties execute a Credit Support Annex (CSA) in conjunction with the ISDA Master Agreement.  Under a CSA, collateral is 
passed between the parties to mitigate the market contingent counterparty risk inherent in the outstanding positions.

Settlement risk arises in any situation where a payment in cash, securities or equities is made in the expectation of a corresponding 
receipt in cash, securities or equities. Daily settlement limits are established for each counterparty, to comply with the aggregate 
settlement risk limits established for the Company’s market transactions on any single day.  Settlement risk is mitigated when 
transactions are effected via established payment systems, or on a delivery upon payment basis.

  2007  2006

  C£000  C£000  
By economic activity 

Trade 1.476.589  1.254.936

Manufacturing 469.163  432.268

Tourism 908.050  752.475

Property and construction 1.563.249  1.275.074

Personal and professional 4.408.774  3.262.311

Housing 2.130.066  1.520.971

Other sectors 456.910  354.323

  11.412.801  8.852.358

By geographical area  

Cyprus 5.781.446  4.188.895

Greece 4.635.031  3.811.938

United Kingdom 743.810  682.628

Australia 234.854  168.897

Romania and Russia 17.660  -

  11.412.801  8.852.358

Analysis of loans and advances to customers

  2007  2006

  C£000  C£000  

Neither past due nor impaired 9.748.696  7.396.452

Past due but not impaired 1.227.093  827.635

Impaired 437.012  628.271

  11.412.801  8.852.358

The credit quality of loans and advances to customers that were neither past due nor impaired is managed by the Group using 
internal credit ratings.  The table below shows the credit quality of loans and advances to customers that were neither past due nor 
impaired, based on the Group’s credit rating system.
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38. RISK MANAGEMENT – CREDIT RISK (continued)

Analysis of loans and advances to customers (continued)

 Neither past due nor impaired 

 Grade 1  Grade 2  Grade 3  Total
2007 C£000  C£000  C£000  C£000 

Cyprus 3.891.566  524.288  559.314  4.975.168

Greece 2.907.577  147.990  836.380  3.891.947

UK 430.633  74.666  163.841  669.140

Australia 108.434  57.507  38.865  204.806

Romania and Russia   7.635  -  -  7.635

 7.345.845  804.451  1.598.400  9.748.696

2006    

Cyprus  2.582.414  369.119  305.235      3.256.768

Greece 2.493.129  592.402  319.413  3.404.944

UK 435.899  14.869  141.978  592.746

Australia 136.038  4.999  957  141.994

 5.647.480  981.389  767.583  7.396.452

Loans and advances to customers that were neither past due nor in excess of their limit during the last twelve months are classified as Grade 1. 
Loans and advances to customers that were past due or in excess of their limit for up to 30 consecutive days during the first half of the last twelve 
months, or for up to 15 consecutive days during the last six months are classified as Grade 2.  The remaining loans and advances are classified as 
Grade 3.

Loans and advances to customers which were past due but not impaired

  2007  2006

  C£000  C£000  

Past due up to 30 days  764.723  507.271

Past due 31-90 days 312.070  202.915

Past due 91-180 days 89.723  44.930

Past due 181-365 days 22.360  19.522

Past due over one year 38.217  52.997

  1.227.093  827.635

The main reason why past due loans are not considered to be impaired, is that they are secured by tangible collateral whose value is sufficient to 
cover both the principal and interest.  

The collateral consists primarily of real estate, cash, letters of guarantee, floating and fixed charges.  More details are set out in “Collateral and 
other credit enhancements”.

The fair value of collateral that the Group holds in respect of loans and advances to customers that are past due but not impaired as at 31 
December 2007 amounts to C£967.153 thousand (2006: C£611.716 thousand).
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38. RISK MANAGEMENT – CREDIT RISK (continued)

Impaired loans and advances 
The analysis of gross loans and advances to customers that are individually determined to be impaired, by geographical area is 
shown in the table below:

  2007  2006

  C£000  C£000  

Cyprus 282.823  455.518

Greece 146.254  162.679

United Kingdom 7.928  10.043

Australia 7  31 

  437.012  628.271

The fair value of collateral that the Group holds in relation to individually impaired loans as at 31 December 2007 amounts to C£228.825 thousand 
(2006: C£238.216 thousand).  

The collateral consists primarily of real estate, cash, letters of guarantee, floating and fixed charges.  More details are set out in “Collateral and 
other credit enhancements”.

The movement of the provision for impairment for loans and advances to customers is shown in the table below:

  Cyprus  Greece  Other countries  Total
        provision for 
        impairment 

2007 C£000  C£000  C£000  C£000 

At 1 January  338.854  115.726  7.128  461.708

Exchange adjustments 3  1.252  (84 ) 1.171

Applied in writing off    

- interest on previous years’ impaired     
 loans and advances (121.488 ) (16.368 ) (850 ) (138.706 )

- impaired loans and advances (17.914 ) (12.962 ) (178 ) (31.054 )

Interest accrued on impaired loans and advances (11.665 ) (5.515 ) (266 ) (17.446 )

Collection of loans and advances previously written off 24.243  6.259  -  30.502

Charge for the year 14.836  17.564  303  32.703

At 31 December  226.869  105.956  6.053  338.878

Individual impairment 162.685  57.666  4.605  224.956

Collective impairment 64.184  48.290  1.448  113.922

2006    

At 1 January  312.489  92.613  8.708  413.810

Exchange adjustments (101 ) 895  127  921

Applied in writing off loans and advances (27.104 ) (17.673 ) (288 ) (45.065 )

Interest accrued on impaired loans and advances (13.943 ) (4.306 ) (312 ) (18.561 )

Collection of loans and advances previously written off 5.569  -  -  5.569

Charge/(credit) for the year 61.946  44.197  (1.109 ) 105.034

At 31 December  338.856  115.726  7.126  461.708

Individual Impairment 309.712  75.407  6.022  391.141

Collective Impairment 29.144  40.319  1.104  70.567
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38. RISK MANAGEMENT – CREDIT RISK (continued)

Impaired loans and advances (continued)
The charge for 2006 in the reconciliation above does not agree with the charge for the year as presented in the income statement as, 
part of the provision relating to suspended income in 2006 was netted off against interest and fees and commissions income.

Renegotiated loans
Renegotiated loans that would otherwise be past due or impaired at 31 December 2007 amounted to C£29.487 thousand (2006: 
C£28.321 thousand).

Collateral and other credit enhancements obtained
The carrying amount of assets obtained during the year by taking possession of collateral held as security are as follows:

  2007  2006

  C£000  C£000  

Residential property 478  629

Commercial and other property 5.645  12.061

  6.123  12.690

The majority of the repossessed assets are disposed of and the net proceeds are used to reduce or repay the outstanding debts.  
Depending on the agreement with the customer, any excess funds are either used to settle other debts of the customer, are returned 
to the customer or are credited to the income statement.

Analysis by rating agency designation 
Balances with central banks and placements with banks are analysed in accordance with their Moodys rating as follows: 

  2007  2006

  C£000  C£000  

Aaa – Aa3 3.180.193  2.026.469

A1 – A3 583.137  850.189

Baa1 – Baa3 52.476  2.543

Unrated 257.690  175.601

Items in course of collection from banks 43.968  46.143

  4.117.464  3.100.945
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38. RISK MANAGEMENT – CREDIT RISK (continued)

Analysis by rating agency designation (continued)
Debt securities and treasury bills are analysed in accordance with their Moodys rating as follows:

 Debt securities  Treasury  Total 
   bills  

2007  C£000  C£000  C£000
Analysis by Moodys rating   

Aaa – Aa3 1.385.554  -  1.385.554

A1 – A3 903.655  -  903.655

Baa1 – Baa3 699  -  699

Unrated 8.234  -  8.234

 2.298.142  -  2.298.142

Of which issued by   

- Cyprus government 496.669  -  496.669

- other governments 506.174  -  506.174

- European banks and other organisations  1.292.557  -  1.292.557

- Cyprus local authorities 1.685  -  1.685

- Cyprus public companies 1.057  -  1.057

 2.298.142  -  2.298.142

Of which classified as   

- trading investments 159.276  -  159.276

- investments at fair value through profit or loss 106.975  -  106.975

- available-for-sale investments 1.958.470  -  1.958.470

- held-to-maturity investments 73.421  -  73.421

 2.298.142  -  2.298.142

2006
Analysis by Moodys rating   

Aaa – Aa3 1.347.700  -  1.347.700

A1 – A3 870.906  41.563  912.469

Baa1 – Baa3 16.134  -  16.134

Unrated 20.885  -  20.885

 2.255.625  41.563  2.297.188

Of which issued by   

- Cyprus government 500.738  41.563  542.301

- other governments 463.113  -  463.113

- European banks and other organisations 1.289.339  -  1.289.339

- Cyprus local authorities  1.221  -  1.221

- Cyprus public companies  1.214  -  1.214

 2.255.625  41.563  2.297.188

Of which classified as   

- trading investments 158.334  -  158.334

- investments at fair value through profit or loss 65.188  -  65.188

- available-for-sale investments 2.029.509  41.563  2.071.072

- held-to-maturity investments  2.594  -  2.594

 2.255.625  41.563  2.297.188
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39. RISK MANAGEMENT – MARKET RISK
Market risk is the risk of loss from changes in market prices – namely from changes in interest rates, exchange rates and security prices.  Group 
Market Risk Management is responsible for monitoring compliance with the various market risk policies and procedures.

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest 
rates.  It arises as a result of timing differences on the repricing of assets and liabilities. 

Interest rate risk is measured using interest rate sensitivity gap analysis where the difference between assets and liabilities repricing in each time 
band is calculated, separately for each currency.  This difference is then multiplied with the assumed change in interest rates for the period from 
the repricing date until twelve months from the date of the analysis, in order to find the annual impact on earnings of any changes in interest rates 
for the next twelve months for each currency.  

In order to manage interest rate risk, there are maximum loss limits from interest rate mis-matches for each banking unit of the Group. There are 
different limits for the Cyprus pound and for foreign currencies.  Maximum loss limits apply for each of the first three years.  They were set as a 
percentage of Group capital (1,5%) and as a percentage of net interest income (5%) and were allocated to the various banking units of the Group 
based on their contribution to net interest income.  Small limits for open interest rate positions have been approved for periods of more than three 
years. 
 
Sensitivity analysis 
The table below indicates the effect on the Group’s net interest income, over a one-year period, from reasonably possible changes in the interest 
rates of the main currencies:

 Cyprus  Euro  US Dollars  British  Other  Total
 pound      pounds  Currencies 

Change in interest rates C£000  C£000  C£000  C£000  C£000  C£000  

2007      

+0,5% for all currencies 6.218  1.040  711  513  277  8.466

-1,5% for US Dollars and 
-0,5% for all other currencies (6.294 ) (1.080 ) (3.112 ) (533 ) (347 ) (10.659 )

2006      

+0,5% for all currencies 4.025  988  448  246  89  5.619

-0,5% for all currencies (4.282 ) (1.875 ) (1.048 ) (352 ) (128 ) (7.383 )

The total change in net interest income differs from the sum of the changes for each individual currency, as it has been calculated based on the 
actual correlation coefficients between the interest rates of the various foreign currencies, and perfect positive correlation between the interest 
rate of the foreign currencies and the Cyprus pound.
 
In addition to the above fluctuations in net interest income, the results of the Group are affected by changes in interest rates fluctuations in the fair 
value of investments classified as investments at fair value through profit or loss (including investments held for trading) and from fluctuations in 
the fair value of derivative financial instruments.

Furthermore, the equity of the Group is also influenced by changes in market interest rates.  The changes in the Group’s equity arise from changes 
in the fair value of fixed rate debt securities classified as “available-for-sale” as well as from changes in the fair value of derivative financial 
instruments which are hedging instruments in effective cash flow hedges.

The sensitivity analysis is based on the assumption of a parallel movement of the yield curve.  The table below shows the change in net profit and 
equity of the Group due to reasonably possible changes in interest rates of the major currencies.
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39. RISK MANAGEMENT – MARKET RISK (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis  (continued)

  Impact on net  Impact on 
Change in interest rates profit  equity

  C£000  C£000 
2007

+0,5% for all currencies 3.349  (14.746 )

-1,5% for US Dollars and -0,5% for all other currencies (1.930 ) 19.517

2006  

+0,5% for all currencies 4.958  (13.459 )

-0,5% for all currencies (4.758 ) 13.759

Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange 
rates.

In order to manage currency risk, the Group Assets and Liabilities Committee (‘ALCO’) has approved open position limits for each currency or 
group of currencies and total foreign exchange position limits.  There are larger limits for intra-day positions and lower limits for overnight 
positions.  The foreign exchange position limits are lower than those prescribed by the Central Bank of Cyprus.

Trading book positions are only allowed in Cyprus.  The Group ALCO has approved maximum loss limits (daily and monthly) and a Value at Risk 
(‘VaR’) limit.  These limits are monitored by the Group Market Risk Management.  

VaR is measured using the variance/co-variance methodology, which is based on the assumption that the daily changes in prices follow the normal 
distribution.  VaR is calculated with a confidence interval of 99% for a one-day holding period, using historic data for foreign exchange rates over 
the last five years.  The use of a 99% confidence interval means that, within a one-day horizon, losses exceeding the VaR figure should occur, on 
average, not more than once every hundred days.  

The VaR method indicates an estimate of the possible losses of the trading book, under the above assumptions and not the actual losses.  Although 
a valuable guide to risk, VaR has various limitations, such as the fact that historical data may not always be an accurate reflector of future events.  
In addition, the use of a one-day holding period assumes that all positions can be liquidated in one day.  This is not considered a significant 
limitation, since the Group’s foreign currency positions are very small relative to market volumes and the Group is thus confident of being able 
to reverse them within a day.  Moreover, the use of a 99% confidence level implies that no account is taken of losses beyond this confidence level.  
Finally, VaR is calculated on the basis of overnight exposures and does not reflect intra-day exposures.

To mitigate the above limitations, stop-loss limits are in place for the trading book.

The VaR for foreign exchange trading book positions was as follows:

  2007  2006

  C£000  C£000  

Average  77  185

Highest  167  428

Lowest 2  3

During 2007 the realised losses did not exceed the VaR any single day.

There are no specific limits set for the banking book.  There are combined intra-day and overnight position limits for the trading book and the 
banking book.  Adherence to the limits is monitored on a daily basis by the Group Market Risk Management.
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39. RISK MANAGEMENT – MARKET RISK (continued)

Currency risk (continued)

Currency Net open  Change in  Impact on net 
 position  exchange  profit
   rate

2007  C£000  %  C£000

Euro 20.759  +0,5  104

US Dollar 5.793  +6,0  348

British pound (272 ) +4,0  (11 )

Other currencies  (313 ) +8,0  (25 )

Euro 20.759  -0,5  (104 )

US Dollar 5.793  -6,0  (348 )

British pound (272 ) -4,0  11

Other currencies  (313 ) -8,0  25

2006   

Euro 70.728  +0,5  354

US Dollar 1.010  +6,0  61

British pound 7.061  +4,0  282

Other currencies  475  +8,0  38

Euro 70.728  -0,5  (354 )

US Dollar 1.010  -6,0  (61 )

British pound 7.061  -4,0  (282 )

Other currencies  475  -8,0  (38 )

Price risk 
Equity securities price risk
The risk of loss from changes in the price of equity shares, arises when there is an unfavourable change in the price of investment in 
equity securities held by the Group.

In order to control the risk of loss from changes in the price of equities there are maximum limits for the amounts that can be 
invested in shares in the trading book and other restrictions, like maximum amount invested in a specific issuer, specific industry, 
etc. 

A change in the price of equity securities that are measured at fair value through profit or loss, affect the profit of the Group, whereas 
a change in the value of equity securities classified as “available for sale” affect the equity of the Group.  The table below indicates 
how the net profit and equity of the Group will be affected from a change in the price of the equity securities held, as a result of 
reasonably possible changes in the relevant stock exchange indices. 

The table below sets out the Group’s foreign exchange risk resulting from its open foreign exchange positions.  The analysis assumes 
reasonably possible changes in exchange rates of major currencies against the Cyprus pound, based on past price fluctuations.
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39. RISK MANAGEMENT – MARKET RISK (continued)

Price risk (continued)

Equity securities price risk (continued)

 Change in index  Impact on  Impact on 
   net profit  equity

2007  %  C£000  C£000

Cyprus Stock Exchange +25  4.327  10.665

Athens Exchange +15  1.043  46

Cyprus Stock Exchange -25  (4.327 ) (10.665 )

Athens Exchange  -15  (1.043 ) (46 )

2006    

Cyprus Stock Exchange +25  828  10.456

Athens Exchange  +15  -  -

Cyprus Stock Exchange -25  (828 ) (10.456 )

Athens Exchange  -15  -  -

Debt securities price risk is the risk of loss as a result of an adverse change in the price of debt securities held by the Group. Debt 
security prices change as the credit risk of the issuers change.  The Group invests a significant part of its liquid assets in debt 
securities issued mostly by governments and international banks.  The average Moodys rating of the debt securities portfolio of the 
Group as at 31 December 2007 was Aa3.  

A change in the price of debt securities measured at fair value through profit or loss, affects the profit of the Group, whereas a 
change in the value of debt securities classified as “available for sale” affects the equity of the Group.  The table below indicates how 
the profit and equity of the Group will be affected from reasonably possible changes in the price of the debt securities held, based on 
observations of changes in credit risk over the past years.

  Impact on net  Impact on 
Change in market price profit  equity

  C£000  C£000 
2007

+3% 16.454  51.580

-4% (21.939 ) (67.045 )

2006   

+1% 5.252  17.505

-2% (10.505 ) (34.450 )
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40. RISK MANAGEMENT – LIQUIDITY RISK 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to fully or promptly meet payment obligations and potential payment obligations as 
and when they fall due.  This risk includes the possibility that the Group may have to raise funding at higher cost or sell assets at a 
discount.

The Group’s banking business requires a steady flow of funds both to replace existing deposits as they mature and to satisfy 
customer requests for additional borrowing. Undrawn borrowing facilities are also taken into consideration in managing the liquidity 
position. 

Group assets are mainly funded by deposits.  The distribution of sources and the maturity of deposits are actively monitored in order 
to avoid concentration of funding maturing at any point in time or from a small number of depositors.  Moreover, the percentages of 
fixed deposits that are renewed are monitored every quarter and are maintained at high levels.  The Group relies almost exclusively 
on stable funding sources in order to finance illiquid assets.

Liquidity is monitored daily by Group Market Risk Management.  The responsibility for the management of liquidity rests with the 
treasury units at each location, in cooperation with Group Treasury.

Group Market Risk Management is responsible for monitoring the liquidity position of all banking units of the Group in order to 
ensure compliance with both internal policies, and with the limits set by the regulatory authorities in the countries where the Group 
operates.

The liquidity position is assessed under various scenarios, including a bank-specific crisis and a market crisis.  Under both scenarios 
there are more liquid assets than maturing obligations in the first five days.

The Group maintains at all times a diversified portfolio of highly liquid assets in the principal currencies in which it transacts. 
Moreover a liquidity ratio of liquid assets to total liabilities falling due in the next twelve months is monitored at Group level with the 
minimum acceptable ratio set at 25%.  Liquid assets are defined as cash, interbank deposits maturing in the next thirty days and 
debt and equity securities at discounts prescribed by the regulatory authorities.

The liquidity ratio was as follows:

  2007 

  %

31 December 40,5

Average ratio 39,5

Highest ratio 41,9

Lowest ratio 35,2

Analysis of financial liabilities by remaining contractual maturity
The table below presents the Group’s financial liabilities based on undiscounted cash flows, analysed in time bands according to the 
number of days remaining from 31 December until their contractual maturity date.  Repayments for which notice should be given, 
have been placed in the relevant time bands, as if notice has been given on 31 December.  The Group does not expect that most 
customers will ask for repayment of such liabilities on the earliest possible date.

The amounts in this table may not be equal to the balance sheet amounts since the table below presents all cash flows (including 
interest) on an undiscounted basis.
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40. RISK MANAGEMENT – LIQUIDITY RISK  (continued)

Analysis of financial liabilities by remaining contractual maturity (continued)

 On demand  Between one  Between  Between one  Over five  Total
 and up to one month  and three  three months  and five years  years 
   months  and one year

2007 C£000  C£000  C£000  C£000  C£000  C£000  

Amounts due to banks 403.286  184.743  20.810  125.926  -  734.765

Repurchase agreements 146.400  -  -  126.450  -  272.850

Customer deposits  9.718.996  2.987.623  2.053.967  85.645  117  14.846.348

Debt securities in issue 67.599  206.749  24.668  480.132  231  779.379

Derivative financial instruments  – 
contractual amount payable  354.938  201.299  118.055  16.055  4.449  694.796

Derivative financial instruments – 
contractual amount receivable (346.844 ) (198.057 ) (114.449 ) (13.402 ) (4.532 ) (677.284 )

Subordinated loan stock -  60.260  129.817  252.445  -  442.522

Other liabilities  113.113  148  -  -  -  113.261

 10.457.488  3.442.765  2.232.868  1.073.251  265  17.206.637

2006      

Amounts due to banks 120.219  94.182  10.795  51.967  -  277.163

Customer deposits 7.453.676  2.824.974  1.722.469  193.119  -  12.194.238

Debt securities in issue 51.686  36.788  12.786  362.751  288  464.299

Derivative financial instruments  –
contractual amount payable  98.292  121.300  142.543  19.117  8.838  390.090

Derivative financial instruments – 
contractual amount receivable (97.969 ) (120.590 ) (140.231 ) (19.880 ) (9.151 ) (387.821 )

Subordinated loan stock 1.888  3.253  12.164  157.822  219.513  394.640

Other liabilities  89.093  1.948  2.469  -  -  93.510

 7.716.885  2.961.855  1.762.995  764.896  219.488  13.426.119

41. RISK MANAGEMENT – OTHER RISKS 

Operational risk
Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from fraud, unauthorised activities, error, omission, inefficiency, systems failure or external events.  It is 
inherent in every business organisation and covers a wide range of issues.

The Group manages operational risk through a control-based environment in which processes are documented and transactions are reconciled 
and monitored.  This is supported by a programme of periodic reviews undertaken by the Group Internal Audit department and by continuous 
monitoring of operational risk incidents to ensure that past failures are not repeated.

Regulatory risk
The operations of the Company are supervised by the Central Bank of Cyprus.  All banks in Cyprus, including the Company, have to comply with the 
requirements of both the European Union and Cyprus legislation, as well as with the regulatory framework of the Central Bank of Cyprus.  Legal or 
regulatory changes may be introduced in the future either by the European Union or by the Central Bank of Cyprus which may adversely affect the 
results and financial position of the Company.
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41. RISK MANAGEMENT – OTHER RISKS (continued)

Regulatory risk (continued)
The operations of the Cyprus insurance companies are supervised by the Registrar of Insurance Companies.  Legal and regulatory 
changes may be introduced in the future by the European Union or by the Registrar which may adversely affect the results and 
financial position of the Group’s insurance companies. 

Intensity of competition 
The Group faces intense competition in the markets in which it operates.  In Cyprus, competition originates primarily from 
commercial banks, co-operative credit and savings institutions, international banking units and insurance companies, which offer 
similar products and services.  

The accession of Cyprus to the European Union and the introduction of the Euro in 2008 facilitates the operation of European banks, 
financial and insurance organisations in the Cyprus market, thus increasing competition.

In Greece, the Group competes with Greek banks, which control the largest share of the total assets of the banking system, as well 
as with co-operative banks and branches of credit institutions headquartered in other European Union member countries. 

Any intensification of competition as a result of more competitive interest rates being offered on deposits and advances compared to 
those offered by the Group, may create pressure on Group profitability. 

Litigation risk
The Group may, from time to time, become involved in legal or arbitration proceedings which may affect the Group’s operations and 
results.  Litigation risk arises from pending or potential legal proceedings against the Group (Note 33) and in the event that legal 
issues are not properly dealt with by the Group, resulting in the cancellation of contracts with customers thus exposing the Group to 
legal actions against it.

Political and economic risk
External factors which are not under the control of the Group, like political and economic developments in Cyprus and overseas, may 
adversely affect the operations of the Group, its strategy and prospects.  Such factors include changes in government policy, changes 
in European Union and European Central Bank policies, fluctuations in consumer confidence and the level of consumer spending, 
political instability or military conflict which affect Europe and/or other areas overseas and social developments in the countries in 
which the Group operates.

Insurance risk
This is the risk that an insured event under an insurance contract occurs and the uncertainty of the amount of the resulting claim. By 
the very nature of an insurance contract, this risk is random and therefore unpredictable.

For a portfolio of insurance contracts where the theory of probability is applied to pricing and provisioning, the principal risk that 
the Company faces under its insurance contracts is that the actual claims and benefit payments exceed the carrying amount 
of insurance liabilities.  This could occur because the frequency or severity of claims and benefits are greater than estimated. 
Insurance events are random and the actual number and amount of claims and benefits will vary from year to year from the estimate 
established using statistical techniques.

The above risk exposure is mitigated by the Group through the diversification across a large portfolio of insurance contracts. The 
variability of risks is also improved by careful selection and implementation of underwriting strategy guidelines, as well as the use 
of reinsurance arrangements.  Although the Group has reinsurance arrangements, it is not relieved of its direct obligations and thus 
a credit exposure exists with respect to ceded insurance, to the extent that any reinsurer is unable to meet its obligations assumed 
under such reinsurance arrangements. For that reason, the creditworthiness of reinsurers is considered on an annual basis by 
reviewing their financial strength.

42. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The adequacy of the Group’s capital is monitored by reference to the rules and ratios established by the Basel Committee on 
Banking Supervision, as adopted by the Central Bank of Cyprus.  In December 2006 the Central Bank of Cyprus issued the Directive 
for the calculation of the capital requirements and large exposures of banks, (the “Directive”, “Basel II”) adopting the provisions 
of the European Union’s directive based on Basel II capital adequacy rules.  Basel II consists of three pillars:  (I) Minimum Capital 
Requirements, (II) Supervisory Review Process and (III) Market Discipline.

The Group has implemented the provisions of the Directive as from 1 January 2007.  Up to 31 December 2006 the Group was 
calculating its capital adequacy in accordance with the previous Capital Adequacy Directive of the Central Bank of Cyprus (“Basel I”). 
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42. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (continued)
Pillar I - Minimum Capital Requirements 
The Group adopted the Standardised approach for Credit, Market and Operational risk.  

According to the Standardised approach for credit risk, in calculating the minimum capital requirement, risk weights are assigned to 
exposures, after the consideration of various mitigating factors, according to the exposure class to which they belong.  For exposures 
with institutions and corporates, the risk weight also depends on the term of the exposure (more favourable risk weights apply where 
the exposure is under three months).  

The standardised measurement method for the capital requirement for market risk adds together the positions for interest rate, 
equity position, foreign exchange, commodity risk and price risk on options, according to predefined models to determine the capital 
requirement.  

For operational risk, the standardised approach divides banking activities into eight business lines.  Gross income is used as the 
main indicator in determining the operational risk exposures within each of the business lines.  The capital requirement is computed 
using the average, on a three year basis, of the weighted indicators for the business lines.

Pillar II – The Supervisory Review Process
The Supervisory Review Process provides rules to ensure that adequate capital is in place to support any risk exposures of the 
Group in addition to requiring appropriate risk management, reporting and governance structures.  Pillar II covers any risk not fully 
addressed in Pillar I, such as credit concentration risk, interest rate risk in the banking book, business and strategy risk and any 
external factor affecting the Group (e.g. business cycle effects).  

Pillar II connects the regulatory capital requirements to the Group’s internal capital adequacy assessment procedures (ICAAP) and to 
the reliability of its internal control structures.  The function of Pillar II is to provide communication between supervisors and banks 
on a continuous basis and to evaluate how well the banks are assessing their capital needs relative to their risks.  If a deficiency 
arises, prompt and decisive action is taken to restore the appropriate relationship of capital to risk.

Pillar III – Market Discipline 
Market Discipline requires the disclosure of information regarding the risk management policies of the Group, as well as the results 
of the calculations of minimum capital requirements, together with concise information as to the composition of original own funds 
and additional own funds together with the associated deductions.  In addition the results of ICAAP are disclosed together with 
various breakdowns for credit risk exposures.

Capital management  
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that the Group complies with externally imposed capital 
requirements and that the Group maintains strong credit ratings and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and to 
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk 
characteristics of its activities.  In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividend 
payment to shareholders or issue subordinated debt as part of its EMTN programme, or issue capital securities (hybrid capital).  In 
addition, the Group may opt for equity increases through a rights issue or the issue of warrants.

As from 1 January 2007 the Central Bank of Cyprus requires each bank to maintain a minimum ratio of capital to risk weighted 
assets of 8%.  The Central Bank of Cyprus may impose additional capital charges for risks not covered under Pillar I.  For 2006 the 
minimum capital adequacy ratio set by the Central Bank of Cyprus under the Capital Adequacy Directive was 10%.

During 2007 and 2006 the Group had complied in full with all externally imposed capital requirements.
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42. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (continued)
Capital management (continued)

  2007  2006
  Basel II  Basel I

Regulatory capital  C£000  C£000  

Original own funds  981.952  782.588

Supplementary own funds  305.927  260.504

Total capital 1.287.879  1.043.092

Risk weighted assets – credit risk 9.181.347  8.654.961

Risk weighted assets – market risk 34.488  -

Risk weighted assets – operational risk 942.538  -

  10.158.373  8.654.961

  %  %

Tier 1 ratio 9,7  9,1

Tier 2 ratio 3,0  3,0

Total capital ratio 12,7  12,1

Under the Directive regulatory capital comprises of: 
(i) Original own funds consist mainly of paid up share capital, share premium, retained earnings less any proposed dividends,   
 minority interest and capital securities (hybrids) (up to 15% of total original own funds) after the application of prudential filters  
 relating mainly to fair value reserves.  The book value of goodwill and other intangible assets are deducted from original own   
 funds.
(ii) Supplementary own funds include mainly subordinated debt and revaluation reserves (property revaluation reserve and other  
 unrealised gains arising from the revaluation of financial instruments in accordance with IFRSs).

Investments in non banking subsidiaries and participations in the share capital or subordinated capital of other credit institutions, 
the book value of which exceeds 10% of their capital base, are deducted equally from original own funds and supplementary own 
funds.

There are also local capital requirements for some banking subsidiaries operating overseas; these subsidiaries also comply with 
these requirements in addition to the Directive set by the Central Bank of Cyprus.

The increase of regulatory capital during the year 2007 is mainly due to current year profit, after taking into account dividends paid 
and proposed and the increase of equity through the exercise of the options and dividend reinvestment. The increase of the risk 
weighted assets reflects the growth of balance sheet assets as well as business growth during the year.
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43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

 2007  2006  2007  2006
 Number of directors C£000  C£000 

Loans and advances to members of the Board 
of Directors and connected persons:    

- more than 1% of the Group’s
 net assets per director 4  4  70.583  71.542

- less than 1% of the Group’s
 net assets per director 14  14  11.904  12.688

  18  18  82.487  84.230

Loans and advances to key management 
personnel and connected persons     513  523

Total loans and other advances     83.000  84.753

Analysis of loans and advances    

- members of the Board of  
 Directors and key management personnel     5.744  4.806

- connected persons     77.256  79.947

      83.000  84.753

Tangible securities     130.891  135.760

Interest income     4.701  4.498

Deposits of    

- members of the Board of Directors and 
 key management personnel     50.313  3.291

- connected persons     24.964  14.990

      75.277  18.281

Interest expense     2.152  322

In addition to loans and advances, there were contingent liabilities in respect of members of the Board of Directors and their connected persons, 
mainly in the form of documentary credits, guarantees and commitments to lend amounting to C£49.758 thousand (2006: C£51.792 thousand). Of 
these, C£46.548 thousand (2006: C£48.503 thousand) relate to directors and their connected persons, whose total credit facilities exceed 1% of 
the net assets of the Group per director.  There were also contingent liabilities to Group key management personnel and their connected persons 
amounting to C£191 thousand (2006: C£391 thousand).

Connected persons include spouses, minor children and companies in which directors or key management personnel hold, directly or indirectly, at 
least 20% of the voting shares in a general meeting, or act as directors or control the entities in any way.

All transactions with members of the Board of Directors and with their connected persons are made on normal business terms.  A number of 
credit facilities have been extended to key management personnel and their connected persons with the same terms as those which apply to the 
rest of the Group’s employees.
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43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Fees and emoluments of members of the Board of Directors and Group key management personnel

  2007  2006

Directors’ emoluments C£000  C£000  

Non executives  

Fees 433  475

Executives  

Emoluments in executive capacity  

Salaries and other short term benefits 1.545  939

Employer’s contributions 46  29

Retirement benefit plan costs 109  88

Share-based payments – Share Options 5  5

Total emoluments in executive capacity 1.705  1.061

Total emoluments of non executive director who is 
also an employee of the Company 57  -

Total fees and emoluments of directors 2.195  1.536

Key management personnel emoluments   

Salaries and other short term benefits 1.228  799

Employer’s contributions  51  43

Retirement benefit plan costs 114  89

Share-based payments – Share Options 10  10

Total key management personnel emoluments  1.403  941

Total 3.598  2.477

The total emoluments of the executive directors for the year, including employer’s contributions and other benefits were: one 
director in the range of C£400 – C£450 thousand, one director in the range of C£500 – C£550 thousand and one director in the range 
of C£750 – C£800 thousand (2006: one director in the range of C£250 – C£300, one director in the range of C£300 – C£350 thousand 
and one director in the range of C£450 – C£500 thousand). 

The fees and emoluments of key management personnel comprise the amounts of the Group General Managers.  The fees and 
emoluments of the executive directors comprise the emoluments of the three members of the Group Executive Management team.

In the context of the Share Options 2006/2007 issued by the Company to the Group’s permanent employees on 30 September 2006, 
15.000 share options were granted to the executive directors at the exercise price of C£4,32 per option (fair value C£0,69 per option) 
and 18.000 options were granted to key management personnel at the exercise price of C£3,70 per option (fair value C£1,06 per 
option).  All Share Options 2006/2007 were exercised by their holders during 2007.  

The executive directors participate in the main retirement benefit plan for the Group’s permanent employees in Cyprus, which is a 
defined benefit plan.  Their total retirement benefits increased during 2007 by C£586 thousand (2006: C£489 thousand).

As at 31 December 2006 there was a provision of C£1.367 thousand relating to amounts payable to three directors, following their 
retirement from executive duties, which were paid in 2007.

Other transactions with related parties
Mr Andreas Artemis, Vice-Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Company, holds an indirect interest and is Chairman of the 
Board of Directors of the Commercial General Insurance Ltd group which is engaged in general insurance business in Cyprus and 
Greece.  The Commercial General Insurance Ltd group has entered into reinsurance arrangements with General Insurance of Cyprus 
Ltd, a subsidiary of the Company.  The total reinsurance premiums assigned to the Commercial General Insurance Ltd group in 2007 
amounted to C£713 thousand (2006: C£703 thousand).
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43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Other transactions with related parties (continued)

Mrs Anna Diogenous, member of the Board of Directors of the Company, holds an indirect interest in the company Pylones SA Hellas, 
which supplies the branch of the Company in Greece with equipment and services following tender procedures and in the company 
Unicars Ltd which supplies the Company in Cyprus with cars and related services.  The total purchases from these companies in 
2007 amounted to C£542 thousand (2006: C£486 thousand).  Also, the company Mellon Cyprus Ltd which supplies the Group with 
equipment, is significantly influenced by a person connected to Mrs Anna Diogenous.  The total purchases from this company in 2007 
amounted to C£526 thousand (2006: C£88 thousand).

Mr Costas Z. Severis, member of the Board of Directors of the Company, is the main shareholder of the company D. Severis and Sons 
Ltd, which is an agent of the subsidiary of the Company, General Insurance of Cyprus Ltd.  The total commissions paid to D. Severis 
and Sons Ltd in 2007 amounted to C£97 thousand (2006: C£92 thousand).

44. GROUP COMPANIES
The companies and branches included in the consolidated financial statements of the Group and their activities (by country of 
registered office) are:

Cyprus Activities

Bank of Cyprus Public Company Ltd Commercial bank

Mortgage Bank of Cyprus Ltd Commercial bank

The Cyprus Investment and Securities 
Corporation Ltd (CISCO) Investment banking 

General Insurance of Cyprus Ltd General insurance 

EuroLife Ltd Life insurance 

Kermia Ltd Property trading and development

Kermia Properties & Investments Ltd Property trading and development

Kermia Hotels Ltd Hotel business

BOC Ventures Ltd Management of venture capital investments

Tefkros Investments Ltd Investment fund

Bank of Cyprus Mutual Funds Ltd Distribution of mutual funds

JCC Payment Systems Ltd Credit card transactions processing

Cytrustees Investment Public Company Ltd (Note 45) Closed - end investment company

Interfund Investment Plc (Note 46) Closed - end investment company

Greece 

Bank of Cyprus Public Company Ltd (branch) Commercial bank

Kyprou Leasing SA Leasing 

Kyprou Commercial SA Financing of motor vehicles and other 
 consumer products

Kyprou Securities SA Investment banking 

Kyprou Mutual Fund Management Company
(Kyprou AEDAK) Management of mutual funds

Kyprou Properties SA Property management

Kyprou Insurance Services Ltd General insurance brokers

Kyprou Zois (branch of EuroLife Ltd ) Life insurance 

Kyprou Asfalistiki (branch of General 
Insurance of Cyprus Ltd) General insurance 
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United Kingdom Activities

Bank of Cyprus United Kingdom (branch) Commercial bank

Channel Islands 

Bank of Cyprus (Channel Islands) Ltd Commercial bank

Tefkros Investments (CI) Ltd Investment fund

Australia 

Bank of Cyprus Australia Ltd Commercial bank

Romania 

Bank of Cyprus Romania (branch) Commercial bank

Cyprus Leasing Romania IFN SA Leasing

Russia 

LLC CB “Bank of Cyprus” Commercial bank

“Bank of Cyprus Leasing Co” Ltd Leasing 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

44. GROUP COMPANIES (continued)

The investment in Cytrustees Investment Public Company Ltd was included in the financial statements as an associate during the period from 
8 February to 26 April 2007 using the equity method.  Following the acquisition of additional shares by the Group on 27 April 2007 (Note 45), the 
company is accounted for as a subsidiary, in accordance with the provisions of IFRSs.

The investment in Interfund Investments Plc was acquired on 21 May 2007 and is accounted for as an associate using the equity method.

The subsidiary company LLC CB “Bank of Cyprus” obtained its license of operation in Russia on 6 June 2007 and was included in the financial 
statements as from that date.  The subsidiary company “Bank of Cyprus Leasing Co” Ltd was incorporated on 16 October 2007 and was included in 
the financial statements as from that date.  

The subsidiary company Cyprus Leasing Romania IFN SA and the branch of the Company in Romania (Bank of Cyprus Romania) were included 
in the financial statements for the first time during the three months ended 31 December 2006.  The above companies commenced operations in 
2007.

In November 2007 the Company signed an agreement for the acquisition of 95% of the share capital of the Ukrainian bank AvtoZAZBank.  The 
agreement is subject to the relevant approvals being obtained from the supervisory authorities in Ukraine.

The subsidiary BOC International Fund Management Ltd, incorporated in Ireland, was dissolved on 9 November 2007 and is no longer included in 
the financial statements. 

The subsidiary Old Company (BCL) Ltd has been liquidated in 2007 and is not included in the financial statements. 

All the above companies are wholly owned subsidiaries, except for the following companies:

Company Shareholding  Accounting treatment
  31 Dec. 2007  31 Dec. 2006

JCC Payment Systems Ltd 45,00%  45,00% Proportional consolidation  

Cytrustees Investment Public Company Ltd 49,98%  3,31% Consolidation 
     (8 February until 26 April 2007: 
     Equity method)

Interfund Investments Plc 22,83%  - Equity method

There were no changes in the companies being consolidated and their accounting treatment compared to 31 December 2006 other than the 
changes described in this note.
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44. GROUP COMPANIES (continued)

  2007 2006

  C£000 C£000  

Gross income 6.253 5.887

Profit before tax 2.567 2.475

Net assets 11.151 10.343

Total assets 15.428 13.348

45. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARY

During the period between 8 February 2007 to 26 April 2007 the Company increased its shareholding in Cytrustees Investment Public 
Company Ltd (“Cytrustees”) from 3,31% (held as at 31 December 2006) to 24,89% by acquiring 21,58% of Cytrustees, and accounted 
for this acquisition using the equity method.  Cytrustees is a closed-end investment company listed on the Cyprus Stock Exchange.  
On 27 April 2007, the Company acquired an additional 23,14% of the share capital of Cytrustees.  As from that date, Cytrustees is 
accounted for as a subsidiary, in accordance with the provisions of IFRSs.  During June and November 2007 the Group elected to 
reinvest its dividend from Cytrustees, as a result of which additional shares of the company were acquired.  As at 31 December 2007, 
the Company held 49,98% of the share capital of Cytrustees.

The share of the fair value of the identifiable net assets of Cytrustees acquired and the negative goodwill arising as at the respective 
acquisition dates were:

  Fair value  Fair value
  recognised on  recognised on
  acquisition of  acquisition of 
  subsidiary  associate

  C£000  C£000 

Net assets  12.028  10.006

Negative goodwill arising on acquisition 
(Notes 8 and 10) (1.943 ) (2.184 )

Total consideration  10.085  7.822

The majority of net assets represent investments in equity and debt securities.

The fair values recognised on acquisition are equal to the carrying amounts of the net assets immediately before the acquisition.

Cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiary C£000

Net cash acquired 1.490

Cash paid (10.085 )

Net cash outflow (8.595 )

The profit after tax attributable to the shareholders of the Company from the acquisition date (27 April 2007) to 31 December 2007 
amounted to C£2.523 thousand.

The Group’s share in the key financial figures of the jointly controlled entity JCC Payment Systems Ltd is:
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46. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE

The Company has 22,83% interest in Interfund Investments Plc which is a closed-end investment company listed on the Cyprus Stock 
Exchange.  The holding was acquired on 21 May 2007. 

The share of the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired and the negative goodwill arising as at the date of acquisition were:

  Fair value 
  recognised on 
  acquisition 

  C£000

Fair value of net assets (mainly trading investments) on acquisition date 11.412

Negative goodwill arising on acquisition (Note 10) (633 )

Total consideration  10.779

The fair values recognised on acquisition are equal to the carrying amount of the net assets immediately before the acquisition.

The Group’s interest in Interfund Investments Plc is as follows:

  31 December 2007

  C£000

Total assets  10.160

Liabilities (24 )

Net assets 10.136

Carrying amount of the investment 10.136

Market value of investment on the Cyprus Stock Exchange 8.875

Share of the associate’s revenue and profit 

Revenue 2.319

Profits after tax  2.289

47. EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

On 1 January 2008, date of the introduction of the Euro as the new official currency of the Republic of Cyprus, the functional currency 
of the Company and its subsidiaries in Cyprus changed from Cyprus pounds to the Euro.  As a result of this change, as from 1 
January 2008 all assets and liabilities of the Company and its subsidiaries in Cyprus have been converted using the fixed conversion 
rate of €1 = C£0,585274.

In addition, the nominal value of the Company’s shares was converted from C£0,50 to €1,00, as explained in Note 28.



140 INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS
OF BANK OF CYPRUS PUBLIC COMPANY LTD

Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Bank of Cyprus Public Company Ltd (the Company) and its subsidiaries 
(the Group) on pages 8 to 103 which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2007, and the consolidated income 
statement, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a 
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes. 

Board of Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (EU) and International Financial 
Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the requirements of the Cyprus 
Companies Law, Cap. 113. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the 
preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; 
selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. 

Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance 
with International Standards on Auditing. Those Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of 
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by the Board of Directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as of 31 December 
2007, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as adopted by the EU and International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the IASB and the requirements of the 
Cyprus Companies Law, Cap. 113.

Report on Other Legal Requirements 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Companies Law, Cap. 113, we report the following:

We have obtained all the information and explanations we considered necessary for the purposes of our audit.
In our opinion, proper books of account have been kept by the Company.
The Company’s financial statements are in agreement with the books of account.
In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the consolidated financial 
statements give the information required by the Companies Law, Cap. 113, in the manner so required.
In our opinion, the information given in the report of the Board of Directors on pages 60 to 63 is consistent with the financial 
statements.

Other Matter
This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the Company’s members as a body in accordance with Section 
156 of the Companies Law, Cap. 113 and for no other purpose.  We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for 
any other purpose or to any other person to whose knowledge this report may come to.

Ernst & Young

Nicosia  
27 February 2008
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Banking Services 
• Bank of Cyprus Public Company Ltd (Cyprus-Greece-United Kingdom-Romania)
• Mortgage Bank of Cyprus Ltd (Cyprus)
• Bank of Cyprus Australia Ltd (Australia)
• Bank of Cyprus (Channel Islands) Ltd (Guernsey)
• LLC CB “Bank of Cyprus” (Russia)

Hire Purchase and Leasing Services 
• Bank of Cyprus Public Company Ltd (Cyprus)
• Kyprou Leasing SA (Greece)
• Kyprou Commercial SA (Greece)
• Cyprus Leasing Romania IFN SA (Romania)
• “Cyprus Leasing” LLC (Russia)

Investment Services
• The Cyprus Investment and Securities Corporation Ltd (CISCO) (Cyprus)
• Kyprou Securities SA (Greece)
• BOC Ventures Ltd (Cyprus)

Asset Management 
• Kyprou Mutual Fund Management Company SA (AEDAK) (Greece)
• Cytrustees Investment Public Company Ltd (49,98% participation) (Cyprus)
• Interfund Investment Plc (23% participation) (Cyprus)

Insurance Services 
• General Insurance of Cyprus Ltd (Cyprus-Greece)
• EuroLife Ltd (Cyprus-Greece)
 
Property and Hotel Services 
• Kermia Ltd (Cyprus)
 • Kermia Hotels Ltd (Cyprus)
• Kermia Properties & Investments Ltd (Cyprus)
• Kyprou Properties SA (Greece)

Credit Card Processing 
• JCC Payment Systems Ltd (45% participation) (Cyprus)



143BOARDS OF DIRECTORS 
OF THE MAIN GROUP SUBSIDIARIES AND BRANCHES 

MORTGAGE
BANK OF CYPRUS LTD
Chr. G. Christofides, Chairman
V. G. Rologis
A. Artemis
D. P. Ioannou
C. Z. Severis
Th. Aristodemou
G. M. Georgiades
M. Mavrommatis
A. Eliades

BANK OF CYPRUS GREECE
(DIVISIONAL BOARD)
Th. Aristodemou, Chairman
E. P. Ioannou
A. Artemis
A. Pittas
A. Diogenous
C. Z. Severis
I. Seiradakis, General Manager

BANK OF CYPRUS
UNITED KINGDOM
(DIVISIONAL BOARD)
A. Pittas, Chairman
A. Artemis
J. Buddle
D. P. Ioannou
A. J. Jacovides
S. Neophytou
Ph. Nunnerley
C. Z. Severis
I. Koumi
I. Koumi, General Manager

BANK OF CYPRUS
AUSTRALIA PTY LTD
A. Artemis, Chairman
E. P. Ioannou
A. Eliades
A. J. Jacovides
W. S. Van der Mye
S. Angelodemou
A. Petrakis
J. Beighton
J. Beighton, General Manager

BANK OF CYPRUS
(CHANNEL ISLANDS) LTD
A. Artemis, Chairman
D. P. Ioannou
S. Neophytou
J. Robinson
I. Bisson
A. J. H. Dempster, 
Executive 

THE CYPRUS INVESTMENT 
AND SECURITIES CORPORATION 
(CISCO) LTD
D. P. Ioannou, Chairman
A. Diogenous
C. Z. Severis
P. Antoniades
C. Damtsas
A. Sofroniou, Manager

KYPROU SECURITIES SA
Th. Aristodemou, Chairman
D. P. Ioannou
I. Seiradakis
A. Andreadakis
N. Strombolas
N. Nicolaides
N. Strombolas, General Manager

KYPROU MUTUAL FUND
MANAGEMENT COMPANY
SA (AEDAK)
N. Strapatsakis, Chairman
Th. Hadjinicolaou
S. Kyritsis
G. Talaros
V. Karellas
V. Karellas, General Manager

KERMIA LTD
A. Artemis, Chairman
A. Theocharides
Ch. Hadjipanayiotou
P. Antoniades
Chr. G. Christofides
C. Damtsas
St. Stavrinides, General Manager

BOC VENTURES LTD
Y. Kypri, Chairman
A. Jacouris
V. Shiarly
Chr. Hadjimitsis
Ph. Stasopoulos

LLC CB “BANK OF CYPRUS”
A. Eliades, Chairman
Y. Kypri
A. Jacouris
Chr. Hadjimitsis
M. Ergatoudes
M. Ergatoudes, General Manager

GENERAL INSURANCE
OF CYPRUS LTD
G. M. Georgiades, Chairman
Chr. G. Christofides
P. Charalambous
D. P. Ioannou
St. Polyviou
Chr. Mouskis
St. Christodoulou, General Manager

EUROLIFE LTD
C. Z. Severis, Chairman
Chr. G. Christofides
Chr. Mouskis
E. P. Ioannou
C. Galatariotis
M. Pissarides
A. Pantelidou, General Manager

ΚΥΠΡΟΥ LEASING SA
Th. Aristodemou, Chairman
A. Artemis
A. Pittas
C. Z. Severis
A. Eliades
Y. Kypri
M. Der-Krikorian, Senior Manager

CYPRUS LEASING
ROMANIA IFN SA
A. Eliades, Chairman
Y. Kypri
A. Jacouris
Chr. Hadjimitsis
M. Der-Krikorian
K. Ellinas, General Manager

“CYPRUS LEASING” LLC
A. Eliades, Chairman
Y. Kypri
A. Jacouris
Chr. Hadjimitsis
M. Ergatoudes
E. Eliades, General Manager



144 MILESTONES

1899  Establishment and operation of the “Nicosia Savings Bank”.
1912  Nicosia Savings Bank renamed “Bank of Cyprus” and recognised as a public company.
1943  Bank of Cyprus merges with banking institutions in other towns and expands throughout Cyprus. Ancient   
 Cyprus coin bearing the inscription “Koino Kyprion” (common to all Cypriots) adopted as the Bank’s emblem.
1944  Establishment of Mortgage Bank of Cyprus.
1951  Establishment of General Insurance of Cyprus. 
1955  Establishment of Bank of Cyprus (London).
1964  Establishment of Bank of Cyprus Finance Corporation.
1973  Reorganisation of the Group, with the establishment of Bank of Cyprus (Holdings) to take over the shares of   
 Bank of Cyprus and all its subsidiaries. 
1980  Acquisition of the operations of Chartered Bank in Cyprus. 
1982  Establishment of The Cyprus Investment and Securities Corporation (CISCO). 
1983  Acquisition of Kermia by the Group. Representative Offices opened in Greece and Australia. Establishment of   
 the Bank of Cyprus Cultural Foundation.
1989  Establishment of the insurance company EuroLife.
1991  Bank of Cyprus opens its first branch in Greece. Establishment of the Bank of Cyprus Medical Foundation.
1992  Establishment of Bank of Cyprus Factors. 
1993  ABC Factors, the first factoring company in Greece, established with Alpha Bank as equal shareholder. 
 Karmazi Properties & Investments acquired and renamed Kermia Properties & Investments.
1995  Representative Office opened in South Africa. Museum of the History of Cypriot Coinage founded.
1996  The first Greek-speaking offshore bank, Bank of Cyprus (Channel Islands) established in Guernsey, Channel Islands.  
 Representative Office opened in Toronto, Canada. 
1997  Kyprou Leasing established in Greece. Opening of the first branch of Bank of Cyprus in the United Kingdom.
1998  Representative Office opened in Moscow. Mutual Fund Management Company (AEDAK) established in Greece. 
 Opening of the Bank of Cyprus Oncology Centre.
1999  Group restructured, with shares of Bank of Cyprus (Holdings) replaced by Bank of Cyprus shares. Representative 
 Office opened in Bucharest. “Oikade” educational programme launched in Cyprus, Greece and expatriate communities.
2000  Listing of the Group’s share on the Athens Exchange and issue of 39 million new shares. Establishment of Bank of   
 Cyprus Australia and operation of its first branches. Electronic banking introduced to provide alternative service 
 channels (internet, telephone, WAP).
2001  Kyprou Asfalistiki, a branch of General Insurance of Cyprus and Kyprou Zois a branch of EuroLife, open in Greece. 
 Greek company Victory Securities acquired and renamed Kyprou Securities. Sale of 50% stake in ABC Factors to 
 Alpha Bank.
2002  Bank of Cyprus Factors, a new division of the Bank in Greece, starts providing factoring services in Greece. 
2004  Merger of Bank of Cyprus (London) and the UK branch of Bank of Cyprus.
2005  Merger of the operations of Bank of Cyprus Factors and Bank of Cyprus Finance Corporation with Bank of Cyprus. 
 100th branch opened in Greece.
2006  Commencement of leasing operations through the establishments of the leasing subsidiary Cyprus Leasing (Romania)  
 in Romania.
2007  Banking services commenced in Romania and Russia.
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CYPRUS
GROUP HEADQUARTERS
51 Stassinos Street, Ayia Paraskevi
P.O. Box 21472, CY-1599 Nicosia
Telephone: +357 22842100
Fax: +357 22378111
www.bankofcyprus.com
info@cy.bankofcyprus.com

EUROLIFE
Head Office
EuroLife House, 4 Evrou Street, Strovolos
P.O. Box 21655, CY-1511 Nicosia
Telephone: +357 22474000
Fax: +357 22341090
Toll free line: 8000 88 80
www.eurolife.com.cy
info@eurolife.bankofcyprus.com

GENERAL INSURANCE
OF CYPRUS
Head Office
2-4 Themistoclis Dervis Street
P.O. Box 21668, CY-1511 Nicosia
Telephone: +357 22848700
Fax: +357 22676682
www.gic.com.cy
general@gic.bankofcyprus.com

THE CYPRUS INVESTMENT AND
SECURITIES CORPORATION
(CISCO)
Head Office
EuroLife House, 4 Evrou Street, Strovolos
P.O. Box 20597, CY-1660 Nicosia
Telephone: +357 22881700
Fax: +357 22338488
www.cisco-online.com.cy
info@cisco.bankofcyprus.com

BOC VENTURES
Liliana Building
10 Kyriakou Matsi Avenue
CY-1082 Nicosia
Telephone: +357 22475377
Fax: +357 22777440
bocv@bocv.bankofcyprus.com

KERMIA
Kermia Building, 4 Diagoras Street
P.O. Box 24510, CY-1300 Nicosia
Telephone: +357 22663692
Fax: +357 22660938
info@kermia.bankofcyprus.com

GREECE
BANK OF CYPRUS GREECE
Head Office
170 Alexandras Avenue, 115 21 Athens
Telephone: +30 210 64 18 000
Fax: +30 210 64 77 809
www.bankofcyprus.gr
genmgmt@bankofcyprus.gr

KYPROU LEASING
170 Alexandras Avenue, 115 21 Athens
Telephone: +30 210 64 77 030
Fax: +30 210 64 77 029
leasing@bankofcyprus.gr

KYPROU MUTUAL FUND
MANAGEMENT COMPANY
(AEDAK)
26 Fidipidou and Halkidonos
115 27 Athens
Telephone: +30 210 77 65 441
Fax: +30 210 77 65 449
vkarellas@bankofcyprus.gr

KYPROU SECURITIES
26 Fidipidou and Halkidonos
115 27 Athens
Telephone: +30 210 87 01 000
Fax: +30 210 87 01 049
infosec@kyprousecurities.gr

KYPROU ASFALISTIKI
General Insurance
of Cyprus Branch
170 Alexandras Avenue, 115 21 Athens
Telephone: +30 210 64 77 384-6
Fax: +30 210 64 77 389
insurance@bankofcyprus.gr

KYPROU ZOIS
EuroLife Branch
26 Fidipidou and Halkidonos
115 27 Athens
Telephone: +30 210 77 65 305
Fax: +30 210 77 65 309
kyprouzois@bankofcyprus.gr

OTHER COUNTRIES
BANK OF CYPRUS
UNITED KINGDOM
Head Office
27-31 Charlotte Street
London W1T 1RP
Telephone: 0845 603 4584
Telephone (outside the UK):
+44 20 8267 7343
www.bankofcyprus.co.uk
info@bankofcyprus.co.uk

BANK OF CYPRUS AUSTRALIA
Head Office
Level 21, 459 Collins Street
Melbourne, Vic 3000
Telephone: +61 3 8627 2727
Fax: +61 3 8627 2777
www.bankofcyprus.com.au

BANK OF CYPRUS
(CHANNEL ISLANDS)
Regency Court, Glategny Esplanade
P.O. Box 558, St. Peter Port
Guernsey, Channel Islands GY1 6JF
Telephone: +44 1481 716026
Fax: +44 1481 716120

BANK OF CYPRUS ROMANIA
Head Office
187 B Calea Dorobantilor
1st District, Bucharest, Romania, 010565
Telephone: +40 21 409 9100
Fax: +40 21 409 9106
info@ro.bankofcyprus.com

CYPRUS LEASING (ROMANIA)
187 B Calea Dorobantilor, 2nd floor
1st District, Bucharest, Romania, 010565
Telephone: +40 21 409 9261
Fax: +40 21 409 9243

BANK OF CYPRUS RUSSIA
Head Office
Business Center “Olympic Plaza-1”
9th floor, 33/1 Prospect Mira
129110 Moscow, Russia
Telephone: +7 (495) 258 9553
Fax: +7 (495) 458 9554
info@ru.bankofcyprus.com

CYPRUS LEASING (RUSSIA)
20/2 Prospect Mira
129110 Moscow, Russia
Telephone: +7 (495) 721 8073

REPRESENTATIVE OFFICE
SOUTH AFRICA
13th floor, Sandon City Office Towers
c/o Rivonia and 5th Streets
Sandton, South Africa
Telephone: +27 117 843 941
Fax: +27 117 843 942
info.southafrica@bankofcyprus.com

Postal Address:
P.O. Box 652176, Benmore Gardens
2010 Johannesburg, South Africa

CANADA
658 Danforth Avenue, Suite 302
Toronto, Ontario, Canada M4J 5Β9
Telephone: +1 416 461 5570
Fax: +1 416 461 6062
info@bankofcyprus.ca
www.bankofcyprus.ca

RUSSIA
Olympic Plaza, 33 Prospect Mira 
Building 1, 6th floor
129110 Moscow, Russia
Telephone: +7 (495) 797 5808
Fax: +7 (495) 797 5810
info.moscow@bankofcyprus.com

25 Nevski Prospect, 2nd floor
191186 St. Petersburgh, Russia
Telephone: +78 123 467 705
Fax: +78 123 467 754
info.stpetersburgh@bankofcyprus.com



146 NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Notice is hereby given that the Annual General Meeting of Bank of Cyprus Public Company Ltd (“the Company”) 
will be held at the Bank of Cyprus Group Headquarters (51 Stassinos Street, Ayia Paraskevi, Strovolos, Nicosia, 
Cyprus), on Wednesday, 14 May 2008 at 4.30pm, to transact the following business:

NORMAL BUSINESS:
1. To receive and consider the Directors’ report and the financial statements of the Company for the year 2007   
 and approve the proposed final dividend.
2. To elect members of the Board of Directors.
3. To fix the remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors.
4. To re-appoint the auditors and authorise the Board of Directors to fix their remuneration.

SPECIAL BUSINESS: 
Examine and if decided approve the following special resolution:

Special resolution:
“Establishment of a Share Options Plan for the allotment of share options to the employees of the Bank of Cyprus 
Group. The terms of the Share Options Plan include the following:

• The Board of Directors of the Bank may decide to grant the options one-off or in parts at any time within the   
 context of the resolution of the General Meeting, at its discretion.
• The beneficiaries of the Share Options Plan are the employees of the Bank of Cyprus Group.
• The maximum number of shares to be issued by the Bank under the Plan is 15 million of €1 nominal value   
 each. The said shares shall be issued subject to the exercise of the corresponding share options.
• The exercise price of the share options (the price at which the beneficiare of the plan will exercise their options  
 for the newly-issued shares) is determined as 10% above the average closing share price on the Athens Stock  
 Exchange during the last 30 working days of the Exchange that immediately precede the date that the options   
 were granted.
• The Share Options will be granted for the period 2008-2010. 
• The options shall be granted each time by a Board of Directors resolution to that effect. The said Board of   
 Directors resolution shall determine (a) the number of share options to be alloted to each beneficiary or group  
 of beneficiaries (b) the time period for the exercise of the share options, (c) the time frame for the payment of   
 the required amount following the exercise of the share options, and (d) any other relevant details. 
• In the event of a change in the number of the Bank’s shares, the unexercised share options shall be adjusted   
 accordingly to ensure that such change shall not affect their value.  

Authorisation of the Board of Directors to issue up to 15 million Bank of Cyprus shares of nominal value €1 each, 
within the context of the proposed Share Options Plan, without these shares being offered first to existing 
shareholders.”

Y. Kypri
Secretary

11 April 2008

BANK OF CYPRUS PUBLIC COMPANY LTD
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Notes:
1. The record date for determining the right to vote at the Annual General Meeting is 2nd May 2008. Transactions which will be  
 taking place on 5th May 2008 and thereafter will not be considered in determining the right to vote at the Annual General  
 Meeting. Shareholders who have their shares registered on the Dematerialised Securities System of the Hellenic Exchanges,  
 do not need to block their shares in order to vote and/or be represented at the Annual General Meeting.

2. A member entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting, is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and vote on his  
 behalf.  Such proxy need not be a member of the Company.  The instrument appointing a proxy which has been posted on the  
 Group’s website www.bankofcyprus.com (under Inv. Relations/Press Releases), must be deposited at the registered office  
 of the Company, 51 Stassinos Street, Ayia Paraskevi, Strovolos, CY-2002 Nicosia, Cyprus, fax +357 22 336258) at least 48 hours  
 before the time of the Meeting.

3.  Shareholders and/or their proxies who are going to attend the Meeting are requested to carry with them their identity card or  
 other proof of identification.

4. The Board of Directors of the Company decided to propose Monday, 26 May 2008 as the ex-dividend date.  The dividend, 
 subject to the approval of the Annual General Meeting, will be paid to the eligible shareholders on Tuesday, 10 June 2008. 

BANK OF CYPRUS PUBLIC COMPANY LTD
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BANK OF CYPRUS GROUP

SHAREHOLDER ENQUIRES
Shareholders and brokerage houses may contact the Group’s Shares & Bonds Department for information/services 
regarding any matters relating to the Company’s registered securities, share dividend payments, interest coupons 
on bonds and capital securities, pledges and release of pledges on securities, change of shareholder details and 
transfers of shares between the Central Registry/Depository of the Cyprus Stock Exchange and the Dematerialised 
Securities System of the Athens Central Depository in Greece and vice versa. Copies of the Annual Report of the 
Group are also available.

Cyprus
Shares & Bonds Department
EuroLife House 
4 Evrou Street, Strovolos 
P.O. Box 24884, CY-1398 Nicosia
Telephone: +357 22881755
Fax: +357 22336258
shares@cy.bankofcyprus.com

Greece
Custody, Shareholders and Derivatives Clearing Department
26 Phidippidou & Halkidonos
115 26 Athens
Telephone: +30 210 64 77 555
Fax: +30 210 77 65 229
metoxologio@bankofcyprus.gr

INVESTOR RELATIONS
Institutional investors and investment houses in general, brokers and investment analysts may direct their enquiries 
relating to the valuation and financial strength of the Group to the Investor Relations Department.

Investor Relations Department
EuroLife House 
4 Evrou Street, Strovolos
P.O. Box 24884, CY-1398 Nicosia
Telephone: +357 22881883 
Fax: +357 22336258
investors@bankofcyprus.com

REGISTERED OFFICE
Group Headquarters
51 Stassinos Street
Ayia Paraskevi, Strovolos
P.O. Box 24884, CY-1398 Nicosia, Cyprus
Telephone: +357 22842100
Fax: +357 22336258
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